
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022 at 2.00pm in the Authority 
Chamber No. 1 Mann Island, Liverpool 3 1BP.  
 
Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast but 
for anyone who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic 
Services on 07803 630124 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.  
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR 2022/23  

 To appoint the Chair of the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for 2022/23. 

   

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR FOR 2022/23  

 To appoint the Vice-Chair of the Liverpool City Region Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for 2022/23. 

   

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

5. MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS HELD ON 20 JANUARY 2022 AND 12 
APRIL 2022  

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Liverpool City Region 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 20 January 2022 and the 
inquorate meeting of the Committee held on 12 April 2022. 

  (Pages 1 - 26) 
 

6. VERBAL UPDATE FROM METRO MAYOR S ROTHERAM  

 The Committee will receive a verbal update from Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram. 

   

7. APPOINTMENTS OF SCRUTINY MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT AND 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2022/23  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer. 

  (Pages 27 - 40) 
 

8. LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORKPROGRAMME 
2022-23  

 To consider the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

  (Pages 41 - 52) 
 

  



 

 

9. APPRENTICESHIP TASK AND FINISH GROUP - FINAL REPORT  

 To consider the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer   

  (Pages 53 - 68) 
 

10. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY CORPORATE 
PLAN 2021-24 - Q4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services 
and the Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and Resources. 

  (Pages 69 - 118) 
 

11. UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND (UKSPF)  

 To consider the report of the Executive Director for Investment and 
Delivery. 

  (Pages 119 - 172) 
 

12. THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
ENGAGEMENT PROPOSALS  

 To consider the report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Spatial 
Planning and the Executive Director for Policy, Strategy and Government 
Relations. 

  (Pages 173 - 180) 
 

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS TO BE OF AN 
URGENT NATURE  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the 
Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Thursday, 20th 
January, 2022 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillors 
 

Steve Radford 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
J Abbott, D Burgess-Joyce, E Dourley, E Finneran, J Hansen, C Howard, A Jones,   
T Long, J McManus, J Morgan, G Pearl, A Teeling, M Uddin and C Waterfield. 
 
Also in attendance – Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram.  
 
23. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Pat Moloney, Kai 

Taylor and Sir Ron Watson CBE.  

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
25. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 3 NOVEMBER 2021  
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 3 November 2021 were 
agreed as a correct record.  
 
26. COMBINED AUTHORITY BUDGET REPORT 2022/23  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Policy, 
Reform and Resources and the Executive Director of Corporate Services, which 
provided the Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an opportunity 
to consider and make recommendations on the 2022/23 budget for the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority prior to its approval at the meeting of the Combined 
Authority on 21 January 2022. 
 
 The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram, introduced the proposed 2022/23 
Combined Authority Budget and thanked John Fogarty and his team for the 
tremendous work that had been undertaken in the preparation of the budget 
proposals.  
 
 The Metro Mayor advised the Committee that this budget reflected where we 
were as a public body in the aftermath of Covid, the impact on Local Government 
Finances, uncertainty in levels of patronage on the public transport system, souring 
inflation, rises in supply chain costs, reductions in revenues and a growing gap 
between income and expenditure.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 The Metro Mayor highlighted some of the key challenges and changes within 
the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Budget 2022/23 to the Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 
 

 Ensuring the safe running of services to the public, given the economic 
challenges; 

 Organisational efficiency and modernisation; 

 Handling money was very inefficient as it generated transaction costs;  

 A proposal to increase the tunnel tolls for the first time in five years in 
response to budget pressures and increasing maintenance costs; 

 A proposal to increase the transport levy by 2%; 

 A freeze in the Mayoral precept to avoid putting further financial pressure on 
residents; and 

 A proposal to bring an amendment to the Combined Authority meeting to 
incentivise the rate of take up of Fast Tag to non-City Region residents.  

 
 The Metro Mayor concluded his statement and invited John Fogarty, 
Executive Director of Corporate Resources to make his budget statement. 
 
 John Fogarty advised the Committee that Covid continued to cast a big 
shadow over the financial situation and the Combined Authority’s involvement in 
public transport meant it was very exposed to that financial impact of the pandemic. 
In setting a budget this year there had been four related, but quite distinct, challenges 
to consider:- 
 

 How to return the Combined Authority to a position of financial sustainability 
where reserves were no longer needed to prop up the revenue budget which 
had been the case through Covid; 

 How to maintain and grow the passenger transport network in an environment 
where passenger revenues had fallen off significantly; 

 How did the Mersey Tunnels fit into this picture in balancing the financial 
benefits of tunnels with some of the negative aspects, particularly reliance of 
cars for cross river journeys; and 

 How to deliver a package of investment (over £1bn) with limited revenue 
funding and the budget gap.  

 
John Fogarty explained that the budget gap that currently existed had 

predated Covid, but the pandemic had made the situation worse. The transport levy 
had reduced over time and was now significantly less than it had been five years 
ago, but costs had not reduced correspondingly. A lot of costs had been fixed, 
particularly around concessionary travel, but the reality was that the costs and the 
demand for services had not reduced by the same degree. Whilst there was no 
intention that the transport levy should go back to its prior levels, the link between 
prices and the transport levy needed to be restored otherwise that gap would 
increase further. Therefore the budget proposed a 2% increase in the levy for the 
following year. The figure of 2% had been arrived at in consultation with Local 
Authority Finance Directors and Chief Executives. Setting the budget had been a 
consultative and collaborative process and it was considerably less than the likely 
inflation level next year. The intention was that the 2% would cover things which 
could not be avoided e.g. pay awards and that other inflationary pressures would 
need to be managed within existing budgets through business transformation, 
efficiency and value for money.  
 
 

Page 2



 John Fogarty highlighted further key points from the budget proposals:- 
 

 The freezing of the Mayoral precept as the Authority had continued to receive 
some external funding from Government which would assist in offsetting a 
Combined Authority running costs and together with the levy would set a 
positive direction of travel as the Authority emerged from the pandemic;  

 

 The need for economic growth to be inclusive in the City Region and in order 
to benefit all communities an effective and affordable public transport network 
that linked communities with opportunities was required; 

 

 Specific updates and challenges in relation to Bus, Rail and Ferries; 
 

 Whilst Mersey Tunnels had remained resilient and journeys had increased 
towards the end of each lockdown period this had translated into additional 
costs of operation.  Addressing this would mean that Tunnel tolls would need 
to rise by 20p.  Increases had been deferred for a number of years due to 
Covid but maintaining those historic low levels of tolls in the current 
environment was not sustainable or possible.  

 
 Finally, John Fogarty referred to the challenge of how the vast capital 
programme would be managed. It would require a very strong pipeline of schemes 
and significant amounts of resources directed at delivering project management in 
particular and finding that capacity, with very limited revenue available for growth, 
would be a challenge. To address that it would be necessary to capitalise project 
management costs. The Combined Authority would work with Local Authorities as in 
some cases the project management resources would be better placed locally 
depending on delivery of the scheme. As more information was received from 
Government around the value and the timing of funding awards further reports would 
be brought to Members in order to address that capacity issue.  He added that 
assumptions around price increases were a risk to the budget and cost escalation 
would also be a big challenge in the capital programme. Construction industry prices 
were increasing along with the cost of materials and that had already started to have 
an effect. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford invited questions/comments from the 
Committee. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce raised some concerns regarding the budget 
proposals. He asked what plans were being proposed to support those people on 
very poor incomes as a result of the loss of a cash payment system which would 
cause them some difficulties. He also asked whether it was proposed to revisit any of 
the big ticket spends that were not necessarily related to infrastructure.  In particular, 
£3.6m on a training plan which seemed to be directed towards Merseyside,  which 
did not seem to have any race equality issues against the potential loss of staff on 
the front line. He also asked why did we not just close the Queensway Tunnel? 
 
 The Metro Mayor confirmed that it was not proposed to do away with cash 
payments completely but rather to incentivise the move towards more electronic 
payments. Throughout the pandemic people had got used to using their debit card to 
pay for goods and services and it was necessary to modernise and to make savings. 
It was proposed to see whether people could be encouraged, even on low incomes, 
to preload electronically onto a card which would enable a faster transaction thereby 
causing less congestion and kinder to the environment. In respect of the second 

Page 3



point around the £3.6m that it was proposed to invest in trying to respond to what 
happened with Black Lives Matter, the Metro Mayor felt that was the appropriate way 
to level the playing field. The Combined Authority wanted to provide opportunities for 
all and the report had identified that there were communities who had much more 
difficulty in accessing some of our funding, therefore it was proposed to make it 
easier for people by specifically targeting some funding to black businesses and 
engaging people in those left behind communities.   The Metro Mayor stated that 
Councillor Burgess-Joyce would be aware in respect of his own Local Authority there 
was a separate fund from Central Government which had been specifically 
earmarked for business support and could not be used for other capital projects.   
 
 Councillor Christine Howard stated that there were significant budget 
pressures across all Local Authorities, and asked what, if any, alternatives had been 
considered as opposed to increasing the transport levy? 
 
 The Metro Mayor stated that it was necessary to look at what was possible. 
Costs could be passed on to the passengers but that would mean that fares would 
need to be increased which would be counter-productive in the long term, particularly  
as low income families would be less likely to use public transport due to the fact that 
it would be more expensive. The Authority had looked at ways to improve contract 
costs, but many had been entered into prior to the Combined Authority being set up. 
The Metro Mayor indicated that some of those current contracts did not always 
provide value for money, but it had been necessary to abide by the legalities. The 
Authority would look to retender those contracts on renewal. Consideration had also 
been given to all alternatives. In addition, investment was proposed in the Bus 
Services Improvement Plan (BSIP). The Authority was doing what it could to secure 
funding from Central Government, but it wouldn’t be enough to fill the gap. He noted 
that the Combined Authority had not increased charges for eight years. However, in 
that period Council taxes had risen in all Local Authorities and in a lot of cases by the 
maximum amount. He felt that it was fair and right to invest in a poor public transport 
system by looking at all of these different mechanisms. If there was a genuine desire 
for a ‘London style’ integrated transport system then it would be necessary to have 
significant funding to invest which would then achieve savings in the long term. The 
Metro Mayor stated that if he could find a different way of doing it without passing on 
costs he would certainly choose that route. He added that the Authority had already 
taken £4m out of the transport system in savings. The most unpalatable alternative 
would be cuts to services which no-one wanted to see.  
 
 Councillor John Abbott was hopeful about the future of the Combined 
Authority but felt that it was still a work in progress. However, he felt that more could 
be done by the Combined Authority to publicise what people were getting for their 
money.  
 
 The Metro Mayor agreed with the comments made by Councillor Abbott and 
he had made reference to that in his presentation. He said that Halton Council got 
more per capita than any other in the City Region but there were specific issues in 
Halton. Halton had never felt that it was part of the Liverpool City Region as it was 
part of Cheshire. The Concessionary Travel Scheme had not yet found its way into 
Halton as they were in a different scheme. The Metro Mayor agreed that there were 
issues which still needed to be resolved. He also referred to some of the major 
schemes and in particular the Halton Station Quarter. He added that it would take, 
from what was collected from the residents in the Halton area, about 40 years just to 
pay back the element that had been provided in funding support for the Halton 
Station Quarter. The Mersey Gateway Silver Jubilee Bridge had cost around £12m. If 
the Combined Authority had not provided funding for that, there would have been no 

Page 4



other sources of funding available. The Metro Mayor said that it was for all 
Councillors to better push devolution as a benefit to the City Region which London 
had benefitted from for over 20 years. He hoped the ‘Levelling-up’ White Paper would 
be published soon which might provide better powers and resources so that true 
devolution could be achieved. The Metro Mayor acknowledged that there was 
definitely a communications issue which needed to be addressed.  
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce commented that in the last year, a large 
number of the workforce had been working from home and this had benefits for both 
sides. He asked had any work been done on home working and whether that had fed 
into a rationalisation of the estate .  He also asked what the numbers were for 
releasing staff back into the workplace? 
 
 The Metro Mayor referred to the strategic picture and fortunately, funding had 
been secured from Government to undertake more projects in the City Region so 
more staff were needed, not less. He added that Katherine Fairclough, Chief 
Executive was undertaking a full appraisal of the structures within the Organisation 
and as the priorities changed so would some of the staffing requirements. There 
were efficiencies to be made in respect of the working practices, not just on numbers 
of staff. The Authority were fortunate that in winning that level of funding, some of it 
could be top sliced so any additional staffing requirements could be paid for as part 
of the programmes. One of the lessons which had been learnt was that working 
collectively through the Combined Authority, creates the best opportunity to get a 
fairer slice of national Government funding. 
 
 The Chair drew the item to a close and thanked the Metro Mayor and Officers 
for their contributions.  
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the contents of the report be noted; and 
 
(ii) the proposals contained within the appendices be noted and the comments 

raised by the Committee be considered by the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority as part of the formal approval of the Budget for 
2022/23. 

 
27. LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY CORPORATE PLAN 2021-24 - 

BIANNUAL/Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021/22  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director for Corporate 
Services which provided an overview of performance for the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 as at the end of Quarter 2 (July to 
September) 2021. This was part of the bi-annual cycle of strategic performance 
reporting. 
 
 Stephen Littler, Corporate Performance Manager advised that the Quarterly 
Performance Monitoring Report included the following elements: 

 
(a) performance summary against the Corporate Plan Priorities up to the 

end of Quarter 2 2021/22 (30 September); and 
 
(b) performance data for the Corporate Performance Measures to the end 

of Quarter 2 2021/22. 
 

Page 5



The report outlined the 2021/22 half year delivery progress against the 5 
priorities in Combined Authority’s Corporate Plan 2021-24 which had been agreed in 
July 2021.  
 
 Stephen Littler confirmed that from his point of view all of the priorities were 
being delivered very well in accordance with the framework and commitments that 
had been set out in the Corporate Plan. There were no priorities or activities which 
were causing a huge concern at this point in what was a three year plan. The 
Combined Authority was six months into a 36 month programme and therefore it was 
still very early days.  
 
 He added that there was no doubt that Covid-19 had impacted on delivery in 
a lot of ways, not only in delivering the projects and the way officers worked in the 
Combined Authority, but also in the way we had performed. The way in which 
information had been managed had continued in a consistent and well governed 
format so that Members could have confidence in what was being reported as 
information was based on evidence and intelligence that was collected on a regular 
basis.  
 
 Looking forward into 2022/23 following the budget discussions the authority 
was already planning for next year’s plan which would include new strategies, for 
example equalities, people and social value, as well as any other projects and 
levelling up funds etc. that came through. These would start to appear in in the 
reporting throughout the year to reflect exactly what was being delivered. 
 
 Stephen Littler informed the Committee that a lot of the narratives were in a 
summary format but that he was open to answer any questions. One of the main 
aspects of the report was for Members to flag any areas they wished to know a little 
more about. At the previous meeting there had been quite a few questions around 
the Low Carbon Agenda and Priority 3 which was in the Corporate Plan and 
consequently a report was being brought to this meeting in relation to the launch of 
the Net Zero Strategy. He hoped that Members were supportive of this concept in 
terms of presentation of the report.  
 
 The Chair indicated that he had found it quite difficult to read the report as the 
print was very small on some pages particularly when using a screen and he asked if 
a larger font could be used in future reporting.  
 
 Councillor Christine Howard stated that she had got a bit confused with the 
RAG status because the individual workstreams were also coloured. She noticed in 
the ‘Cleaner’ workstream that there was mention of the green bus routes and in 
particular the 86 and 53. The 53 ran through her ward and she would be interested to 
understand to what extent there had been co-operational conversations with the 
Local Authorities about the bus routes that were going to be considered to be a green 
bus route and what plans there were for the future as it was something she would 
really like to support and work with the Combined Authority on.   
 
 Stephen Littler confirmed that he would address the presentational issues 
within the report which had been raised. In terms of the bus services he would take 
that back to Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, and would get back to 
Councillor Howard with a response on engagement on the green routes project.  
 
 John Fogarty, Executive Director of Corporate Services explained that there 
had been high levels of collaboration and joint work with all of the Local Authorities in 
respect of the green bus corridor routes. It was quite a formal process because it was 

Page 6



part of the package of CRSTS funding which had been agreed as a Combined 
Authority, including representatives from each of the Local Authorities. The bus 
corridors that would be taken forward were following collaboration with the relevant 
Local Authorities and Officers. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Jones referred to page 91 of the agenda and the 
‘myriad’ of colours. He noticed that there was a ‘red’ in Priority 1 as well as a ‘red’ in 
Developing our Organisation. He asked what the ‘reds’ referred to?  
 
 Stephen Littler, again took on board feedback in relation to the format and 
presentation of the data. 
 
 Jason Roberts, Transformation Manager, advised that the Priority 1 ‘red’ was 
to do with the ‘Community Renewal Fund’ which was in line with Government 
requirements and there had been a delay in Central Government releasing the 
paperwork so feedback was awaited on that.  In respect of the ‘red’ in Developing 
Our Organisation Jason Roberts confirmed that he would look into it and provide the 
information to the Committee separately.   
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the contents of this report be noted; and 
(ii) any requests for further information be made as required. 
 

28. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE SCRUTINY MEMBER TO THE LCR 
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2021/22  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Monitoring 

Officer which sought a nomination from the Committee for a Liberal Democrat 
Councillor to sit as a substitute Member on the Combined Authority’s Audit and 
Governance Committee for the remainder of 2021/22.  
 
 Louise Outram, Deputy Chief Legal and Deputy Monitoring Officer explained 
that the Committee required the appointment of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal 
Democrat Councillor and one Conservative Councillor and to appoint substitute 
members on the same basis.  Following a change in the Membership of the 
Committee approved by the Combined Authority in November 2021, a replacement 
substitute Member needed to be appointed. 
 
 RESOLVED – That Councillor Geoff Pearl be appointed as the substitute 
Liberal Democrat Member on the Audit and Governance Committee for 2021/22. 
 
29. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION PATHWAY TO NET ZERO - OVERVIEW AND 

PROGRESS UPDATE  
 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of Policy, 
Strategy and Government Relations which updated on progress to address the 
Climate Emergency declared by the Combined Authority in 2019. The report 
highlighted that the production of a net zero carbon pathway and action plan was one 
of the key objectives of the Corporate Plan (Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region) and 
outlined progress on meeting this objective and the proposed next steps. 

 
Rachel Waggett, Principal Environment Officer advised that since the last 

meeting in November 2021, an update had been made to Corporate Plan priorities. A 
number of questions had been raised around Priority 3, the Cleaner priority stream 

Page 7



and in particular around the plan for achieving Net Zero Carbon and what this meant 
for Liverpool City residents. So on that basis the Performance Team had been asked 
to present progress on this particular plan activity in more detail.  

 
Rachel Waggett explained that the report set out a summary of progress 

together with two additional appendices. The first appendix was a Pathway to Net 
Zero document which was scheduled for approval at the Combined Authority meeting 
the following day. The second appendix provided an overview of the key 
stakeholders consulted whilst preparing the document.  

 
The Committee were informed that section 4 of the report highlighted some of 

the great progress that had already been made in a number of areas, fundamental in 
achieving the Net Zero goal. Examples of initiatives included the Community 
Environment Fund which supported grass roots environmental projects, the energy 
efficient retrofit of homes, steps to encourage people out of private cars.  

 
The pathway document also provided a brief summary of the excellent work 

being undertaken by each of the six local authorities. The aim was to show the 
breadth and the scope of actions that were already being undertaken so the excellent 
progress being made in moving towards our goal could be seen. However, in order to 
meet the ambitious target and the challenges set at COP26 it would be necessary to 
move even more quickly in the future. It was clear that in order to do that the 
participation of all the communities and businesses in the City Region was required.  

 
Appendix two of the report detailed the wide public engagement exercise 

undertaken to understand the thoughts and opinions of people in the Liverpool City 
Region on this matter.   Rachel Waggett advised that a fuller report was available if 
anyone wished to see it.  

 
In conclusion, the Pathway to Net Zero document set out a clear direction of 

travel for the Liverpool City Region. It tried to set out where we were now, where we 
needed to be in the future and the broad actions needed to achieve Zero Net Carbon 
in each of the five areas. The document had been designed by a community supplier 
with the aim of delivering this very complex information in a simple accessible format 
and was an attractive document to read. For those people who did want to drill into 
the detail there were hyperlinks throughout the document which would be available 
on the website in an electronic format.  

 
The Chair welcomed the report and agreed that it had been a visually attractive 

report and easy to read.  He commended the team who had provided support in 
writing it as people would be able to navigate the report effectively.  

 
Councillor John Abbott referred to page 178 of the agenda and in particular 

paragraph 3.3. He was pleased to see that socio-economic status would be included. 
He stated that socio-economic status in his mind meant social ‘class’ but it normally 
meant ‘income’, The deprivation and exclusion that many working class people suffer 
from was not just a lack of money it was education, housing, health, life chances etc 
and he asked if there was any way of indicating that we meant ‘class’.  

 
Rachel Waggett responded that it had been very strongly felt by the Climate 

Partnership that we should tell it as it was. Poverty was an area that was considered 
within all of the Authority’s Policies and Strategies and underpinned everything it did. 
The affordability of some of the aims was going to dictate how achievable they were, 
and it was something that we had been very aware of throughout this process. The 
Equality and Diversity appraisal undertaken meant that as we started to bring forward 

Page 8



projects it would be possible to see how affordable those particular interventions 
were and what support needed to be put in place for the people who could least 
afford them.  

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce referred to page 168 of the agenda where it 

specifically talked about some people still needing to drive a car either privately or via 
car hire clubs. He asked if a date had been set for when a congestion charge was 
being introduced.  

 
Rachel Waggett reported that there had been no determination as to whether a 

congestion charge or clean air zone would be necessary at this stage. It was hoped 
that people would voluntarily choose to use their own cars less. Included in the 
document was the realisation that for some people owning their own car, either 
throughout their lives or for a portion of their lives, was necessary. In the future those 
cars would likely be electric vehicles and it was hoped that the majority of people, for 
some or part of their lives, would not need to own a car at all and would move around 
using public transport, active travel or shared models of car ownership.   

 
Councillor David Burgess-Joyce felt that there would need to be a congestion 

charge as people would not give up their cars voluntarily. He had recently ordered an 
electric car but some people may not be able to afford it due to the high cost.  He felt 
that a congestion charge in Liverpool would be inevitable and he just wanted to know 
when.  

 
The Chair clarified that the Metro Mayor did provide an answer that it was an 

open option to be looked at but no decision had been made.  
 
Councillor John Morgan said that the only way to meet the aspiration of this 

report in terms of transport into the city was to have a fully integrated affordable 
transport system which was deregulated to the Combined Authority. In respect of the 
issue around a congestion charge it was way beyond what needed to be discussed 
today.  

 
The Chair clarified that the subject of a congestion charge was an issue which 

would not go away, but it was not an immediate issue which needed to be discussed 
at this point.  

 
Councillor John Abbott commented that he was under the impression that any 

question that was thought to be relevant by Members could be raised. A congestion 
charge would impact on the poor, but the answer to the question was that a decision 
had not yet been made but it would have an impact on equality. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
(i)  the progress made to achieve the climate commitments of the Combined 

Authority be noted, with particular reference to the Corporate Plan 
objective to create a net zero carbon pathway and action plan; 

 
(ii)  the need for collective action referenced throughout the report on reducing 

net carbon emissions by all partners and communities across the Liverpool 
City Region, be recognised and supported; and 

 
(iii)  the Combined Authority’s proposal to develop a Year 2-5 Climate Action 

Plan that recognises the contribution of all stakeholders be supported. 
 

Page 9



30. EQUALITY STRATEGY DRAFT VISION AND OBJECTIVES  
 
 The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director for Corporate 
Development and Delivery and the Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and Resources 
which provided an update on work to develop a four-year Equality Strategy for the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. The strategy would set out the vision and 
objectives for equality, diversity and inclusion and would include a delivery plan to 
demonstrate how the ambition set out within the corporate plan in relation to 
equalities would be achieved. 
 
 Olly Martins, Fairness and Social Inclusion Policy Lead advised the 
Committee that performance would be reviewed regularly against the delivery plan 
and considered by this committee in addition to the Combined Authority. The draft 
vision and objectives were set out within the and the finalised version of the Strategy 
and delivery plan was due to be considered by the Combined Authority at its meeting 
on 4 March 2022. 
 
 Olly Martins explained that the report provided an update on the work to 
develop a strategy to ensure that this was encased across all activity of the 
Combined Authority. Since consideration of the Strategy by the Committee at its 
meeting on 3rd November 2022, it was at the point where the equality vision had been 
set and an objective had been developed in relation to each one of the three defined 
roles. Beneath each objective sat a descriptor and then some of the initial priorities 
that would be pursued.  The next stage would be to develop a detailed delivery plan 
which would be presented to the Combined Authority for consideration at its meeting 
on 4 March 2022. 
 
 Olly Martins explained that the Committee now had an opportunity to 
undertake some activity via a Task and Finish Group to look at the Strategy in more 
detail.  A proposal had been put forward to look into disability and this was detailed in 
section 3.7 of the report.    
 
 Councillor John Abbott asked for clarification on the make-up of the Task and 
Finish Group 
 
 Trudy Bedford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer advised that Task and Finish 
Groups were open to all Members of the Committee. There were no upper or lower 
limits and the group and it was not bound by any of the usual quorum issues. The 
process would start with an introductory session where a scoping document would be 
presented to Members and then three or four sessions would take place where 
evidence would be gathered from various witnesses and then formal report would be 
brought to Members for consideration together with a set of recommendations. If the 
recommendations were agreed by this Committee then they would go to the 
Combined Authority for final approval.    
 
 Councillor John Abbott explained that he was the Chief Executive of a 
disability Charity and would very much like to be involved. 
 
 The Chair asked if the Committee were in agreement with the focus being on 
disability or whether there were any other areas that Members would like to consider.  
 

 Councillor Christine Howard commented that she was not opposed to looking 
at disability as a topic but it would need to be narrowed down. It needed to be well 
defined rather than an overarching topic.  
 

Page 10



 Olly Martins responded and suggested that one of the roles he had described 
e.g. the Combined Authority’s role as an employer would be an obvious way of trying 
to break down the subject.  
 
 The Chair wondered if it would be worthwhile doing all three roles as part of 
the process. He asked if Councillor John Abbott would be interested in chairing the 
Task and Finish group given his interest on the subject of disability. Councillor John 
Abbott confirmed that he would be willing to Chair the group provided that there was 
more than one Member on it. The Chair asked if any other Members would like to 
support Councillor Abbott on the Task and Finish group and names were taken of all 
those expressing an interest. Any Members not in attendance at the meeting would 
also have the opportunity to participate.    
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce said that it was not clear in the report what 
would be undertaken in the future that was not happening now.  
 
 Olly Martins explained that the Combined Authority would be doing a better 
job as an organisation of looking like the communities that it served. As an employer 
there were distortions which meant that the organisation did not look like the 
communities it served in relation to disabilities, ethnic minorities and gender. He 
added that it was difficult to measure as specific data wasn’t collected in that area.  
The process was changing to ensure that we were maximising the contribution made 
to building a fair and socially representative region.  
 
 Councillor Eddie Dourley commented that 20 years ago he had worked on a 
Supported Employment Team which had consisted of 20 people. The work had been 
aimed solely at people with disabilities and health issues and supported roughly 375 
people in Halton, but that team did not exist anymore. He felt that there was a 
massive gap in terms of support as a result of austerity and lack of financial support.  
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 

(i)  the draft Equality Vision and Objectives provided at Appendix 1 and the 
further detail provided on the approach to developing the Equality Strategy 
be noted; 

 
(ii)  that the proposal to include socio-economic status as part of the equality 

strategy as described at paragraph 3.2 of the report, be noted; 
 
(iii)  it be noted that the Combined Authority Equality Strategy Delivery Plan 

would be presented to the Combined Authority on 4 March 2022; 
 
(iv)  the proposal to conduct a task and finish scrutiny review on disability in 

support of developing the Equality Strategy delivery plan as described at 
3.7 below be agreed; and 

  
(v)  further consideration be given as to how the Equality Strategy and Delivery 

plan could inform the Committee’s Work Programme and future scrutiny 
reviews. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Minutes 23 to 30 received as a correct record on the 12 day of April 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

(The meeting closed at 3.40 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 12



LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

At an inquorate meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
the Authority Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Tuesday, 12th April, 
2022 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillors 
 

Steve Radford 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 
 
John Abbott, David Burgess-Joyce, Eddie Dourley, Christine Howard, Patrick Hurley, 
Councillor Trisha Long, Pat Moloney, Kai Taylor, Angela Teeling and Mancyia Uddin.  
 
 
38. INQUORATE MEETING  
 
The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford advised that the meeting was inquorate.  He 
advised that he was supportive of continuing with the meeting as an informal 
discussion and asked the Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule to advise on 
how the meeting would proceed.   
 
 Jill Coule explained that any decisions or recommendations made by the 
meeting would be on an advisory basis only and would be re-considered at the next 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the new Municipal Year.  
 
 Councillor John Abbott expressed his disappointed regarding the level of 
attendance by members and felt that there should be some recourse to challenge 
non-attendance.  He praised the work of Democratic Services who did everything 
possible to ensure that meetings would be quorate. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford, concurred with Councillor Abbott’s 
disappointment and asked Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer to respond. 
 
 Jill Coule advised that this was a problem experienced by all Mayoral 
Combined Authorities due to the high level of quorum. Representations had been 
made on this issue on several occasions, including a recent conversation with 
Government on the issue.   
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford expressed his gratitude for the support he had 
received in his role and acknowledged that Officers had made tremendous effort to 
ensure that meetings were quorate.  He suggested that members may wish to 
feedback informally to their own Authority on the issue. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce thanked the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram 
for taking the time to attend Committee meetings and he acknowledged the problem 
with the high level of quorum required.  He referred to the selection process for 
membership of the Committee and felt that a formal request should be sent to Local 
Authorities to nominate members who are able to attend and participate in meetings 
of the Committee.  
 

Page 13



 The Chair, Councillor Radford requested that Jill Coule write to the six Local 
Authority Chief Executives to reiterate the high level of quorum and ask that 
discussions take place with prospective nominees regarding the importance of 
attendance at Committee meetings to ensure that decision making can take place. 
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney asked if it would be beneficial to supply Local 
Authorities with details of member attendance for this past year for inclusion within 
the papers for their Annual Meetings where representatives are appointed to serve 
on this Committee. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Radford advised that attendance information was 
available to view publicly on the Combined Authority website. 
 
39. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Edna Finneran, James 

Hansen, Adrian Jones, Julie McManus, Tricia O’Brien, Geoff Pearl, Carran Waterfield 

and Sir Ron Watson CBE.  

40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest received.  
 
41. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 JANUARY 2022  
 
 The inquorate meeting noted the minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 20 January 2022. 
  
 
42. VERBAL UPDATE FROM METRO MAYOR S ROTHERAM  
 
 The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram, acknowledged the discussion regarding 
attendance and quorum and reiterated the importance of the Scrutiny function within 
the Combined Authority. Whilst it was disappointing that the meeting was inquorate, 
the Metro Mayor reaffirmed his commitment to attend to provide the opportunity for 
Committee Members to ask questions on his update. 
 
 The Metro Mayor provided an update on recent activity including:- 
 

 The Combined Authority’s decision regarding bus reform on 4 March 
2022 and how a franchise model could transform bus travel in the City 
Region; 

 The successful bid for City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement; 

 The outcome of the bid for the Bus Service Improvement Plan and 
ongoing discussions with Government to improvement the settlement; 

 The City Region Trade delegation visit to Ireland along with Greater 
Manchester Mayoral Combined Authority to push forward investment in 
key sectors such as low carbon transport, freight logistics, advanced 
manufacturing, and the green Industrial Revolution; 

 The ‘Good Business Festival’ that had taken place a few weeks earlier, 
one of the focuses being the importance of Ethical Investments and 
ethical businesses being attracted to the City Region; 

 The inaugural meeting of the Freeport Board that had taken place the day 
before; and 

Page 14



 The next round of funding for the ‘Community Environment Fund’ was 
open for applications to enable high impact Community environment 
projects. 

 
 The Metro Mayor concluded his presentation and invited questions/comments 
from members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor David Burgess-Joyce enquired about the hydrogen plant that had 
been discussed at a previous meeting and requested an update on the current 
situation. In addition, Councillor David Burgess-Joyce noted previous discussion of a 
cashless London-style transport methodology such as the Oyster card and raised 
concerns with how this might affect people who were on low incomes. Councillor 
David Burgess-Joyce raised the bush branch out and asked what fail safes were in 
place given what had been expressed regarding government funding, overrun, and 
overspend, and the system being new technology.  
 
 The Metro Mayor responded that the HyNet project was an exciting 
opportunity for the City Region and formed a part of creating an infrastructure that 
would support the production of green hydrogen. Non-green, or blue, hydrogen would 
be used in the meantime. Hydrogen buses could be used in corridors where there 
was congestion or poor air quality and would reduce emissions in those areas, 
despite the carbon footprint of blue hydrogen being questioned at the current time. 
Part of the solution to this was the metro card. The metro card was not smart 
technology enabled and so a tap in tap out system was not applicable, and there had 
been some concerns raised by service users who bought tickets online, and so focus 
was being given to eradicating all the of complexities around the ticketing system. A 
cap would be introduced to the metro card. At the current time a separate charge 
would be made for using the stagecoach, rail and ferry. If these journeys were made 
several times a day this would become very expensive in London, however an 
algorithm calculates the cheapest way in which you could have made the journeys 
and provides an end cap, and this was the intention for the metro card. The LCR 
Combined Authority were considering a cap on bus fares and on the overall system. 
Work on this was ongoing but it was hoped that the launch of a ‘tap in tap out’ system 
could be announced shortly. The other new functions would require back-office 
software called AdWords.  One of the issues that the Combined Authority would have 
to contend with was non-cash handling, and challenges such as this would be 
addressed in a full business case.  There were also contingencies to consider, one of 
which being the Government’s bus franchise proposals.  The Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram advised that he was in discussions with Government on this matter, who 
had expressed that they wished to see a commitment to Green Bus corridors. The 
removal of some bus routes had damaged the Combined Authority’s reputation, and 
the Metro Mayor was focused on demonstrating commitment.  
 
 Councillor Christine Howard asked what support had been given to the P&O 
Ferries staff that were laid off and whether the Fair Employment Charter could be 
used to tackle such behaviour.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that the Government appeared to 
have accepted that the firings were illegal. The Prime Minister, Chancellor and 
Secretary of State had stated this based upon the advice of the Attorney General and 
so action should be taken through the legal processes on that basis. Metro Mayor 
Steve Rotheram confirmed that he had visited the picket line and spoken to lots of 
people who were genuinely concerned about the way in which the workforce was 
being treated. There was an option for former employees to go through a tribunal 
resulting in being awarded a limited amount of money and getting their jobs back, but 

Page 15



this would not make progress on the issues at hand such as fire and rehire. The 
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram described a need to ensure that everybody who did 
come to the City Region, or who wanted to locate into the Freeport, would abide by 
the spirit of the frameworks that have come through the Combined Authority. This 
would include using local supply chains, using local labour wherever possible, 
employing people from underrepresented groups, taking on apprentices, not using 
zero hours contracts, and recognising trade unions. These were the standards 
expected from ethical employers who located into the City Region.   
 
 Councillor Christine Howard asked if there was any leverage that could be 
used to insist upon these standards, or were these recommendations left to the free 
will of the person or organisation.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that, with regards to P&O, the 
Combined Authority did not have a purview over alleged national or international 
breaches of law. However, if a company relocated into the City Region, who believed 
that fire and rehire was a viable way in which to circumvent the law, the Combined 
Authority would work to ensure that funding conditions could as far as possible mean 
that companies would not be discouraged and /or prevented from moving into the 
curtilage of the Freeport area.  
 
 Councillor Angela Teeling raised the Good Business Festival and the joint 
trade mission to Ireland with the Greater Manchester Metro Mayor Andy Burnham 
regarding manufacturing.  It was expressed that there were numerous warehouses 
being built to house products, but the contents of the warehouses were manufactured 
elsewhere. Councillor Angela Teeling asked if there were any manufacturing 
companies who would be moving into the City Region and creating jobs. Councillor 
Angela Teeling spoke on the brokering undertaken at Ellesmere Port to keep the Fox 
Hole plant open but highlighted that there was a decline in manufacturing nationally. 
Councillor Angela Teeling expressed concern that there would be an increase in jobs 
in the service industry such as cafes but no increase in industrial or manual work 
available for those with skills in that area.  
 
 Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram replied that where there was a need for a 
strategic review of an area, a spatial plan could be devised to consider what is 
needed where and what other facilities could cluster around. This was the same for 
the Freeports. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that he had been in 
discussions with representatives of the Ford Jaguar Land Rover plant, and there was 
potential for them to bring in assembled items that were not subject to tariff, an 
example of the attraction provided by the Freeport that aided in opening markets. 
The Ford Transmission plant had won the e-transmissions contract over stiff 
competition from Germany, and the unions were praised by Governments for their 
work. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram explained that he had worked with the Rt 
Hon Kwasi Kwarteng MP and that massive support was provided by Councillor 
Graham Morgan, the Chief Executive of Knowsley, and the Knowsley Chamber of 
Commerce. Everybody was invested in working to retain existing jobs at the Ford 
Transmission plant and to create lots of new opportunities.  Although advanced 
manufacturing did not create as many individual jobs, it was very important to the 
economy. The Combined Authority had invested in the Manufacturing Technology 
Centre, which works with companies to make them less wasteful, more productive, 
help them to make greater margins on their products, and sometimes to predict faults 
before they happen. The Combined Authority had also invested in other facilities 
such as the Spine building which was starting to be considered a cluster for 
advanced manufacturing and the Life Sciences. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram 
noted that competition from around the world meant than the return of steel 

Page 16



manufacturing was unlikely. The Combined Authority therefore had to be realistic 
about what its niche area could be, and advanced manufacturing could provide a 
decent number of high paid high value jobs.   
 
 Councillor Kai Taylor welcomed feedback on the positive outcomes of the 
trade mission to Ireland and expressed his respect for President Michael Higgins. 
Councillor Kai Taylor returned to the issue of bus reform and drew attention to the 
advanced progress that had been made in Greater Manchester Combined Authority.  
It was noted that Greater Manchester’s Metro Mayor Andy Burnham had received 
significant backlash from bus operators such as Stagecoach that resulted in Court 
proceedings. The Court found in Greater Manchester Combined Authority’s favour 
which set a positive precedent.  Councillor Kai Taylor asked if Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram had undertaken any initial discussions with bus operators, and whether 
they had been cooperative or were there anticipated delays that could affect the 
Combined Authority’s timelines.   
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram agreed that President Michael Higgins was 
a great person and brilliant academic and scholar who had been active in pushing 
politics in the UK and Ireland towards regionalisation. President Michael Higgins 
wrote his first paper on regionalisation in 1968 and was an advocate for its benefits.  
On bus franchising, the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram confirmed that it was 
Stagecoach and Diamond that took Greater Manchester Combined Authority to 
judicial review and the court found in favour of the Authority on all counts. However, it 
was important to remember that Greater Manchester Combined Authority had been 
five years ahead of the Combined Authority on this issue, and now including delays 
arising from court action they were a year ahead. The Combined Authority had 
therefore been able to see the hurdles that Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
had overcome, which had saved the Combined Authority the potential expenses of 
legal actions and created a smoother journey. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram 
advised that he had received letters from Stagecoach and Arriva, the two largest bus 
operating companies in the City Region, stating that they would not take the 
Combined Authority through judicial review. This had provided some confidence and 
hope that money would not be wasted on legal action that could go towards 
subsidising bus routes and fares. Companies were realising that changes to busses 
were going to happen, and that they would have to go through the Combined 
Authority to negotiate contracts.  This had appeared to lead to a change in behaviour 
and bus companies being keen to work with the Combined Authority. The Metro 
Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that he would be visiting two areas that had bus 
franchises on a similar scale to those that would be required at the Combined 
Authority. The Combined Authority were working with a company that was very 
proactive in setting up depots with the infrastructure required for hydrogen and 
electric energy. The hydrogen buses would be operative before the end of the year, 
going through Liverpool, Knowsley and into St. Helens, which was great progress. 
 
 Councillor John Abbott stated that whatever progress was made on bus 
franchising it would be an improvement and should be a cause for celebration. 
Councillor  Abbott  highlighted that the United Kingdom was comprised of five 
countries  - England, Ireland, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, but that 
Government decision making continued to focus on London.  The Combined 
Authority and Greater Manchester Combined Authority areas combined were the 
equivalent in size and scope to a small European country in size and scope, and so 
partnership working was a positive way forward. Councillor Abbott put forward those 
visits to the Boroughs by the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram to disseminate these 
good news stories would provide inspiration.  
 

Page 17



 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that he had visited St Helens at 
the weekend and the Wirral the previous week and welcomed invitations to visit the 
Boroughs. Noting that most of the day’s discussion had focused on transport, the 
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram raised the issues of skills, housing and carbon zero 
targets as other areas in which progress had been made. Regarding environmental 
issues Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram spoke on the housing retrofitting work that was 
ongoing as an example of the innovation being generated at the Combined Authority.  
The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram described a proactive approach. Speaking on his 
experience as an MP the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram agreed that Parliament could 
become focused on the M25 corridor, partly influenced by the number of those 
working in parliament who lived within this corridor.  It was therefore important to 
think of the City Region as an international city and insist upon the same standards 
that exist in London. There was so much latent potential in the Liverpool City Region, 
with it being the fastest growing city region in the country and levelling up the country 
would ultimately increase revenues to the treasury.  
 
 Councillor Eddie Dourley returned discussion to the matter of P&O Ferries 
and stated that the Prime Minister and other senior Members’ condemnation of the 
fire and rehire issue as illegal was hypocritical, as the government had made it easier 
for companies to undertake such actions and could legislate against such practices if 
they were so minded. Councillor Eddie Dourley expressed concern for the former 
employees who had worked for P&O Ferries for years and were fired at very short 
notice. Councillor Eddie Dourley also raised the subject of business start-ups and his 
experience with such businesses in Widnes and Runcorn. It was explained that new 
businesses tended to run into difficulties at around 6 to 12 months of operation, but if 
they were able to move beyond this point, they would often survive and reach the 
point at which they could grow and expand. However, the cost of business rates and 
commercial rent could hamper such growth and result in a business being unable to 
relocate into larger premises. Focus needed to be given to addressing issues with 
business rates and commercial rents in order to help businesses flourish.  Councillor 
Eddie Dourley welcomed the positive news shared at the meeting and undertook to 
feed this back to his authority.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram agreed that the LCR Combined Authority 
was unable to legislate against bad business practices but could be vocal and set an 
ethos to welcome and attract ethical companies. There were many ways to support 
businesses and a piece of work was being undertaken to analyse the outcomes of 
decisions made in 2020 regarding Covid and the Additional Restrictions Grant.  It 
was expected that the work would indicate that, as difficult a decision as it had been 
to go into the highest tier and come out in December, this may have contributed to 
City Region businesses bouncing back quicker than elsewhere in the Country. 
Businesses were reporting that the first phase had been survival, but they were now 
moving into the next phase of growth. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram described 
the impetus to get to the growth phase as quickly as possible. There was a record 
number of vacancies at the current time, but people were not being matched to these 
opportunities as they are lacking the correct skills. There was £2 billion in unused 
apprenticeship levy due to the pandemic and a request had been made to the 
Treasury to release some of that money in funding to create ways of matching people 
with jobs. This would take some people off benefits and allow people to move into 
higher paid work, which would result in more money for the exchequer. Metro Mayor 
Steve Rotheram advised that it appeared that the Department for Education was 
proving a stumbling block in this request.   
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney drew attention to the matter of insulation and its 
increasing importance in view of the cost-of-living crisis, the huge increase in energy 

Page 18



prices and climate change, but voiced concern that no proper research was being 
undertaken as to the best technology.  Councillor Pat Moloney asked if there would 
be benefit in commissioning a university to undertake research into which forms of 
insulation were most appropriate for the specific types of housing found in the City 
Region such as Edwardian terraces and semi-detached twin wall houses. With 
regard to transport Councillor Pat Moloney enquired about green bus corridors, and 
whether these would be established across the City Region, incorporating  all the 
existing bus lanes and establishing new ones. In addition, Councillor Pat Moloney 
sought confirmation as to the green status of the corridor, such as whether the 
corridors would also allow for cycles, electric taxis and other electric vehicles.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised with regard to insulation that the 
Housing Retrofit Programme was tackling such issues. While insulation helped to 
preserve some of the energy that went into heating a home, a holistic approach was 
used to help the households in areas of greatest deprivation, who pay more due to 
lost heat but also pay increased energy costs due to metered billing arrangements.  
A pilot programme was currently running, and the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram met 
a homeowner who advised that he was saving £25 a week. In October 2021 the 
government reduced Universal Credit by approximately £20 per week, and so the 
saving made through the Housing Retrofit pilot had more than accounted for the 
difference. This would significantly help those who were least able to afford to heat 
their homes. Transport was accountable for one third of carbon emissions. Housing 
retrofit would also take a large amount of carbon emissions out of the atmosphere.  
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram sought clarification on the exact figure from officers but 
advised that Government had allocated an additional £15M on top of £24M and this 
was put into the pilot programme. The project allowed for assessing the best 
solutions for an individual home. Other interventions included installation of heat 
pumps and solar panels.  There were 730,000 properties in the City Region and 
around 80% of them required some form of remediation which could cost around 
£10,000 per property. This was a huge cost, and so targeting was undertaken to 
identify the houses which are most pollutant and the people who are least able to 
afford energy price increases. With regard to Green bus corridors Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram advised that these were termed corridors as opposed to routes as there 
were far more possibilities. An example was provided of a company called Red Ninja 
who developed a software programme to allow ambulances to get to their 
destinations faster by changing the sequence of red traffic lights by modelling the 
lighting in real time. This was being considered as a partial solution to the bus 
corridor issue. There were issues to consider, such as busy junctions and this would 
require actual spend of infrastructure capital. There were 9 corridors being 
considered, working alongside Liverpool CC, Knowsley BC and St Helens BC. The 
Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that a separate 660 kilometres of cycling 
infrastructure was being developed as part of the city centre connectivity strategy by 
Chris Boardman to look at pinch points and the LCR whip. The Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram suggested that Simon O’Brien could be invited to a future meeting to 
provide more information on this. 
 
 Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer, provided clarification on figures as requested 
by the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram and advised that the Housing Retrofit delivery 
programmes had £10.5M for one of the tranches and £28M for the sustainable 
warmth element.  
 
 Councillor Trish Long thanked the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram for his 
positive report and noted the frustration around funding issues for the bus plans, in 
particular the concern that subsidised fairs could be affected. Councillor Trish Long 
asked whether there were plans to address this in a different way if required, as 

Page 19



affordable transport was key to employability. Councillor Trish Long also asked how 
employability for people with disabilities was being centred in this work, especially in 
view of the recent task and finish group on improving these outcomes. Reassurance 
was sought that the plans for buses included plans to improve bus transportation for 
people with a range of disabilities and ensure that their needs were met.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram replied that there had been issues in which 
someone with a pushchair had been asked to leave a bus in order to accommodate 
someone with a wheelchair. The new buses removed this issue by including two 
dedicated spaces, and the designs for these would be presented to Committee when 
finalised. The buses would also include audio visual signs, were fully accessible and 
were designed in consultation with people with physical and learning disabilities and 
neurodivergent people. The buses were similar to coaches, having WIFI reach out 
points and support for wireless headphones. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram 
advised that punitive measures to create modal shift had not been used as the 
system was not yet at the right quality to attract people on as an alternative. Once the 
public transport system was high quality then measures such as congestion charges 
could be implemented. It was unknown as yet what the Combined Authority would 
receive in terms of government settlement which prevented decisions on funding and 
could also be affected by changes in political make up following local elections. The 
combination of an affordable transport system with smart technology would allow 
people to use different modes of transport and create a shift in the way that the public 
transport system was viewed.  
 
 Councillor Patrick Hurley welcomed the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram’s 
positive relationship with central government and noted that the Rt Hon Michael 
Gove MP had become the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government of the United Kingdom. There had since been a reorganisation of the 
Department for Local Government. A sub-committee had been established and had 
launched a 300-page white paper on regional and local government with a task force 
that met weekly. The government was due to appoint regional directors of the 
department to provide a door into government for local regions.  
 
 Councillor Patrick Hurley asked how these changes would affect the Metro 
Mayor Steve Rotheram’s relationship with government.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram replied that his position in relation to 
government had evolved. Previously there had been an aim to attack the opposition 
at every opportunity but, whilst this was not a government of the Metro Mayor’s 
choosing, the reality was that this government wrote the cheques and that resistance 
to working with this government would not help improve the lives of people in the City 
Region.  
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram described how he worked with the 
government of the day whilst demonstrating how things could be done differently or 
improved and stated the importance of recognising and encouraging government 
decisions that were beneficial to the City Region.  
 
 The Convention of the North had taken place in Liverpool on 8 February 2022 
and the Rt Hon Michael Gove MP was the keynote speaker. The Metro Mayor Steve 
Rotheram hosted the event and spoke to Rt Hon Michael Gove MP who expressed 
an interest in spending a day in the City Region and seeing the work that was being 
undertaken. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram wished to invite more government 
ministers and representatives to see the work going with an aim to change people's 
attitudes. The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram spoke on the year in which Liverpool 

Page 20



was the European City of Culture, and some people had held back on visiting due to 
negative stereotypes and misperceptions. But when people came, they were taken 
aback and mesmerised by the city’s offer. When the Rt Hon Michael Gove MP visits 
the City Region the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram advised that he intends to 
accompany him to two locations in Knowsley. Kirby Town centre had been chosen as 
one of the locations due to its being ideal for demonstrating how the town centre had 
been saved from decline through investment by the LCR Combined Authority and 
Knowsley Borough Council developing the offer. Kirby town centre was such a 
success story that the Times newspaper had reported its having been identified as 
the fastest growing part of the country. 
 
 The Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram noted that Huyton had been listed as one 
of the top ten areas prioritised for levelling up but would receive no allocated funding 
as part of the levelling up agenda. By contrast the Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP’s 
constituency of Bromsgrove had been allocated £147 per person. If £147 were to be 
allocated per capita in Knowsley this would create a huge opportunity to transform 
the area. The Combined Authority had provided funding of £12M to the Shakespeare 
North project in Prescott which had revitalised the whole area and created an 
independent district reminiscent of Lock Lane in Liverpool. The Rt Hon Nadine 
Dorries MP had expressed an interest in visiting the area.  Work was ongoing to put 
forward a business case to government for areas such as Huyton.  
 
 The Chair thanked the Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram for extending the 
courtesy of attending and for providing a candid and positive update to the 
Committee.  The Chair welcomed the politics of constructive engagement with the 
Government of the day as being far more beneficial.  
 
43. APPRENTICESHIP TASK AND FINISH GROUP - FINAL REPORT  
 
 The inquorate meeting considered the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
which set out the report of the Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group for 
consideration and endorsement ahead of submission to the Combined Authority. 
 
 As the meeting was inquorate, the Committee were informed that the report 
and recommendations of the Task and Finish Group would need to be considered at 
a future quorate meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee before it could be 
formally endorsed and submitted to the Combined Authority for consideration. 
 
 Rob Tabb, Policy Lead for Employment and Skills provided an overview of the 
short review undertaken in April 2021, at a time when there was a great deal of 
uncertainty as Covid restrictions were easing and economic circumstances looked 
unclear. At that time the country had been coming out of the second and third 
lockdowns and there were real concerns about unemployment, redundancy and 
effects on the labour market. Prior to that pandemic there were approximately 12,000 
vacancies in the city region, but in the current week there were around 18-19,000. 
Significant growth in apprenticeships was being created and the challenge was now 
to find quality applicants to fill vacancies. 
 
 The Task and Finish group had provided focus to communications, promotion 
and publicity.  There were still many employers, residents, parents and young people 
who did not understand or appreciate the benefits of an apprenticeship. This 
highlighted the need to communicate what an apprenticeship looks like today and the 
range of apprenticeships that were available. In 2021 there had been 100 Paediatric 
Nurse Degree Apprenticeships receiving hundreds of applications, and the Ford 
transmission plant was in the process of creating Degree level Apprenticeships. 

Page 21



There was a lot of high quality, sustainable apprenticeship opportunities available 
and these needed to be communicated to the right people at the right time.  
 
 There was now a requirement for schools to open up to allow colleges, 
training providers and other organisations to promote apprenticeships but there was 
still work to do to reach teachers and others working around schools. Focus also 
needed to be given to workers aged 50 or over, as it had been noted that half of the 
apprenticeship vacancies created were filled by workers aged 25 and over.  
Consideration needed to be given to how to reach those people, especially those 
who were considering retraining following changes to the labour market over the last 
12 months.   
 
 There had been questions regarding the provision of support to people with 
physical disabilities, learning difficulties and young people with special educational 
needs, and it was noted that there was an increase in supported apprenticeships 
coming through. This was something the Task and Finish group suggested should 
receive an increase in promotion. There had been some additional European funding 
to promote apprenticeship which had helped to fund apprenticeships, graduation 
events and outreach teams that visit schools, however this funding would come to 
end later in 2022. The Committee may wish to give this area more focus as further 
investment was being sought going forward.  
 
 The second major area was around data and monitoring. There was a lot of 
granular detail about age, level, and type of apprenticeship created, and all at the 
quality of support expected by Ofsted. However, the Task and Finish group asked if 
more could be done to communicate the range of apprenticeships. An example was 
provided of Wales which have a government website that lists all of the 
apprenticeship standards. The ‘Be More’ website had this information for the City 
Region. It had been estimated that over 70 or 80% of people who completed an 
apprenticeship then moved into a job very quickly, and so these were not just being 
viewed as a paid training programmes and employers did see these as an 
investment.  
 
 The Task and Finish group expressed concern about what happens with care 
leavers. Given the corporate parenting responsibility that local authorities had 
towards looked after children there was already work going on to provide support and 
there was good practice emerging such as ringfencing apprenticeships for care 
leavers. This would guarantee an interview but not a job.  
 
 Rob Tabb advised that the recommendations of the Task and Finish group 
were set out in section three of the report and included areas which the Committee 
may decide required additional focus.  
 
 Councillor Angela Teeling welcomed the focus on promotion and spoke to 
personal experience with school leaving aged people who did not grasp what an 
apprenticeship was, and who had read negative information which presented 
apprenticeships as cheap labour or a tick box exercise. With regards to 
communications and promotion, Councillor Teeling raised the launch of the Skills 
Bootcamps and how these had not been promoted in the most inclusive way. 
Councillor Teeling also sought clarification on the ringfencing of apprenticeship 
interviews for care leavers and asked if this would be covered in the leavers 
covenant and whether the adoption of the covenant had been discussed.  
 
 Councillor Christine Howard highlighted section 3.10 of the report where it 
stated that members may wish to consider how the impact of measures be collected 

Page 22



in future activity in terms of measuring whether an endeavour had been successful 
and asked if there were any application forms or processes that apprentices had to 
complete at the start of their apprenticeship where that kind of information could be 
collected. Drawing attention to section 3.11 of the report, in reference to proposed 
action around care leavers, Councillor Howard expressed that the activities sounded 
positive but noted the phrase ‘in due course’ and sought more specific information as 
to the timeline 
 
 Councillor Trish Long welcomed the report and spoke as someone who had 
professional experience of managing a career service in a college. Councillor Trish 
Long expressed appreciation for the focus on good communication, making sure that 
parents, carers and young people understood what an apprenticeship was, and what 
the progression from an apprenticeship could be. Councillor Long stated that early 
information on different opportunities should start in primary school but sought 
confirmation as to range of influence that the LCR Combined Authority had in terms 
of primary schools. But if there were access then a formal careers education starting 
in primary school would capture the children’s enthusiasm and raise their aspirations 
form an early age with concrete information.  
 
 The Chair brought a different experience to the Committee of those who were 
reassessing their careers later in life, having been influenced to take a particular path 
earlier in life by parents.  
 
 Councillor Trish Long expressed concern that the National Career Services 
website was little talked about but was a fantastic website that young people in the 
later years of primary school could start to look at, and which provided impartial 
advice, guidance and information. Introducing children to this resource early would 
also help to prevent them from being pushed into unsuitable careers by family as 
they would have access to information about the diversity of opportunities available. 
 
 Councillor Eddie Dourley agreed with previous comments and specifically at 
reaching children at an early age. Drawing on experience working with young people 
Councillor Dourley advised that there were children leaving school who were 
completely unprepared for the world of employment, including what was required and 
how to find work.  
 
 In response to the issue of poor-quality apprenticeships Rob Tabb advised 
that a young person was able to be paid the National Apprenticeship minimum wage 
which was £4.81 per hour which was below the national minimum wage for the age. 
The Combined Authority aimed to encourage and promote the payment of National 
Minimum wage rather than the National Apprenticeship minimum wage. The quality 
of provision was overseen by Ofsted. There had been reports of employers who 
misuse apprenticeships or do not implement them within the spirit in which they were 
intended, and it was hoped that the Fair Employment Charter would help address this 
by promoting good practice, but the Combined Authority did not have any mechanism 
to intervene. With regard to the promotion of the Skills Boot Camps, Rob Tabb 
acknowledged the current campaign and that some people might find the use of the 
phrase ‘boot camp’ pejorative.  The government was very focused on short courses, 
but some of the training and provision that was available on a short-term basis was 
very good and high quality. Rob Tabb undertook to take this feedback to the team.  
 
 Rob Tabb spoke on the care leavers covenant and advised that the Education 
and Skills Portfolio Board had commissioned officers to undertake research around 
care leaver employment support. 
 

Page 23



 With regard to Councillor Christine Howard’s question on application forms, 
Rob Tabb advised that challenges arose when an engagement event or activity takes 
place, and the time at which someone might make an application to an 
apprenticeship. As an example, Rob Tabb described how around 1000 young people 
attended the skills show at the Exhibition Centre, and one of the questions asked of 
them was whether they felt more confident that they understood apprenticeships.  
There would be various factors which would determine whether or when one of those 
young people would apply to an apprenticeship.   
 
 In response to the question regarding timescales Rob Tabb advised that it 
was hoped that the work commissioned by the Education and Skills Portfolio Board 
on care leavers would lead to some activities in the summer. In terms of careers, Rob 
Tabb noted that there was an increasing focus in secondary schools from key stage 
3 (11–14-year-olds), and that there were some primary schools including activities 
such as primary engineer or design engineer construction activities. The inclusion of 
such activities depended upon the culture, leadership and focus of a particular 
school. Rob Tabb stated that it was also worth noting that the world of work had 
become quite complicated, with an example being that there were more than 350 
separate job roles within the NHS and this number was increasing all the time. This 
made it harder to communicate all the career pathways that were available. There 
were conversations happening nationally with an education enterprise company 
about how to better support and equip primary schools, and there had been 
proposals wherein teachers might spend a year in industry and so be better able to 
understand what the world looks like. Rob Tabb noted that many local authority 
Councillors were also school governors and suggested that more could be done to 
support and inform these roles. Rob Tabb suggested that the promotion of career 
activities in schools may be an area that the Committee could return to for further 
work. 
 
 The Chair thanked Rob Tabb for explaining the recommendations in a clear 
and precise way and also thanked all the members who served on the Task and 
Finish group for their work.  
 
 

RESOLVED - That: 
 
(i) the report and recommendations of the Task and Finish Group on 

Apprenticeships be considered at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in the new Municipal Year; and 

 
(ii) that, following endorsement by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(which must be quorate), the recommendations be considered at a future 
meeting of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 

 
 

44. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE SELF-ASSESSMENT  
 
 The inquorate meeting considered the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
which advised on the proposal to conduct a self-assessment of the function, activities 
and impact of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 Jill Coule, Chief Legal and Monitoring Officer explained that the proposed 
format for self-assessment was a different way of progressing.  In previous years, a 
survey had been conducted with varying degrees of engagement, response and 

Page 24



feedback and this process was similar to the approach undertaken by the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  
  
 Jill Coule informed the meeting that Appendix One to the report provided 
information on the framework for evaluation mechanism developed by the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny which would be used as part of this process.  It was proposed that a 
draft self-assessment report would be presented to the first available meeting of the 
Committee in July 2022 with a final report in Autumn 2022. 
 
 Councillor Kai Taylor commented that the supplementary agenda was only 
published and circulated to the Committee on Friday evening which didn’t provide 
much time to review the papers.  He asked if papers could be provided as early as 
possible in future. 
 
 Jill Coule apologised for the late circulation which was due to staffing issues. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the inquorate meeting note the proposal to conduct a self-
assessment of the function, activities and impact of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
 
45. CHAIR'S CLOSING REMARKS  
 
 The Chair, Councillor Steve Radford took the opportunity to thank Officers for 
the support he had received in his role as Chair of the Committee and the support 
provided to Members of the Committee.  He added that he wasn’t expecting to 
become the Chair at the first meeting and had thoroughly enjoyed the role.   
 
 
 
Minutes 38 to 45 received as a correct record on the 13 day of July 2022. 
 
 

 
 
 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 

(The meeting closed at 3.44 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 
Report Title 

 
Appointments of Scrutiny Members to the Audit 
and Governance Committee 2022/23  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Not applicable  

Summary of decision being sought  To seek nominations from the Committee for 
four members to sit on the Combined Authority’s 
Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23.  
 
This Committee requires the appointment of two 
Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat 
Councillor and one Conservative Councillor and 
to appoint substitute members on the same 
basis.   
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No  

Local Authorities affected  
 

All  

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

None  

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region   X 

A Stronger City Region   X 

A Cleaner City Region   X 

A Connected City Region   X 

A Vibrant City Region  X 

 
Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1  

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.2 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager 
Email: trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
  

Appendices Yes – Audit and Governance Committee – 
Terms of Reference  
 

Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 28

mailto:trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday, 13 July 2022 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 

APPOINTMENTS OF SCRUTINY MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 2022/23  

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek nominations from the Committee for four members to sit on the Combined 

Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23. This Committee requires the 
appointment of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat Councillor and one 
Conservative Councillor and to appoint substitute members on the same basis.   

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoints  
 

(a) Four Members comprising of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat 
Councillor and One Conservative Councillor to sit on the Audit and 
Governance Committee 2022/23; and 

 
(b) Four substitute Members comprising of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal 

Democrat Councillor and One Conservative Councillor to act as substitutes on 
the Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23.  

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 

Membership of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
3.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is composed of 7 Members as follows: 
 

 6 elected Councillors which are drawn from both the Combined Authority and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  
 

 1 Independent Member. 
  

Page 29



 
3.2 The Combined Authority at its annual meeting agreed the allocation of seats to its 

various Committees. Of the six seats allocated to Members for the Audit and 
Governance Committee, two are allocated to Members of the Combined Authority.  
These appointments have been confirmed as Councillors Graham Morgan and Mike 
Wharton (substituted by Councillors David Baines and Jeanette Williamson should 
that prove necessary).   

 
3.3 The remaining four seats are allocated to Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. Likewise any substitutes are similarly drawn from Overview and 
Scrutiny members.  In order to ensure political balance across the City Region there 
are two seats allocated for Labour Party members and one each for the Liberal 
Democrat and Conservative Party members. 

 
3.4 An Independent Person, Jean Gleave was appointed to the Audit and Governance 

Committee in 2021. 
 
 Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
3.5 The Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee are attached at 

Appendix One for information. 
 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Legal  

 
The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 
Authority’s Corporate Governance arrangements.  The Committee membership has 
to be constituted in accordance with the governance arrangements set out in the 
LCR Combined Authority Constitution and any other appropriate legislation.  This is 
to ensure that the Audit and Governance Committee can effectively carry out its 
purpose and functions as set out in its Terms of Reference detailed in Appendix 
One to the report 
 

4.2 Risks and Mitigation  
  
 There is a risk that should the appointments to the Audit and Governance 

Committee 2022/23 not be made this would be detrimental to the principle of good 
governance for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  

 
  

Page 30



 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 It is anticipated that the proposed appointments will support the operation of the 

Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23. Once Members have been appointed 
arrangements will be made for appropriate training, if required. 
 

 
 

JILL COULE  
MONITORING OFFICER 

 
 

Appendix: 
 
1 Audit and Governance Committee – Terms of Reference  
 
Background Documents:  
 
1 None  

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 3 – SECTION E 
 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

CONTENTS 
 

No. 
 

Section 

1. Membership  

2. Chairing the Committee 

3.  Appointment 

4. Quorum 

5. Meeting and Procedures 

6. Delegation 

7. Statement of Purpose 

 
  

Page 33



E.  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
1.  Membership  
 
1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as 

follows:- 
 

(a) 6 elected Members from the voting Members of the Combined 
Authority and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  

(b) 1 Independent Member.  
 
2 Chair of the Committee  
 
2.1 The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership 

of the Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting of the 
Combined Authority and before proceeding to other business.   

 
3 Appointment.  
 
3.1 The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at 

the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of:- 
 

(a) Members appointed from the voting Members of:- 

(i) Combined Authority; and 

(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with  

(iii) another elected voting Member as a Substitute Member of the 
Audit and Governance Committee to act in the absence of the 
Member appointed above, in such a manner that the Members of 
the Audit and Governance Committee taken as a whole will 
reflect, so far as reasonably practicable, the balance of political 
parties for the time being prevailing among Members of the 
Constituent Councils when taken together. 

 
(b) at least one Independent Person, to be appointed through the prescribed 

procedure and who:- 
 

(i) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 
Authority;  

(ii) is not a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 
for which the Combined Authority is the Principal Authority;  

(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph 
(i) or (ii); and  

(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an 
appointment:- 

  
(1) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of the Combined 

Authority; or  

Page 34



(2) a Member, Co-opted Member or Officer of a Parish Council 
for which the Combined Authority is the principal authority; 
and 

 
(c) such non-voting Members may be Co-opted from other organisations in 

such manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee 
may decide. 

 
4 Quorum.  
 
4.1 No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted 

unless at least two-thirds of the voting Members are present. 
 
5  Meetings and Procedure 
 
5.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Arrangements, meeting Standing Orders, access to information rules 
and other Standing Orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
6 Delegation 
 
6.1 The Committee may establish such Sub-Committees, Panels and ad-hoc 

Task and Finish Groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 
 
7 Statement of Purpose 
 
7.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to:- 
 

 provide an independent and high level focus on the audit, assurance 
and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 
financial standards; 

 provide independent assurance to Members of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control environment. It 
provides independent review of the Combined Authority‟s governance, 
risk management and control frameworks and oversees internal audit 
and external audit, helping to ensure that efficient and effective 
assurance arrangements are in place; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined 
Authority Members.  

  
8 Functions 
 
8.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance 

Committee, the following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority. 
 
  

Page 35



Governance, risk and control 
 
(a) To review the Combined Authority‟s corporate governance arrangements 
against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework and to 
consider the local code of governance 
 
(b) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s Annual Governance Statement 

properly reflects the risk environment and any actions required to improve it, 
effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s Framework of Governance, risk and 
management control, and demonstrates how governance supports the 
achievements of the Combined Authority‟s objectives; 

 
(c)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s arrangements to secure value for money 

and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these 
arrangements; 
 

(d)    to consider the Combined Authority‟s framework of assurance and ensure that 
it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Combined Authority; 
 

(e)    to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
Combined Authority; 
 

(f)     to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee; 
 
(g)    to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions; 
 
(h)    to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Combined 

Authority from fraud and corruption; 
 
(i)          to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources; and 

 
(j)     to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations; 
 
Internal Audit 
 
(a)    to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s risk management 

arrangements and the control environment.  Review the risk profile of the 
organisation and assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues, 
including partnerships with other organisations; 

 
(b)    to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements 

for ensuring value for money and for managing the Combined Authority‟s 
exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

 
(c)    to approve the internal audit charter; 
 
(d)    to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit. 
 

Page 36



(e)    to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of 
internal audit services and to make recommendations; 

 
(f)    to approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including the internal audit‟s 

resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and 
any work required to place reliance upon those other sources; 

 
(g)    to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the 

effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework; 
 
(h)    to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 

resource requirements; 
 
(i)    to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of Internal 

Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope of resource limitations; 
 
(j)     to oversee internal audit‟s independence, objectivity, performance and 

professionalism 
 
(k)    to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from 

additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head of 
Internal Audit.  To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such 
impairments; 

 
(l)    to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit‟s 

performance during the year, including the performance of external providers of 
internal audit services.  These will include:- 

 
• updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 

concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work; 
• regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance & Improvement 

Programme (QAIP); 
• reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to 

the Public Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local Government 
Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-conformance is 
significant enough that it must be included in the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS). 

 
(m)   to consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s annual report:- 
 

•       the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN and 
the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate the 
reliability of the conclusions of the internal audit; and 

•       the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined 
Authority‟s framework of governance, risk management and control 
together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will 
assist the committee in reviewing the AGS. 

 
(n) to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
 

Page 37



(o)    to receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal Audit 
has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the Combined Authority or there are concerns about progress 
with the implementation of agreed actions; 

 
(p)    to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of 

internal audit that takes place at least once every five years; 
 
(q)    to consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS, 

where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations; 
 
(r) to provide free and unfettered access to the Audit & Governance Committee 

Chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity for a private 
meeting with the Committee. 

 
External audit 
 
(a) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 

external annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues 
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); 

 
(b)      to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external audit 

and inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk 
management or control, and monitor management action in response to the 
issues raised by external audit; 

 
(c) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 

gives value for money; 
 
(d)       to commission work from internal and external audit; and 
 
(e)        to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 

external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies. 
Financial reporting 
 
(a)     to review the annual statement of accounts.  Specifically, to consider whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be 
brought to the attention of the Combined Authority; and  
 

(b)    to consider the external auditor‟s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from the audit of the accounts; 

 
Standards 
 
(a)       to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 

 
(b)      to assist Members of the Combined Authority to observe the Combined 

Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

Page 38



(c)      to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement of 
the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the Combined 
Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that Combined Authority 
Members have failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of 
Conduct for Members (“the Authority‟s Arrangements”); 

 
(d)          to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for 

Members and the Authority„s Arrangements; 
 
(e)    to advise, train or arrange to train Members of the Combined Authority to 

observe the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

(f)        to determine, in accordance with the Authority‟s Arrangements, whether a 
Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct 
for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take in respect of 
the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include:– 
 
•     publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 

Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct; 
•    reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards Committee to 

the Combined Authority for information; 
•    recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be censured; 
•    instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange training 

for the Subject Member; or 
•    recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 

should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject Member 
has been appointed or nominated by the Combined Authority; and 

(g)     to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the grant of 
dispensations. 

 
(h) to form an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee for the purposes of the 

Disciplinary Procedure in relation to the Combined Authority‟s Chief Officers, as 
per Part 6, Section F of the Constitution.  

 
Accountability arrangements  
 

(a)     to report to the Combined Authority on the Committee‟s findings conclusions and 
recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority‟s governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; 
financial reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions;  

 
(b)       to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee in 

relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the Committee in 
meeting its purpose; and 

 
(c)      to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee. 

 
Amendments to the Constitution 
 

Page 39



(a) to consider proposed constitutional amendments. 
 
Information Management 
 
(a)    to determine on behalf of the Combined Authority, information management 

policies and procedures and monitor their application; and 
(b)  to report to the Combined Authority on an annual basis, the up to date 

position regarding information management policies, procedures and their 
application. 

Page 40



 
Report Title 

 
LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work 
programme 2022-23  
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Not applicable  

Summary of decision being sought  To consider proposals which will inform the 
development of the Committee’s work 
programme 2022-23. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
Is this a Key Decision 
 

Not applicable  

Is the report urgent 
 

No  

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

Not applicable  

Local Authorities affected  
 

All  

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation sought  
 

Authorise the Scrutiny Officer in consultation 
with the Chair and Vice-Chair to complete the 
process of finalising the work programme and 
scoping Task and Finish Groups, considering 
the Committee’s views.  
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region √  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

No 

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation No 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes  

Contact Officer(s) Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager 
Email: trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk  

Appendices Yes  
 

Background Documents Yes 
 

 
  

Page 42

mailto:trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:trudy.bedford@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday, 13 July 2022 
 

Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer  
 

LCR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2022-23  
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report to provide the Committee with an opportunity to consider 

proposals which will inform the development of its work programme for 2022/23. 
 

1.2. The work programme should reflect the powers and functions of the Combined 
Authority. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  
 

(a) consider the draft work programme attached at Appendix One; and  
 

(b) authorise the Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair to 
complete the process of finalising the work programme and scoping the Task 
and Finish Groups, considering the Committee’s views. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 Developing the work programme is an important stage in the scrutiny process and 

should provide the Committee with a clear picture of its activity.  
 
3.2 Having a work programme which is flexible and prioritises areas of importance will 

support the Committee in making its biggest contribution to the work of the 
Combined Authority and the Liverpool City Region. To ensure the work programme 
is adaptable and reflects current activity, the Committee will have an opportunity to 
review it at each of its meetings.  

 
3.3 On 29 June 2022, the Committee held an informal session to commence the 

development of its the work programme. The first session explained the role and 
remit of the Committee and previous scrutiny activity. Members were encouraged to 
consider topics which could inform the workplan.  

 
3.4 Following the informal session a number of suggested topics for inclusion in the 

work programme have been received and they are: 
 
 

Page 43



 Performance Information 

 Green Bus Routes 

 Fair Employment Charter  

 Local Transport Plan 4 

 City Region Sustainable Transport Settlements (CRSTS) 

 Assurance Framework  

 Update on the recommendations from previous Task and Finish Groups  
 
 
4. DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
4.1 It is proposed that the draft work programme focuses on three areas of activity and 

they are: 
 

 Reports for consideration at Committee.  

 Task and Finish Groups; and  

 Member’s briefings.  
 
4.2 Reports for consideration at Committee 
 

A key role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to help shape policy 
development, review existing policy and improve performance of the Combined 
Authority. This will primarily be undertaken at Committee meetings and it is 
imperative that the agenda for meetings focuses on this.  
 
Furthermore, to support the Committee in its role as a critical friend to the 
Combined Authority, it is proposed that Portfolio and Deputy Portfolio Holders be 
invited to Committee meetings to provide an update on the work of their Portfolio.  

 
4.3 Task and Finish Groups 
 

It is proposed that at least two Task and Finish Groups take place during the 2022-
23 Municipal year. The Task and Finish Groups focus on a time limited topic and 
have previously focused on policy development or scrutinising partners.  
 
Task and Finish Groups are held in addition to the Committee meetings and usually 
take place over the course of 5 sessions and involve a smaller cohort of Members. 
They operate as follows: 
 

 First meeting – scoping the review 

 Three evidence sessions 

 Review meeting – to consider the final report of the Group and agree the 
recommendations which will be presented to the Committee.  

 
 

Subject to Members approval of the topics for Task and Finish Groups, they will be 
scoped and brought back to the September Committee for agreement.  
 

4.4 Member’s briefings 
 
 To ensure Members are kept abreast of Combined Authority activity it is proposed 

that written and in-person briefings be provided to Members. The purpose of the 

Page 44



briefings will be to provide Members with an understanding of developing activities 
within the Combined Authority and determine what further scrutiny action is 
required.  

 
 The written briefings will also be topic specific explaining the history of the topic and 

its performance to date.  
 

 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 

 
4.12 Communication and Consultation  

 The work programme will be shared with Members, Officers and relevant 
stakeholders. 
 
 

5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 This report provides Members with an opportunity to give guidance to officers as to 

their Work Programme requirements for 2021/22.  
 

 
TRUDY BEDFORD 

STAUTORY SCRUTINY OFFICER  
 

 
Appendices: 
 
1 Draft Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 
 
Background Documents:  
 
1 None  
 

 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Draft Work Programme 2022/22 

This work programme is split into three parts (1) – Committee Meetings, (2) – Task and Finish Groups and (3) Member Briefings 

1 – Committee Meetings  

Wednesday 13 July 2022 

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Appointment of Chair and Vice 
Chair 

 Jill Coule   

Appointments to the Audit and 
Governance Committee  

   

Work Plan 2022-23 To approve the work plan for the Committee, which 
will include planned activity for the Committee and 
Task and Finish Groups.  

Trudy Bedford  

Performance Information – Q4  Jason Roberts 
Stephen Littler  

 

Update from the Metro Mayor    

Assessing the impact of Covid-
19 on Apprenticeships Task 
and Finish Group  

To consider the recommendations from this Task 
and Finish Group. Subject to approval, the 
recommendations will be presented to the 
Combined Authority.  

Rob Tabb 
Trudy Bedford  

 

SDS Engagement   Mark Dickens Cllr Graham Morgan  

UK SPF  Raph Miller 
Aileen Jones  
 
 

 

P
age 47



Wednesday 7 September 2022 

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Update from Asif Hamid MBE, 
Portfolio Holder for Business 
Support and Chair of the LCR 
LEP. 
Update on the implementation 
of the recommendations of the 
LCR LEP Review 

Asif Hamid MBE will provide an overview of the key 
priority areas of his Portfolio – Business Support.  
 
The Committee will also be provided with an 
update on progress of the recommendations of the 
LCR LEP Review held in 2019. 

Mark Basnett  
Managing Director – LCR 
LEP & Growth Platform  

Asif Hamid MBE  
Business Support  

Improving Disability 
Employment Opportunities in 
the City Region Task and 
Finish Group 

To consider the recommendations from this Task 
and Finish Group. Subject to approval, the 
recommendations will be presented to the 
Combined Authority. 

Olly Martins  
Trudy Bedford 

 

Local Transport Plan 4  Huw Jenkins   

Feedback from the CA on Task 
and Finish Group activity 

An update will be provided on the CA’s response to 
the recommendations of the Improving Disability 
Employment Opportunities in the City Region & 
Assessing the impact of Covid-19 on 
Apprenticeships 

Trudy Bedford N/A 

Task and Finish Group 
Number One 

To agree the scope and membership of the first 
Task and Finish Group. 

Trudy Bedford  

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Annual Report 
2021-22 

To approve the Annual Report of the Committee Trudy Bedford   

  

P
age 48



Wednesday 9 November 2022 

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Fair Employment Charter To provide an update on progress of the Fair 
Employment Charter.  

Rob Tabb  

Outcome of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Self-
Assessment 

To present the findings of the Self-Assessment and 
suggested next steps.  

Trudy Bedford   

Task and Finish Group - Two To agree the scope and membership of the second 
Task and Finish Group. 

Trudy Bedford   

    

Thursday 19 January 2023 

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Budget Proposals 2022-23 To consider the LCRCA budget proposals for 2022-
23. 

John Fogarty 
Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources 

Metro Mayor S Rotheram 

Performance Information – Q2 
Mid-year 

 Jason Roberts 
Stephen Littler  

 

Recommendations from Task 
and Finish Group One 

To agree the recommendations from Task and 
Finish Group One  

Trudy Bedford   

Task and Finish Group – Three To agree the scope and membership of the third 
Task and Finish Group 

Trudy Bedford   

    

  

P
age 49



Wednesday 1 March 2023  

Report Description Lead Officer Portfolio Holder  

Recommendations from Task 
and Finish Group Two 

To consider the recommendations from Task and 
Finish Group Two 

Trudy Bedford   

    

    

    

    

Wednesday 19 April 2023 

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Annual Report 22-
23 

To approve the Annual Report of the Committee.  Trudy Bedford   

Recommendations from Task 
and Finish Group Three 

To consider the recommendations from Task and 
Finish Group Three 

Trudy Bedford   

    

    

 

 

 

P
age 50



Reports to be scheduled for Committee meetings  

Report  Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Portfolio Holder  

Formal response to the 
Devolution White paper 

To consider the Combined Authority’s submission 
response to the Devolution White paper.  

Claire Blott  
 

Metro Mayor S Rotheram  

Transforming Cities Fund  To examine the progress of the Transforming Cites 
Fund. 

 Cllr L Robinson 
Portfolio Holder: Transport 
& Air Quality  

Net Zero  Claire Blott  Cllr David Baines  
Portfolio Holder – Climate 
Emergency & Renewable 
Energy  

SIF Assurance Framework  Dr Aileen Jones  
Raph Miller 

Cllr Janette Williamson  
Portfolio Holder – 
Inclusive Economy and 
Third Sector  

City Region Sustainable 
Transport Settlements 
(CRSTS) 

 Dr Aileen Jones 
Richard McGuckin 
Paul Buntin 

Cllr Janette Williamson – 
Portfolio Holder – 
Inclusive Economy & 
Third Sector  

Green Bus Routes  Richard McGuckin  
Matt Goggins 

Portfolio Holder – 
Transport & Air Quality  

 

  

P
age 51



2 - Task and Finish Groups 

Task and Finish Groups look at issue in depth, the work is focused and time limited. The recommendations arising from Task and Finish Groups 

are presented to the LCR Combined Authority for their consideration and approval.   

Topic  Objective & focus 
 

Timeframe Membership   

Careers    

    

    

 

3 - Member’s briefings 

Members briefing provide an informal setting in which the Committee can be informed about the development of a topic matter before deciding 

whether a topic is suitable for further scrutiny activity.  

Topic Description 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Timeframe 

Budget Setting A training session to provide knowledge and 
understanding of the proposed CA Budget 

Externally provided by 
Link Training 

TBC 

Rail  To understand the extension plans for the rail network 
in the City Region. 

Richard McGuckin  
Mal Dury-Rose  

TBC 

Freeport To understand the role and remit of the Freeport.  John Fogarty  
John Lucy 

TBC 

Retrofit Programme   Tracy Gordon  TBC 

Developing a Strategic Investment 
Fund pipeline  

To understand the process of developing investment 
projects through the Strategic Investment Fund.  

Raph Miller  TBC 

LCR Connect  To understand the work and objectives of the LCR 
Connect programme. 

Dr Aileen Jones 
Raph Miller  
Lorna Rogers 

TBC 

 

P
age 52



 
Report Title 

 
Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group Report 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Portfolio Holder for Education, Skills, Equality 
and Diversity 
 

Summary of decision being sought  Consideration and review of the final report of 
the Task and Finish Group prior to submission 
to the Combined Authority 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No 
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

No 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

N/A 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick as appropriate  

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region    

A Connected City Region    

A Vibrant City Region 
 

√  

Climate Change Implications 
 

No 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1  

Social Value implications  
 

No  
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

No  

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.2 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.3  

Contact Officer(s) Rob Tabb, Policy Lead Officer: Employment and 
Skills 
Rob.tabb@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
 

Appendices Yes 
Appendix One – Report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group 
review into Apprenticeships 
 
 

Background Documents No 
 

 
  

Page 54

mailto:Rob.tabb@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

13 July 2022 
 

Report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 
 

IAPPRENTICESHIP TASK AND FINISH GROUP REPORT 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to consider the review by the Apprenticeship Task and 

Finish Group for ahead of submission to the Combined Authority. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee: 
 

(a) Review and endorse the attached report from the Task and Finish Group on 
Apprenticeships; and 

(b) Request that the recommendations are considered at a future meeting of the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 There is significant benefit in the process of providing task and finish groups on 

occasions to consider issues in more detail on behalf of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  This provides Members with the opportunity to focus on particular 
issues, hear from experts in the field and identify a range of options and 
suggestions for consideration and implementation.  This task and finish group 
focused on a short review into Apprenticeships undertaken in April 2021, at a time 
when there was a great deal of uncertainty as Covid restrictions were easing and 
economic circumstances looked unclear. 

 
3.2 The report of the Task and Finish Group is attached as Appendix One.  It draws 

together the discussions, contributions and potential recommendations from three 
meetings where a range of views were heard on apprenticeships.  At that time (April 
2021), there was significant concern about the number of apprentices who were at 
risk of losing their jobs, although it is heartening that the feared scale of 
redundancies was not seen.  The number of apprenticeship starts had reduced 
significantly, but this has now increased again. 

 
3.3 There are two major areas of conclusions and recommendations: communications 

and data.  
  

Page 55



 Communications and promotions 
 
3.4 Despite the best efforts of many people and teams over many years, there are still 

many residents and employers who do not understand or appreciate what 
apprenticeships are, how they could help them and the beneficial impact of 
employing an apprentice.  There have been local and national campaigns on this, 
and there are a series of Apprenticeship Ambassadors (both employer and learner) 
whose role it is to promote apprenticeships.  There is a nationally funded service 
which engages with secondary schools to promote apprenticeships, which has been 
supplemented in recent years locally by the Liverpool City Region Apprenticeship 
Support Team. 

 
3.5 The specific recommendations from the Task and Finish Group are: 
 

 Ensure a streamlined approach to communications from the Combined Authority 
across all constituent authorities and ensure that residents are reached across 
different communications streams set out in a clear communciations plan;  

 Develop a bespoke and targeted campaign regarding apprenticeships for older 
groups (especially those aged 50 and over) including those who had 
experienced redundancy or were seeking a career change; 

 Produce differentiated communications approaches to apprentices and 
employers; 

 Create defined routes to communicate to those who are harder to reach such as 
school refusers, digitally excluded people and those with SEN; 

 Support colleges and training providers to access funding to enable them to 
have up to date equipment and facilities where apprentices can learn; 

 Create discussions between local authorities and employers regarding routes 
from the Kickstart programme into apprenticeships to create sustainable 
opportunities for young people; and  

 Promote earlier engagement between large local employers such as and school-
aged children, in order to inspire young people and ensure that girls can develop 
career aspirations in science, technology, engineering, maths and digital roles. 

 
3.6 The additional local support on apprenticeship promotion delivered through the 

Combined Authority by the team based in Halton Council is provided up to 
September 2022, enabling support in the coming months: future large scale 
promotional activities will depend upon funding being sourced to undertake these 
activities (e.g. apply for Shared Prosperity Funding).  There is support in place 
through national programmes (such as Amazing Apprenticeships and the ASK 
promotional programme), and Members may wish to see a greater proportion of 
these national programmes delivered locally. 

 
3.7 Members may also wish to consider whether any additional target groups could or 

should be identified as the recipients of the communications activity.   Task and 
Finish Group members identified targeting communications for young people who 
have Special Educational Needs and adults who were looking to retrain, and this 
may be enough.  Communication and promotion with employers tends to be done 
best by employers talking to employers, as there is greater credibility, and this is 
normally done through the Ambassador programme: Members may wish to 
consider this level of support. 

  

Page 56



 
Data and Monitoring 

 
3.8 There are significant amounts of data produced on apprenticeships, and these tend 

to get focused upon apprenticeship starts by age, subject, level and curriculum.  
Completions are also reported although it is harder to track back from 
apprenticeship starts in one year to completions in another year, as there can be a 
range of different factors which explain why an apprentice may delay completing 
their study programme.  The quality of support is measured by Ofsted through their 
regular inspections. 

 
3.9 The specific recommendations produced by the Task and Finish Group are: 
 

 The need for monitoring and evaluation of engagement events and activities to 
ensure that they were directly contributing to the continued and increased 
employment of apprentices; 

 Explore the incentivising of apprenticeship completions in addition to the 
encouragement of new starts, and increased monitoring and evaluation of data 
relating to starts and completions; 

 Work to bring agencies together to provide improved support to both the 
apprentice and the employer where the apprentice is identified as a care leaver; 
and 

 Monitoring and improving gender equality within the digital sector.  
 
3.10 The data collection on the current additional local activity has tended to focus upon 

the activities and engagement undertaken rather than the impact of these.  It is 
possible to track whether engagement has changed the view of those who took part 
in terms of their views on apprenticeships but not necearily whether this has led to 
them applying for an apprenticeship: this can be because there can be a number of 
years between a promotional session or activity and people being ready or able to 
apply for an apprenticeship.  Members may wish to consider how these impact 
measures could be collected in future activity. 

 
3.11 There is employment support available for care leavers and this is provided by each 

Local Authority to meet the needs of their care leavers.  There is not always clear 
understanding of the position of care leavers by employers and the challenges that 
they can face.  The issue of declaration of a care leaver’s status is a personal one, 
and there can be occasions when the care leaver is not prepared to do this.  That 
said, there are good examples locally of Local Authorities securing ringfenced 
apprenticeships for care leavers through their additional social value activity, which 
are shared through existing officer networks.  If agreed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the recommendations will be considered by the CA in due 
course.  If agreed, then the work of the task and finish group can be revisited by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to determine progress.  At this juncture further 
work could be undertaken to review the position and any improvements to the 
inclusion, take up and outcomes for care leavers. 

 
3.12 The recommendations of the Task and Finish Group are set out above and 

members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are requested to consider and 
endorse these, with the opportunity to tailor recommendations for the Combined 
Authority. 

 

Page 57



 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 

 
4.2 Equality and Diversity  
 
 Additional focus is placed upon race, disability and sex performance differences, 

with employment and skills providers required to articulate their contribution towards 
narrowing these performance gaps.  The remaining protected characteristics are 
also highlighted for action and focus by service and training providers.  

 
4.3 Risks and Mitigation  
  
 There is a risk that the recommendations produced by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee are not implemented by the Combined Authority.  This will be mitigated 
by developing implementable and actionable recommendations for the Combined 
Authority to consider. 

 
4.4 Communication and Consultation  
 
 Recommendations around communications and promotions will be implemented in 

line with the broader Combined Authority Communications Strategy. 
 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 This report has tabled the report of the Apprenticeships Task and Finish Group for 

consideration and endorsement by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ahead of 
submission to the Combined Authority for consideration. 

 
 

TRUDY BEDFORD 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

MAYOR JOANNE ANDERSON 
Portfolio Holder for Education, Skills, 

Equality and Diversity  
 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix One – Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group 
review into Apprenticeships 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Page 58



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Apprenticeship Review  
 

Final report – April 2021  
  

Page 59



 
 

CONTENTS  
 

 Pages  
 

 
Introduction by Councillor, Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  
 

 
 

 
Background to the Review  
 

  
 

 
Developing the Scoping document  
 

 
 

 
Who did we speak to? 
 

 
 

 
What did we hear and from whom? 
 

 
 

 
What conclusions did we reach 
 

 
 

 
What recommendations are we making 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 
 

 
1. Introduction by Councillor, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
It is with great pleasure that I present the findings and recommendations of the 
Committee’s review into assessing the impact Covid-19 has had on apprenticeships 
in the Liverpool City Region (LCR).   
 
Members chose to undertake this review to understand the experiences apprentices 
had gone through when made redundant and also why businesses were choosing 
not to create an apprenticeship programme and to identify what was required to have 
apprenticeship programmes which would deliver the skills required for future 
employment opportunities.  
 
Through the three evidence gathering sessions we had an opportunity to speak 
directly with training providers, employers who had apprenticeships, and LCR 
Combined Authority, Local Authority and Growth Platform officers.  
 
In making our recommendations, we recognise the essential role the Apprenticeship 
programme will continue to have to support the City Region’s recovery from the 
pandemic. By ensuring that the programme provides the right skills and employment 
opportunities for our residents.  
 
We have agreed the following recommendations which are grouped as follows: 
 
Communication 
 

 Ensure a streamlined approach to communications from the Combined Authority 
across all constituent authorities and ensure that residents are reached across 
different communications streams;  

 Develop a bespoke and targeted campaign regarding apprenticeships for older 
groups including those who had experienced redundancy or were seeking a 
career change; 

 Produce differentiated communications approaches to apprentices and 
employers. 

 Create defined routes to communicate to those who are harder to reach such as 
school refusers, digitally excluded people and those with SEN; 

 Help create discussions between local authorities and employers regarding 
routes from the Kickstart programme into apprenticeships; and  

 Promote earlier engagement between local employers such as Unilever and 
Santander and school-aged children, in order to inspire young people and ensure 
that girls are able to develop stem career aspirations. 

 
 
Data and Monitoring 
 

 The need for monitoring and evaluation of events and activities to ensure that 
they were directly contributing to the employment of apprentices; 

 The incentivising of apprenticeships completions in addition to the 
encouragement of new starts, and increased monitoring and evaluation of data 
relating to starts and completions; 

Page 61



 
 

 The requirement of a mechanism to provide disclosure of a care leavers status to 
employers to ensure that specific needs were met, and to bring agencies together 
to provide support to both the apprentice and the employer; and 

 Monitoring and improving gender equality within the digital sector.  
 
Before I finish, I would like to thank: 
 

 Members of the Task and Finish Group for their active contributions to the 
Review.  
 

 The various witnesses who attended our evidence gathering sessions and 
gave up their time to share their experience and insight. From the information 
they shared we have been able to develop recommendations which are 
evidence based. 
 

 The LCR Combined Authority officers, who have directly supported the 
review, organised our activity, responded to our requests for information and 
provided the evidence upon which we have based our recommendations. 

 
Membership of the Task and Finish Review  

 

Councillor Tom Crone  
(Chair) 

Councillor Edna Finneran 

Councillor Christine Howard Councillor John Morgan 

Councillor Michelle Sweeney Councillor Carran Waterfield 

Councillor Louise Whitley  Councillor Bill Woolfall 

 Councillor Trish O’Brien   

 
 

2. Background to the Review  
 
The economic impacts of the pandemic were of great concern to the Committee and 
at their first meeting on 9 September 2020, agreed to the establishment of a task and 
finish group to consider the impact Covid-19 has had on apprenticeships in the City 
Region.   
 
However, as a consequence of the covid-19 pandemic the Committee had a slightly 
later start in the municipal year, which resulted in this being the only review 
conducted during the 2020-21 municipal year 
 
In identifying this review, Members wanted to understand how the apprenticeship 
programme had been impacted by the pandemic and suggest measures which the 
LCR Combined Authority could implement to support the City Region’s economic 
recovery. Particularly as pre pandemic the City Region had a strong retail and 
hospitality sector and as young people were a large cohort employed in this sector 
they were being particularly affected by the economic crisis and were 2.5 times more 
likely to be unemployed as a consequence of working in the hospitality and leisure 
sector.     
 
 

Page 62



 
 

 3. Developing the scoping document  
 
At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 November 2020,  
Members considered a report which provided an overview of youth unemployment in 
the City Region together with examples of key initiatives being delivered and 
managed locally to support young people to be successful in the labour market. As 
part of the consideration of this item, the Committee reviewed the initial scoping 
document for the Task and Finish Review. 
 
Members agreed that the Task and Finish Groups evidence sessions would focus on 
the following themes: 
 

 focus on the experience of apprentices who had been made redundant, what 
support they had received and any additional support which they would have 
found helpful.  

 To understand the benefits and barriers employers had experienced with 
recruiting apprenticeships, in particular to understand whether employers 
found the process too complicated or had concerns regarding cost.  

 
It was agreed that the aim of the review would be as follows: 

 
The aim of the review is to examine the impact COVID-19 has had on the 
apprenticeship programme across the City Region and identify what future actions 
are required.  
 
 
4. Who did we speak to? 
  
As set out in the scoping document, the review involved three evidence sessions. 
 
Evidence Session One  
 
The aim of this session was to understand the experiences of apprentices who had 
been made redundant during the pandemic. This considered how they had been 
supported by training providers and what other support had been available to them.  
 
The Group heard evidence from: 
 

 Brian Quinn, Director, Training Plus Merseyside 

 Melissa Gresswell, Team Leader, Skills and Apprenticeship Hub, LCRCA 

 Rob Tabb, Policy Lead Officer,  
 

Evidence Session Two  
 
This session sought to understand what factors influenced a business to create 
apprenticeships and what more could be done to encourage those businesses who 
did not.  
 
 
 

Page 63



 
 

The Group heard evidence from: 
 

 Helen Ward, Group Organisation Development Director, Torus 

 Christine Vaudrey, Torus 

 Gill Mason, Head of Training and Development, Kids Planet Training 
Academy 

 Craig Shaw, Operations Director, Shaw Solutions  

 Joe Keegan, Skills Brokerage Team Leader, Growth Platform 

 Jacqueline Burns, Planning Manager, Post-16 Planning for Adulthood, St 
Helens Council  

 
Evidence Session Three 
 
The final evidence session sought to identify what activities were being undertaken 
to ensure future apprenticeships could adapt and be responsive to future skills and 
employment opportunities in the City Region.  
 
The Group heard evidence from: 
 

 Chris Eriksen and Samantha Metcalfe, LCR Apprenticeship Support Team 
 

What did we hear and from whom? 
 
Evidence Session One  
 
In advance of the evidence session, Members received a briefing note which 
provided an overview of apprenticeship performance for the 2019/20 academic year. 
The briefing note explained that young people were particularly vulnerable to 
suffering disproportionately negative effects of Covid-19 due to their greater 
likelihood of being on skills programmes, including Apprenticeship programmes.  
 
In the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Liverpool City Region had 10,040 starts 
in 2019/20, compared to 12,190 in 2019/19 which represented an 18% drop in 
apprenticeship start numbers, This was in comparison of 67,130 fewer starts 
nationally (17% drop) and the North West region having 11,220 fewer apprenticeship 
starts (19% drop).   
  
Brian Quinn, Director, Training Plus Merseyside provided Members with a summary 
of the impacts the pandemic had had on the current cohort of apprentices within his 
organisation.  
 
He reported that since March 2020 to March 2021, TPM had dealt with 7 
redundancies, which was as a consequence of their employer either closing or 
uncertainty about the Furlough Scheme. 6 had been supported, coached and 
prepared for interviews and had found employment withing 3 months.  
 
Lockdown and the ongoing pandemic had required training to be delivered online 
and several factors had affected this method of training. Firstly, digital poverty and 
the other being the practical nature of having somewhere to study. TPM had loaned 
all of its laptops to its city-based trainees, to counteract the effects of digital poverty.  

Page 64



 
 

 
Brian also explained that from his experience care leavers had little support when 
they left care and as a consequence were often overrepresented in unemployment 
and homelessness. 
 
From the evidence provided, Members were concerned that there appeared to be no 
mechanisms to identify care leavers and ensure that they received the same 
opportunities and support. As such, they requested to speak with a Local Authority 
Leaving Care Team to understand the current provision.  
 
Members discussed the issues of how to engage young people in an Apprenticeship, 
particularly ensuring the inclusion of care leavers. Members recognised that the 
provision for older apprentices needed to be part of a broader communication 
strategy, as this demographic maybe unaware that they could access relevant 
qualifications. It was suggested that case studies could be provided to prospective 
leaners which gave examples of apprenticeships for 21-23year olds, and case 
studies could also be promoted through social media and the ‘Be More’ website.  
 
Melissa Gresswell, Team Leader, Skills and Apprenticeship Hub explained the 
actions the hub had undertaken during lockdown. It was reported that a total of 9 
service users had registered with the ‘Be More’ website and of these six had been 
made redundant from engineering and hair and beauty apprenticeships. Two of the 
service users had been successfully supported either into a new apprenticeship or 
secured a place at college, the others had not responded to support offered by the 
Hub.  
 
During the pandemic, the Hub had acted as a conduit between the apprentice and 
the provider and as such was acting as a safety net for apprentices. The small 
uptake in those seeking support from the hub indicated that most apprentices were 
receiving support from their training providers.  
 
In considering the evidence presented to them, Members recognised the Hub 
provided a responsive resource to people who were seeking support, however, they 
suggested that the Hub should also undertake a proactive approach to those who 
were at risk of redundancy. This could be through a strengthened promotion and 
engagement campaign, coinciding with the end of the furlough scheme. The strategy 
could also be directed at employers through the Growth Hub.  
 
Members identified that training providers required the correct and contemporary 
equipment to ensure apprentices would be able to enter a modern workplace. 
Members welcomed the evidence from Rob Tabb who advised that the Combined 
Authority had received £50m of skills capital funding and a significant proportion had 
been invested into premises and infrastructure improvements and equipment. Noting 
that this funding was accessible to colleges but not independent providers  
 
Evidence Session Two  
 
During this evidence session, Members heard from Helen Ward, Gill Mason and 
Craig Shaw about their experience of operating an apprenticeship programme and 
how this had been impacted during the pandemic.  

Page 65



 
 

 
Helen Ward, Torus, explained that their apprentices were predominately within the 
construction sector but there was an intention to expand this further. The apprentices 
tended to be aged between 16-21 years old. She provided a helpful insight too 
Members regarding the potential barrier’s businesses may face in creating 
apprenticeships. Helen explained that it was important to consider what would make 
an apprenticeship attractive to applicants and businesses may not be aware of how 
to creatively use apprentices, such as graduate apprenticeships or for senior officers 
using the apprenticeship levy. Furthermore, in a saturated market there was a need 
to ensure flexibility in what was provided and to tailor this provision. There was also 
a need to develop specific qualification standards in specialist areas such as the 
environment and renewable energies.  
 
Helen also suggested that some businesses may lack an understanding of what was 
involved in offering an apprenticeship, such as relationship building, transparency 
with providers and the size of the commitment. It was suggested that the language 
and semantics surrounding apprenticeships could be improved and made more 
accessible.  
 
Members heard evidence from Craig Shaw, Operations Director at Shaw Solutions. 
Craig explained that Shaw Solutions employed 32 staff members and of those 85% 
had started their careers as apprentices, including himself. He advised Members that 
the Company’s ethos was to grow from within and when advertising vacancies to 
consider whether they could be as an apprenticeship in the first instance. It was the 
Company’s ambition to create more business administrative apprenticeships, 
including procurement and they were in the process of creating three five-year 
apprenticeships to include two at Level 3 and one at Level 4.  
 
Craig suggested that shorter courses should be offered, and the End Point 
Assessment should also be incentivised to ensure that equal emphasis was placed 
on maintaining a high standard of continued learning and successful pass rates. 
Craig also reflected on those businesses who may have not had a positive 
experience with the apprenticeship programme and were now reluctant to    
 
Evidence Session Three 
 
The final evidence session saw input from Chris Eriksen and Sam Metcalfe from the 
LCR Apprenticeship Support Team.  Members heard that the team had continued to 
engage with school and jobcentres during the various lockdowns and restrictions, 
moving to virtual events and recorded presentations.  The theatre productions had to 
adapt to live presentations rather than physical engagement and activities.  Support 
had been provided to all jobcentre plus offices in the City Region, with 642 residents 
engaged through 61 sessions. 
 
Apprenticeship vacancies were advertised on the Be More website, with over 7,000 
advertised to date.  The team also organised the Apprentice Graduations, with 
another event planned for November 2021 at Grand Central Hall, Liverpool.  These 
were seen as important in promoting apprenticeships as an equal option to academic 
study. 
 

Page 66



 
 

Members were keen to understand which events and activities were the most 
effective in converting contacting to apprenticeship applications.  Chris and Sam 
replied that the team did not record this information in detail, noting that it can take 
many years between young people hearing about apprenticeships and them 
applying for one.  There are opportunities to use apprenticeships to address some of 
the historic imbalances in skills and engagement in the City Region (e.g. in digital 
where a minority of roles are occupied by women) and in creating new jobs and skills 
(e.g. renewable energy, construction and retrofit).   
 
In responding to questions about support for SEND pupils, Sam and Chris reported 
that engagement took place with SEN settings and Referral Units, informed by an 
expert steering group.  Additional support could be provided to young people after 
they had made decisions to reinforce their decision or provide additional information 
in case they thought they had made the wrong decision. 
 
 
5. What conclusions did we reach? 
 

 The provision of advice, guidance and support on apprenticeships must be 
available for all young people, with specific targeted activity for those who are at 
risk of exclusion, care leavers or in non mainstream settings; 

 The equipment and facilities used to train apprenticeships needs to be of the 
highest quality, and colleges and training providers need to be able to access 
funding to support them with this; 

 Despite the best efforts of many people over many years, there were still a 
section of employers and residents who were not aware of the scope and 
benefits of apprenticeships; 

 The metrics used to measure the effectiveness of apprenticeship outreach and 
engagement needs are not clear and focus on activities rather than outcomes; 
and 

 There were further opportunities for Local Authorities to promote and use 
apprenticeships as part of their own management and demonstration of social 
value. 

 
 
6. What recommendations are we making? 
 
Communication 
 

 Ensure a streamlined approach to communications from the Combined Authority 
across all constituent authorities and ensure that residents are reached across 
different communications streams;  

 Develop a bespoke and targeted campaign regarding apprenticeships for older 
groups including those who had experienced redundancy or were seeking a 
career change; 

 Produce differentiated communications approaches to apprentices and 
employers. 

 Create defined routes to communicate to those who are harder to reach such as 
school refusers, digitally excluded people and those with SEN; 

Page 67



 
 

 Support colleges and training providers to be able to access funding to enable 
them to have up to date equipment and facilities where apprentice can learn; 

 Help create discussions between local authorities and employers regarding 
routes from the Kickstart programme into apprenticeships; and  

 Promote earlier engagement between local employers such as Unilever and 
Santander and school-aged children, in order to inspire young people and ensure 
that girls are able to develop stem career aspirations. 

 
Data and Monitoring 
 

 The need for monitoring and evaluation of events and activities to ensure that 
they were directly contributing to the employment of apprentices; 

 The incentivising of apprenticeships completions in addition to the 
encouragement of new starts, and increased monitoring and evaluation of data 
relating to starts and completions; 

 The requirement of a mechanism to provide disclosure of a care leavers status to 
employers to ensure that specific needs were met, and to bring agencies together 
to provide support to both the apprentice and the employer; and 

 Monitoring and improving gender equality within the digital sector.  
 

 

Page 68



 
Report Title 

 
Corporate Plan 2021-24: Biannual Q4 
Performance Report 2021-22 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram - Policy, Reform 
and Resources 

Summary of decision being sought  To present an overview of performance of 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Corporate Plan 2021-24 for Quarter 4 (January 
to March) 2022 and provide an indicator to any 
key risks to future performance during the year. 
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

No   
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 
 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 
 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.1 

Delegation(s) sought  
 

No 
 

Supporting the Corporate Plan A Fairer City Region  √ 

A Stronger City Region  √ 

A Cleaner City Region  √ 

A Connected City Region  √ 

A Vibrant City Region √ 

Climate Change Implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.3 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.4 

Social Value implications  
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.5 
 

Human Resources implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.6 

Physical Assets implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.7  

Information Technology implications Yes, see paragraph 5.8 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.9  

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 5.10 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



Privacy implications 
 

No  

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 5.11  

Contact Officer(s) Dan McCafferty, Head of Programme 
Management and Corporate Performance, 
dan.mccafferty@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Stephen Littler, Corporate Performance 
Manager, 
Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Yes – Appendix One: LCRCA Plan 2021-24: 
Quarter 4 2021-22: CA Plan Performance 
 

Background Documents No   
 

 
  

Page 70

mailto:dan.mccafferty@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.littler@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

13 July 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Corporate Services and the Portfolio Holder - 
Policy, Reform and Resources 

 
CORPORATE PLAN 2021-24: BIANNUAL/Q4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present an overview of performance of Liverpool 

City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 for Quarter 4 (January to 
March) 2022 and provide an indicator to any key risks to future performance during 
the year. 
 

1.2 The Quarterly Performance Monitoring Report includes the following elements: 
 
a) performance against the 5 Corporate Plan Priorities and Developing our 

Organisation for Quarter 4 2021/22; and 
b) report performance against the Corporate Performance Measures for Quarter 

4 2021/22. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

a) note the contents of this report and 
 
b) request further information as appropriate. 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1 As members will recall, a new Combined Authority Corporate Plan was developed 

and agreed in July 2021. This document sets out the strategic ambitions of the 
Combined Authority during 2021-24. 

 
3.2 Following its publication, the Corporate Performance and PMO Team developed 

and facilitated a process of engagement, identifying and agreeing specific actions 
and commitments that each department in the LCRCA was to deliver in support of 
this overarching set of priorities at an individual Director-level.  

  

Page 71



3.3 The overall LCRCA Performance Management Framework, which is illustrated at 
Figure 1.  

 
Figure 1: The Performance Management Framework 2020/21 

 

 
 
3.4 To develop this performance report, updates are sought from Lead Officers against each 

of the 415 Milestones relating to the Corporate Plan Priorities, Actions and Activities and 
each one given an individual RAG. These Milestones are tracked. Using this information 
and following further engagement with relevant teams, lead officers and Directors to 
assure the information provided is appropriate, the Corporate Performance and PMO 
Team develops an ‘overall RAG’ for each Priority as a whole using the following key: 

 

RAG 
Rating 

Description 

Red Highly Problematic – Delivery at significant risk 

Amber Problematic – Delivery at risk but not significant 

Green 
Well Managed – No risk to delivery OR nearing 
completion/ delivery 

Blue Delivered/Completed  

Purple Abandoned or not being progressed 

 
 
Assessment for CA Plan Output measures RAG:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
                                     
                                           

                                          

Page 72



3.5 An overview of the performance in the delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities is set out 
in the table overleaf. Further detail on the measures and performance against the 
corporate priorities is attached as an Appendix to this report. Where there is more than 1 
measure and activity, the average RAG rating (either over 50% or the midpoint between 
the extremes) has been applied. 

 
 
4. PERFORMANCE AGAINST 2021/22 PRIORITY ACTIVITY AND MEASURES  

 
4.1 Full details of the data and information that contributes to the overall progress ratings of 

the Priorities can be found in the Appendix attached to this report. 
 
 

P           
C  Pl   P     m     Up    s 

Ov   ll 
Q4     

Priority 1 
F      

• 13 activities RAG summary – 6 Green / 5 Amber / 1 
Purple / 1 Blue; Output Measures summary – 11 
Green / 2 Amber 

  ↑ 

Priority 2 
S        

• 11 activities RAG Summary – 8 Green / 3 Amber; 
Output Measures summary – 7 Green / 3 Amber / 1 
No Data 

  ↔ 

Priority 3 
Cl      

• 13 activities RAG Summary - 3 Green / 9 Amber / 1 
Purple; Output Measures summary – 1 Green / 6 
Amber 

  ↔ 

Priority 4 
C         

• 13 activities RAG Summary – 4 Green / 8 Amber / 1 
Red; Output Measures summary – 5 Green / 1 
Amber 

  ↔ 

Priority 5 
V b     

• 9 activities RAG Summary – 5 Green / 3 Amber / 1 
Blue; Output Measures summary – 2 Green / 3 
Amber 

  ↑ 

  v l p    
 u  

O     s      

• 8 activities RAG Summary – 7 Green / 1 Amber 
• 37 actions RAG Summary – 33 Green / 2 Amber / 2 

Red 
  ↔ 

 
4.2 Summary progress against each Priority is presented below with further specific 

detail on Activities contributing to their delivery available in Appendix 1. As progress 
is made through the reporting process over the three years of the current CA Plan, 
a trajectory and direction of travel will begin to be established and used to observe 
and demonstrate performance progress. 

 

Page 73



F I    Summ    P     ss Up     GREEN 

 

LCRJobs.co.uk launched in September 2021. Successful 
tender award for £1.2m for additional funding to support 
advanced digital skills training. 93% of the target achieved 
to date. 5535 learners engaged. 10579 apprenticeship 
vacancies posted on Be More to date. Level 3 delivery 
continues to grow in the current academic year. 997 
residents registered with Households into Work (20% are 
unemployed, 42% long term unemployed and 38% are 
inactive). Over 90% of the people registered with 
Households into Work live in areas of Multiple 
Deprivation. 138 Households into Work clients have found 
employment. Review of LA Homeless Strategies and data 
mapping completed. Submission completed for Rough 
Sleeping Initiative co-produced with DLUHC and LAs. 
Government have confirmed funding of Housing First up 
to March 2025. 220 individuals supported at peak and we 
will now be able to onboard new service users eligible for 
the programme. 164 service users have been housed over 
the lifetime of the programme. 
Ov   ll            

 
 

STRONGER Summ    P     ss Up    s GREEN 

 

Projects significantly in excess of £75m have passed 
external panel either as part of full application or for pre-
development funding. £75m in projects currently 
committed.   Current forecast for disbursement in excess of 
£150m. Plan for Prosperity approved by CA in January 22. 
Social Value Framework finalised and was approved at the 
March 22 CA meeting. A series of Good Business Festival 
borough events took place from Dec 21 to March 22 
covering a range of topics, including talent attraction and 
retention, going zero carbon and innovation in business. 
Draft OBC for LCR Freeport submitted in line with 
Government deadline. Revised OBC re-submitted in 
November 21. FBC was submitted to Government on 19th 
April and subsequently approved by the CA. Awaiting 
feedback and areas for clarification, which will inform 
future activities and resourcing. 
Ov   ll            

 
 
  

Page 74



CLEANER Summ    P     ss Up    s AMBER 

 

The Net Zero Pathways document was approved at the 
January CA Meeting. All homes in Retrofit programme 
surveyed by end March 22 with 424 homes completed for 
retrofit. Additional funding of £3.4m gained. New target of 
1,342 homes.  Successful bid for LAD3 and HUG1 of 
£28.5m for 2,355 homes across 6 boroughs. First Hydrogen 
buses will be manufactured in 2022.  Prototype due to be 
available for testing in Q2 2022/23. CA paper submitted to 
4 Mar Meeting to extend Phase 3 of Tidal Project 
development.  Data gathering with SP Energy Networks 
completed in December 202 for electric vehicle charging 
points. A new EV deployment modelling tool was 
introduced. LCR Zero Emission Transport summit 
scheduled for mid-June 2022. LCR EV Strategy in 
development to reflect latest national position. 
Ov   ll            

 
 

CONNECTED Summ    P     ss Up    s AMBER 

 

High level design for full fibre network completed in August 
and build phase is underway. While the LCR network will 
begin to go live with customers in April 22 and several 
sections will go live across the summer the first true 
“resilient ring” connecting a full loop of fibre will not be 
completed until the autumn 22. Draft OBC for Bus Reform 
submitted within agreed timescale. All funding grants have 
been received and acted upon. Bus Service Improvement 
Plan and Bus Reform preferred option approved by 
LCRCA. Evidence base developed and utilised in 
development of draft Vision and Goals document for new 
Local Transport Plan which was presented to Transport 
Committee in November 21. Testing and commissioning of 
new Rolling Stock Practically Complete and trains are 
running in traffic. 14 units (@June) provisionally accepted. 
Arrangements in place for storage of trains at Crewe until 
commencement of the introduction into service. Levelling 
Up Fund bid submitted in June 21.  
Ov   ll            

 
 
  

Page 75



VIBRANT Summ    P     ss Up    s GREEN 

 

All Brownfield Land Funding allocated by March 22, 
including £14.8m top-up fund announced in February. Two 
funds in process of working towards bidding likely to be in 
summer 2022 - Hind Street phase 1 and Liverpool Waters 
Central Docks. Towns Fund awards for St Helens, Runcorn 
and Birkenhead. Business plans on track for submission by 
June 22 (Southport) and August (remaining 3 towns). 
Action plan against 23 IPPR Town Centre Commission 
Report recommendations completed. Targets in place for 
both attractions (Beatles Story and Mersey Ferries) and 
agreed as part of budget setting process. On track to meet 
Spatial Development Strategy deadline for engagement of 
LCR Listens: Our Places 3. Land Commission as part of the 
Housing and Spatial Planning Portfolio has been 
established. Options have been explored and it is proposed 
that two trial sites be identified from the CA Asset Register 
and there will be a Land Commission influenced 
engagement on the potential of the sites. 
Ov   ll            

 
 

Developing our 
Organisation 

Summ    P     ss Up    s GREEN 

 

Initial scoping activity being explored with local authorities 
on workforce development and planning to identify 
opportunities for collaboration. Portfolio briefings, LA 
newsletters, Portfolio Boards are now in place. Delivery of 
People Strategy underway with regular progress meetings 
being held monthly. JE scheme continues to evaluate all 
new posts. Hybrid Leadership workshops were run in 
September and October 2021. Leadership Development 
Programme will be completed in May 2022 with a 
Springboard Conference planned for June. Delivery Boards 
now established and operational.  
Ov   ll            

 
 
  

G
re

e
n

7 A
m

b
e
r

1

R
e
d

0

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0 G
re

e
n

33 A
m

b
e
r

2

R
e
d

2

B
lu

e

0 P
u
rp

le

0

N
u
ll 

0

Activities Actions / Milestones

8

Total

37

Total

89.2%

5.4%
5.4%

87.5%

12.5%

Page 76



5. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1. Financial 

 
Whilst there may be Financial issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Financial implications as a consequence 
of the delivery of this performance report. 

 
5.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

The report demonstrates performance of and progress against all Priorities 
contained within the Corporate Plan – 
A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 
 

5.3 Climate Change  
 

Whilst there may be Climate Change issues as a result of the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Climate Change implications as 
a consequence of the delivery of this performance report. 
 

5.4 Equality and Diversity  
 

There are no adverse implications arising directly from this report.  Any decisions 
and policies adopted or changed in the discharge of these priorities or activities will 
each be subject to an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA). 
 

5.5 Social Value 
 

Whilst there may be Social Value issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Social Value implications as a 
consequence of the delivery of this performance report. 
 

5.6 Human Resources  
 
  Whilst there may be HR issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 

its Priorities, there are no direct HR implications as a consequence of the delivery of 
this performance report. However, depending on the feedback received, there may 
be HR issues that may need to be resolved to improve performance. 

 
5.7 Physical Assets 

 
 Whilst there may be Physical Asset issues as a result of the delivery of the 

Corporate Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Physical Asset implications as 
a consequence of the delivery of this performance report. 

  

Page 77



 
5.8 Information Technology 
 

Whilst there may be IT issues as a result of the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 
its Priorities, there are no direct IT implications as a consequence of the delivery of 
this performance report. A new IT system being investigated to assist in the 
data/information collection and reporting but this will not be introduced for a number 
of quarters as the investigation process has only recently begun. 
 

5.9 Legal  
 

Whilst there may be Legal implications as a result of the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan and its Priorities, there are no direct Legal implications as a consequence of 
the delivery of this performance report. 

 
5.10 Risks and Mitigation  
 

While the report identifies a number of emerging risks to individual service 
performance, these are being managed within the 2021/22 current budget, service 
planning process and risk management process. 

 
There were no identified emerging risks that would require changes to overall 
budgets for 2021/22 or needed further consideration. Any risk related issues would 
be taken through the correct reporting and monitoring processes. 
 

5.11 Communication and Consultation  
 

Communications and Stakeholder issues will be considered as part of the delivery 
of each of the Corporate Priorities. 

 
 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 This report summarises performance in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 against the Corporate 

Plan Priorities and Output Measure supporting the application of effective evidence-
based management of resources and increased focus on the delivery of corporate 
priorities. 

  

Page 78



 
6.2 Overall, progress is well on track or has already been completed during the year 

and where there have been areas of underperformance against key strategic 
activities, actions have been put in place to address this and are summarised in the 
appendix. 

 
 
 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director for Corporate Services 

METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM 
Policy, Reform and Resources 

 
 
 

Appendices: 
 
1 Appendix One – LCRCA Plan 2021-24: Quarter 4 2021-22: CA Plan Performance 
 
Background Documents:  
 
1 LCR Combined Authority Meeting – 23 July 2021 - Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority Corporate Plan 2021-2024 
 

Agenda for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority on Friday, 23rd July, 2021, 
1.00 pm 
| Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (merseytravel.gov.uk) 

 
2 LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee -  20th January, 2022 LCR Combined 

Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 - Biannual/Q2 Performance Report 2021/22 
 

http://modgov-cmb-01/documents/s59680/CA%20Plan%202021-24%20-
%20Biannual%202021-22%20Performance%20Summary.pdf 

Page 79

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=7013
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=7013
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=364&MId=7013
http://modgov-cmb-01/documents/s59680/CA%20Plan%202021-24%20-%20Biannual%202021-22%20Performance%20Summary.pdf
http://modgov-cmb-01/documents/s59680/CA%20Plan%202021-24%20-%20Biannual%202021-22%20Performance%20Summary.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



LCRCA Plan 2021-24

Quarter 4 2021-22
Performance Report

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
July 2022

P
age 81



Liverpool City 
Region 
Combined 
Authority
Corporate Plan 
2021-2024

Developing our Organisation - also known as 'DoO’ - is an ambitious programme to transform Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority. The aim is to create a modern and agile workplace which is not only a 
great place to work but makes sure we are set up to deliver on our vision and Corporate Plan 
priorities.  

We're working on projects which will develop our people, improve our processes and policies, and of 
course, engage and involve our staff.

P
age 82



CA Plan Priorities Summary - Quarter 4 2021-22
Priority in 
CA Plan Performance Updates Overall 

Q4 RAG

Priority 1
Fairer

• 13 activities RAG summary – 6 Green / 5 Amber / 1 Purple 
/ 1 Blue; Output Measures summary – 11 Green / 2 Amber G ↑

Priority 2
Stronger

• 11 activities RAG Summary – 8 Green / 3 Amber; Output 
Measures summary – 7 Green / 3 Amber / 1 No Data G ↔

Priority 3
Cleaner

• 13 activities RAG Summary - 3 Green / 9 Amber / 1 Purple; 
Output Measures summary – 1 Green / 6 Amber A ↔

Priority 4
Connected

• 13 activities RAG Summary – 4 Green / 8 Amber / 1 Red; 
Output Measures summary – 5 Green / 1 Amber A ↔

Priority 5
Vibrant

• 9 activities RAG Summary – 5 Green / 3 Amber / 1 Blue; 
Output Measures summary – 2 Green / 3 Amber G ↑

Developing 
our 

Organisation

• 8 activities RAG Summary – 7 Green / 1 Amber
• 37 actions RAG Summary – 33 Green / 2 Amber / 2 Red G ↔

RAG
Rating  Description

RED Highly Problematic – Delivery of activity / Priority at significant risk

AMBER Problematic – Delivery of activity / Priority at risk but not significant

GREEN Well Managed – No risk to the delivery of the activity / Priority, OR, nearing 
completion / delivery

BLUE Activity / Priority delivered / completed


PURPLE Abandoned or Not Being Progressed – Project / activity / Priority no longer 
part of workplans

Assessment for Non-project workstreams RAG 

Assessment for Corporate data measures RAG 

P
age 83



Corporate Risks 

P
age 84



Corporate Risks: Q4 2021-22

Risk 1: There is a risk that 
the Liverpool City Region 
does not meet the 
specific requirements 
and expectations set out 
in its Devolution Deal.

Residual Score: Red (16)

Risk 2:There is a risk that 
the organisation’s 
ability operate in the event 
of a major incident may not 
be adequate and may 
disproportionately impact 
the organisation’s 
performance and that of 
the City Region’s economy

Residual Score: Red (20)

Risk 3: There is a risk 
that the LCRCA does not 
use its position and 
powers effectively to 
meet the target for the 
City Region of being net 
zero carbon by 2040

Residual Score: Red 
(20)

Risk 4: There is a risk that 
the role of transport in 
supporting the social, 
economic and 
environmental objectives 
of the City Region is 
inhibited by governance 
and funding models that 
do not support future 
public transport recovery 
and improvement

Residual Score: Red (20)

Risk 5: There is a risk that 
the LCRCA does not use 
its position and powers 
effectively to drive 
economic recovery and 
prosperity in the City 
Region

Residual Score: Red (20)

P
age 85



Priority 1: A Fairer City Region 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 
Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 13 Activities and 13 
Outputs that will be reported on 

bi-annuallyP
age 86



Priority 1 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

A Young Person’s Guarantee A ↔ LCRJobs.co.uk launched in September 2021. Graduation Ceremony took place on 28 November 2021. Work is under way with 
Councils regarding Ways to Work provision and awaiting for UK Shared Prosperity Fund announcement.

Skills and apprenticeship hub G ↔
Successful tender award for £1.2m for additional funding to support advanced digital skills training. 13 Lots of the training 
fund have been launched in March 2022. 93% of the target achieved to date. 5535 learners engaged. 10579 apprenticeship 
vacancies posted on Be More to date.

Adult Education Budget A ↓

CA approved recommendations in relation to AEB contract for service providers (following a procurement process) and grant 
funded providers in March 2022.  The contracting and due diligence process for contract for service providers will continue. 
Contracts drafted and will be issued in time for August 22 deadline and start of the academic year. Level 3 delivery continues 
to grow in the current academic year.

Households into work G ↑

997 residents registered with Households into Work (20% are unemployed, 42% long term unemployed and 38% are inactive). 
Over 90% of the people registered with Households into Work live in areas of Multiple Deprivation. 138 Households into Work 
clients have found employment. 53 clients have undertaken at least one work related activity. 619 clients have achieved at 
least one progress measure whilst on the programme. 286 clients have achieved at least two progress measures whilst on the 
programme.

Employment and skills projects 
pipeline A ↔

Draft priorities have been approved by the delivery board and objective setting in progress. Pipeline process embedding into 
delivery board thinking. Work strands to implement process in investment and PMO underway. Engagement work to start over 
the coming months on LA evidence base and LA project action plan.

Homelessness framework G ↔ Review of LA Homeless Strategies and data mapping completed. Submission completed for Rough Sleeping Initiative co-
produced with DLUHC and LA's.

P
age 87



Priority 1 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

City region approach to 
mental health G ↔

£480k has been secured to support the voluntary and community sector to build capacity and respond to key priorities 
including mental health and wellbeing. GFAs have now been drafted and agreed. Applications are open with delivery 
scheduled for Summer. 36 organisations are being supported through the FEC process, with the importance of mental health 
and wellbeing in the workplace central to the approach.

A food poverty reduction 
strategy P ↓

VS6 have been commissioned to undertake the foundational actions for the development of a strategy. This is due to be 
completed in September 2022.

Housing First A ↓

Government have confirmed funding of Housing First up to March 2025. 220 individuals supported at peak and we will now be 
able to onboard new service users eligible for the programme who have been on a waiting list  given Government has 
confirmed their funding decision. 164 service users have been housed over the lifetime of the programme. We are also 
working with Resonance (social investment company) on the identification of the 60 homes we will purchase as part of our 
partnership, 30 od which will be used to house Housing First service users and the other for wider homelessness services.

Funding opportunities for 
VCFSEs G ↑

Delivery Plan agreed and funding agreement being finalised. Delivery under way and first grants panel meeting held in April 
2022.

Digital inclusion A ↔
LCRCA has agreed to make £480k of funding available to support community and voluntary sector organisations. The 
Community Foundation for Merseyside (who administer LCR Cares) are responsible for managing and distributing this funding 
on behalf of the VS6 Partnership. Programmes are expected to be in place from May onwards.

A Race Equality programme G ↑
CA approved phase 1 funding in July 2021. All projects initiated at September 2021 Race Equality Programme Board. All 
projects are progressing. In partnership with local authorities, the procurement of the training development contract is 
underway and expecting to award the contract in May 22.

A new Equality Scheme B ↑
Final strategy approved by CA on 4 March 2022, objectives having been approved at the January CA. Delivery of the Equality 
Strategy objectives are in progress.

P
age 88



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outputs Summary – Priority 1

Amber ↑ Green ↔ Green ↔ Amber ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔

164 Housed at 
the end of April 

22
91% £0.480m funding provided 

to CVS organisations

16
No outputs expected in 21/22 

as the Race Equality 
Programme is in its design 

phase.

111
No outputs expected in 

21/22 as the Race 
Equality Programme is in 

its design phase.

31
No outputs expected in 

21/22 as the Race Equality 
Programme is in its design 

phase.

Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔

443 577 138 1,001 Jan to Mar - 91 
Overall - 908

Jan to Mar - 807
Overall – 3,810

NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green ↔

All provider contracts issued in time for 
the beginning of the academic year 

2021/22 and values published on LCRCA 
website. Six underperforming providers 
had contract reductions of £427k whilst 
growth of £2.45m was awarded to 15 

providers, a mix of colleges, local 
authorities and independent training 
providers.  This leaves around £2m 

remaining from the Facilitation Fund to 
support growth at the next performance 

management point in April 2022.

P
age 89



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 1
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value

i. More young people accessing education or 
training

Proportion aged 16-17 NEET or not known: 5.9%
Unemployment rate (16-24): 13.2%
Employment rate (16-24): 52.3%

ii. More young people in employment

Number of rough sleepers (2020): 18
Number of rough sleepers (2019): 44
Number of households owed a statutory homelessness prevention or relief duty (over the quarter): 
1,388

iii. More people with access to housing who 
have experienced homelessness or rough 
sleeping

Gross disposable household income per head: £17,517

iv. Increased household incomes

Healthy life expectancy at birth (female): 60.9 years
Healthy life expectancy at birth (male): 60.2 years
Mean average personal wellbeing estimate score on happiness measure (out of 10):
Halton: 7.31
Knowsley: 7.20
Liverpool: 7.13
Sefton: 7.21
St. Helens: 7.05
Wirral: 6.96
LCR (average of 6 LAs): 7.14

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 90



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 1
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value

v. Improved levels of health and wellbeing

Employment rate (male): 76.2%
Employment rate (female): 71.0%
Employment rate (Equality act or work limiting disability): 51.6%
Employment rate (no disability): 82.1%
Employment rate (Ethnic minority): 71.0%
Employment rate (White): 73.7% (confidence intervals overlap here so no gap can be said to be present)
Median hourly gross wage full-time (male): £15.55
Median hourly gross wage full-time (female): £14.28

vi. Higher levels of employment and earnings 
for people with protected characteristics

Economic activity rate (16-64): 77.1%
Employment rate (16-64): 73.6%

vii. More people able to seek and sustain 
employment

Level 4 (16-64): 39.1%
No Qualifications (16-64): 7.7%

viii. More people with qualifications Apprenticeship starts by LCR residents: 9,450

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 91



Priority 2: A Stronger City Region 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this 
Priority is represented by 4 

Objectives, 11 Activities and 11 
Outputs that will be reported on bi-

annually

P
age 92



Priority 2 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

£150m COVID Recovery Fund G ↔ Projects significantly in excess of £75m have passed external panel either as part of full application or for pre-development 
funding. £75m in projects currently committed.   Current forecast for disbursement of in excess of £150m.

Community Wealth Building G ↔
Plan for Prosperity approved by CA in January 2022 which set out approach to CWB including key principles. CA officers have 
been involved in discussions with other local authorities about possible models for a North West Community bank. A report will 
be prepared for the portfolio board in due course.

Fair Employment Charter A ↔
Process to review applications for accreditation was agreed by the Combined Authority in March 2022 and 20 applications have 
been received to date and are being reviewed ahead of announcements in Spring 2022. Process expected to open in Summer 
2022.

Social Value Framework A ↓

Social Value Framework finalised and was approved at the March 2022 meeting of the CA. Methodology for review is in 
development. First annual assessment to be published in April 2023. Working to identify and install greater emphasis in all CA 
commissions. Case study project (GBR) being used to share best practice. Supplier Day held (March) to further engage with that 
market.

Good Business Festival G ↔
A series of borough events took place from Dec 21 through to March 022 covering a range of topics, including talent attraction 
and retention, going zero carbon and innovation in business. Knowsley have hosted an event in May aligned to the Shakespeare 
North and the Youth Summit is scheduled to take place in May as a final event. The final evaluation report is expected in May.

260k sqft of commercial 
space G ↔

On-going target.  Hemisphere (118,000 st ft) progressing to RIBA St.3.  Glass Futures (100,000 st ft) funding finalised, 
construction to commence Jan.   Sovereign Distillery in discussions with Chrysalis/UDF (440,000 sq ft). Funding agreements now 
finalised for Place Marketing, Glass Futures, Hemisphere.   Commercial discussions on-going in respect of Everton, Littlewoods 
and Halsnead.

P
age 93



Priority 2 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

New business ecosystem G ↔ Co-developed business ecosystem pipeline projects with key ecosystem stakeholders/ partners

Pipeline of innovation projects G ↔ The £3B pipeline is being reviewed as part of the SIA refresh. A Freeport Innovation Strategy has been developed and submitted 
as part of the FBC process.

Existing business support 
ecosystem A ↔

Strategic engagement is being sequenced as part of the wider stakeholder consultation and evidence work on the challenges 
and opportunities of the business support environment in the city region. SIF pipeline has been shared with various LA partners 
and European funding projects have been shared with Growth Directors.

LCR Freeport Business Case G ↔

Draft OBC signed off at September CA Meeting and submitted in line with Government deadline. Revised OBC re-submitted in 
November 21 and appraised in January 22. The OBC has now been recommended for approval by Government. The FBC was 
submitted to Government on 19th April and subsequently approved by the CA at their April meeting. Awaiting feedback and 
areas for clarification, which will inform future activities and resourcing.

Inward investment offer G ↔
The Mayoral delegation to Irish Consul General took place in March 2022. Proposal for a Strategic Partnership with Hamburg 
developed and agreed following liaison with the British German Association. Report on future breadth/scope of Inward 
Investment Facilitation Fund and prioritisation for strategically important projects was approved by CA Oct 2021.

P
age 94



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outputs Summary – Priority 2
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↑ Green ↔ Amber ↔ Amber ↑

673 business supported via 
Gather, BDO Resilience Funding, 
Future Innovation Fund, Flexible 
Growth Fund, Peepl Network, 
Kindred and ERDF Prog

418k
40k Duke and Parr – 118k 

Hemisphere -  260k Littlewoods

101k
Glass Futures project in 

construction. Ineos hydrogen 
research being considered.

460k
20k "Depot“

440k Sovereign Distillery

CA agreed process to accredit 
employers in March 2022. First 
successful employers will be 
confirmed in Q1 2022/23.

Discussions with other local 
authorities about possible models 
for a North West Community 
bank

Green ↔ No Data ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔ Amber ↑

First Tranche £300k revenue 
funding secured. Additional £90k 
revenue support brought forward to 
support operationalisation.                                       
Funding profile for years 1-4 
developed and submitted to HMG 
as part of the FBC

Measure to be reviewed 114 leads generated Number of Enquiries: 114
Number of applications: 5

Number approved: 5"

Inward Investment Facilitation Fund (covers 
FDI and UK Inward Investment). Expanded to 
include large companies with strategically 
important inward investment opportunities. 
Discussions on significant FDIs are on-going 
incl. Pharmaron (BioTech), PSIQuantum 
(Quantum Computing) and Pierian (BioTech). 
Freeports also part.

P
age 95



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 2
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value

i. A larger, more diverse business base Count of local business units: 53,810
Proportion of total local business units with fewer than 50 employees: 96%

ii. More new businesses being created Business start-up rate: 14.4%

iii. More businesses surviving Five-year survival rate of enterprises born in 2017: 36.2%
One-year survival rate of enterprises born 2019: 89.3%

iv. A greater proportion of high growth firms Proportion of active enterprises that are high growth businesses: 0.4%
Number of high growth businesses: 210

v. More good jobs created by our businesses
PAYE jobs (Jan 2021): 638,955
PAYE jobs (Dec 2021): 661,600
Median gross annual wage full-time: £30,000

vi. More jobs paying the Real Living Wage 
(Fairer?) Proportion of jobs earning below the real living wage, as defined by the Living Wage Foundation: 17%

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 96



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 2
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value
vii. A growing social economy To be developed as part of social value framework

viii. Anchor institutions spending more money 
locally To be developed as part of social value framework

ix. Public and Private sector organisations 
spending more money on research and 
development

For businesses, in LCR it was 1.3% of GVA.
For non-business (government and HE), it was 0.5% of GVA.

x. Projected itself on an international stage as 
the most values-led economy To be developed as part of social value framework

xi. Contribute to increasing the Liverpool City 
Region’s share of UK FDI projects from 1.5% to 
2%

Growth Platform provide data of the FDI projects that they handle in the City Region, but this is not the 
full number. For 2020, they handled 13 projects.
2021 data expected to be available soon.

xii. Increased the share of R&D investment 
towards the target of 5% of GVA by 2027 Gross expenditure on research and development as a proportion of Gross Value Added: 1.8%

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 97



Priority 3: A Cleaner City Region 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority 
is represented by 4 Objectives, 13 

Activities and 7 Outputs that will be 
reported on bi-annually

P
age 98



Priority 3 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Net-zero Carbon Plan (incl. 
Air Quality Plan) G ↔

The Net Zero Pathways document was approved at the January CA Meeting. CEXs, L&M, LA Policy Leads and Climate Officers 
have been briefed and provided advance of the January CA Meeting.

Housing retrofit programme G ↔
All homes in programme surveyed by end March 22 with 424 homes completed for retrofit. Additional funding of £3.4m gained. 
New target of 1,342 homes.  Successful bid for LAD3 and HUG1 of £28.5m for 2,355 homes across 6 boroughs. Implementation 
started. Successful bid for £11.1m for 9 Registered Providers. Successful bid £1.9m Public Building Decarbonisation fund for CA. 

Public Buildings 
Decarbonisation Pipeline A ↔

Pipeline of projects developing starting with CA. Designs and procurement process completed. Funding from government 
delayed. Latest update on funding is June 2022.

Heat networks A ↔ The LCR Heat Network strategic options review was commissioned from the North West Energy Hub in October 2021. A list of 
potential projects has been collated and working with applicants to identify appropriate funding streams, including SIF. 

Green Bus Routes A ↔ Change in Programme.  High level comms have been completed in Q4. New dates confirmed April 2022. Advanced discussions 
with LA’s progressing well to finalise route proposals.

Hydrogen Bus Project A ↔ ZEBRA bid unsuccessful for increase in bus order. First buses will be manufactured in 2022.  Prototype due to be available for 
testing in Q2 2022/23

P
age 99



Priority 3 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Mersey Tidal Project Business 
Case A ↔

CA paper submitted to 4 Mar Meeting  to extend Phase 3 development.  Procurement of FEED 1 Design package will not be 
achieved in Q1 2022 due to restraint on 2022 budget and decision to extend Phase 3 concept development and delay Phase 4 
Consent and FEED by 12 months minimum.

Municipal energy company P ↓ Given current energy market conditions and risks associated with energy supply this is not currently being progressed.

Green infrastructure projects A  ↔ Funding has been secured for a second tranche of CEF. Strategic priorities are being identified to inform the development and 
commissioning of the new procurement round. Number of stalled activities as portfolio priorities and objectives not established

Electric vehicle charging 
points A ↔

Data gathering with SP Energy Networks completed in December 202. A new EV deployment modelling tool was introduced to 
be tested in January. LCR Zero Emission Transport summit scheduled for mid June 2022. LCR EV Strategy in development to 
reflect latest national position. Bid submitted June 2022 to be pilot city region for government low emission vehicle 
infrastructure LEVI. Decision expected Autumn 2022.

Local vehicle scrappage 
scheme A ↔

Data gathering and modelling commenced in December 2021. A position paper containing potential options was submitted to 
ELT in February for consideration. HM Government announced a review of Clean Air Zone implementation in March including 
implications from scrappage schemes. A revised paper reflecting the latest national position and data is in development. 
Dialogue ongoing in relation to focus on modal shift.

Production/storage/ 
utilisation of hydrogen A ↔

External delivery partners include HyNet consortium members, the North West Hydrogen Alliance and Net Zero North West.  
Unilever Hydrogen Fuel Switching trial at Port Sunlight commenced. HyNet supply chain event delivered in March with 400 local 
businesses in attendance. 

Green jobs G ↑
Refreshed LCR Skills for Growth Action Plan commissioned. Initial draft received and under review. The data, analysis and 
recommendations are feeding into both the forthcoming Annual Skills Statement and the Freeport Skills/Employment pillar. 
Private sector support delivered to the LCR COP26 activity in Glasgow.

P
age 100



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outputs Summary – Priority 3

Green ↑ Amber ↑ Amber ↓ Amber ↑ Amber ↑ Amber ↑ Amber ↓

424

No data
There are plans in 

development to gather 
data and will be reported 

in the future

None operating  but 
procurement process 

completed.
Contract to build LCR's first 
20 hydrogen fuel cell buses 

awarded to ADL in June
 2021. Delivery commences 

Q4 2022/23

6 sites identified 8 studies 
commissioned

No data
There are plans in 

development to gather 
data and will be 

reported in the future

Promoted Future Homes 
Standard through private sector 
call for housing projects under 

Brownfield Land call in July 2021.

NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

P
age 101



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 3
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value

i. Increased the number of green jobs by 15%  N/A. Figures will become available as the Net Zero project progresses

ii. Attracted a further £500m investment in zero 
carbon infrastructure

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement awarded us £750 million already, as well as funds for 
housing through LAD.  Further data will become available as Net Zero delivery progresses

iii. Reduced Carbon emissions by 35% in line 
with the Net Zero 2040 Plan Local land based carbon emission estimate: 6,869 kt CO2

iv. Increased levels of regular cycling

Proportion of adults cycling at least once a week
Halton: 7.0%
Knowsley: 8.5%
Liverpool: 11.7%
Sefton: 12.4%
St. Helens: 9.5%
Wirral: 7.3 Merseyside (LCR excl. Halton): 10.2%

v. Increased levels of regular walking

Proportion of adults walking at least once a week
Halton: 65.4%
Knowsley: 62.6%
Liverpool: 66.4%
Sefton: 69.9%
St. Helens: 63.8%
Wirral: 72.1%  Merseyside (LCR excl. Halton): 67.6%

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 102



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 3
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value
vi. Increased the number of accessible cycling 
and walking routes  km of cycle routes in LCR – 342km

vii. Improved the efficiency of public buildings 
by 25% Public buildings in LCR with a rating of energy performance operational rating of C or above - 33%

viii. Improved air quality

Micrograms of fine particulate matter per meter cubed of air:
Halton: 6.4
Knowsley: 7.0
Liverpool: 7.3
Sefton: 6.1
St. Helens: 6.5
Wirral: 5.9

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 103



Priority 4: A Connected City Region 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 
represented by 3 Objectives, 13 Activities 
and 6 Outputs that will be reported on bi-

annuallyP
age 104



Priority 4 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

212km full-fibre network and 
City Region Digital Strategy A ↓

High level design completed in August and build phase is underway. Changes have been made  in the build plan due to many 
external factors. While the LCR network will begin to go live with customers in April 22 and several sections will go live across the 
summer the first true “resilient ring” connecting a full loop of fibre will not be completed until the autumn 22.

London Style Transport Plan A ↔ Expected to be post-local elections in May 2022.  Original publication date in 2021 was pushed back to take account of LCRCA's 
consideration of options on bus reform in March 2022.

Smart Ticketing System inc 
Digitalising concessionary 
travel

A ↔
Transferred Local Education Authority (LEA) tickets to smart platform by Sept 21 . Supplier problems regarding Portal have 
prevented progress. Testing continues with system but developments are not ready to go live with no date determined. The 
governance review of Smart Ticketing Programme is complete and approach set.

Bus Reform and Bus Service 
Improvement Plan A ↓

Draft OBC submitted within agreed timescale. All funding grants have been received and acted upon. All Govt funding surveys 
completed to time. Bus Service Improvement Plan approved by LCRCA. Bus Reform preferred option also approved by LCRCA. 
Bus Reform Political oversight panel scheduled to meet for first time summer 2022.

Merseyrail for All 
programme G ↔

Work expected to commence in 2022 on LCR Long Term Rail Strategy. This will be reviewed in light of COVID impact. Delay in 
getting Mott Macdonald into contract for Station Assessment tool. This issue resolved and work expected to be completed in Q1 
22/23.

Local Transport Plan A ↔
Evidence base developed and utilised in development of draft Vision and Goals document which was presented to Transport 
Committee in November 2021. Informal briefings took place with Leaders / Mayor / Metro Mayor in March 2022 on main 
messages set out in vision and goals.

P
age 105



Priority 4 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Devolution of transport 
Infrastructure A ↔

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for our relationship between LCRCA and DfT is agreed and ready to be signed by both 
parties. However, agreement yet to be signed by LCRCA until funding is in place to enable the progression. 

Rolling Stock programme A ↔

Testing and commissioning Practically Complete and trains are running in traffic to achieve mileage accumulation before 
Acceptance. 14 No units (@June) provisionally accepted. Arrangements in place for storage of trains at Crewe until 
commencement of the introduction into service. Dialogue with the RMT is on-going. Negotiations with ASLEF in advance of driver 
training is pending.

£172.5m Transforming Cities 
Fund A ↔

Seacombe infrastructure renewed and contract complete. Delivery to continue on Green Bus Routes but the majority spend will 
be in the CRSTS funding window. Detailed costs still awaited from Halton for LCR Cycle Network before the business case can be 
submitted to CA for full approval. Scheme implementation now forecast to take 15 months. Headbolt Lane project on site and 
being delivered. Substantial completion expected by March 23. New units being delivered in Q4 22/23. New service expected to 
commence at May 23 timetable change. Runcorn Station Quarter, Seacombe Link-span/Pontoon, Rolling Stock IPEMU and Smart 
Ticketing delivered or progressing.

£350m capital transport 
pipeline G ↔

Levelling Up Fund bid submitted in June 21. Prescot Bus Station and Highways Maintenance approved at CA in January and March 
respectively. KRN delayed slightly.

Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure R ↓

DfT have announced the successful allocation of £11.68m for the LCR. This work stream has not been progressed due to capacity 
issues in the team. 

Mersey Ferry Strategy G ↑ The capital works at Seacombe and at Eureka have been delivered  within the financial year. The procurement process for new 
Mersey Ferry Vessels continues with a programme determined to take through to a major decision stage int he near future.

Tunnels strategy G ↔

Video Tolling system went live in Nov 21 ahead of time and on budget. The scheme now accounts for approximately 15% of all 
vehicles using Mersey Tunnels. Improvement projects at Kingsway Tunnel developed and formed part of external funding bids 
that have been successful. The ANPR on the plaza has been deployed and a vehicle classification system is being trialled. 
Kingsway plaza new offices will be completed in Q1 of 22/23 which will enable the closure of the elevated control building.

P
age 106



2021-22 Quarter 2 Outputs Summary – Priority 4
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Green ↔ Amber ↔ Green ↑ Green ↔ Green ↔ Green ↔

38km of civils build completed.
73km of PIA (physical 
infrastructure access) 

completed

Provisionally Accepted 13 of 
17 units currently in the 

U.K. Further 4 units will be 
Provisionally Accepted in 

Q1 2022/23 and the entire 
fleet Provisionally Accepted 

by May 2023

Liverpool St James – GREEN
Headbolt Lane – GREEN

Complete. 7 projects 
approved: Prescot Bus 

Station (Green Bus Routes 
Phase 1), Highways 

Maintenance, Non Highways 
Maintenance, Levelling Up 

Fund (made up of 4 projects: 
KW elevation, Ropewalks, 
Argyle Street, Maritime 

Corridor)

•Headbolt Lane Rail Station 
IPEMU 
• Battery train trials 
• Hydrogen Buses  
• LCR Walking Cycling 
network – Phase 2 
• LCR Smart Ticketing

24 projects incl. - 
LCWIP Ph 2&3,Liverpool Baltic 

Rail Station (St James), 
Birkenhead Central Gateway, St 
Georges Gateway, Cross River 
Connectivity, Ropewalks Ph 2, 

Runcorn Station Quarter, 
Runcorn Busway Active Travel 
Corridor, Green Bus Corridors 
(86, 10A & 53), St Helens Town 

Centre Multimodal Interchange, 
M57 J4 Active Travel 

Improvements, Stanley Dock Rail 
Access (Sandhills).

P
age 107



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 4
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value
i. Increased the number of premises with access 
to gigabit-capable broadband Proportion of residential premises with gigabit broadband capability: 70%

ii. Improved business density and productivity Number of businesses (local units) per 10k working age residents: 549
Nominal GVA per hour worked (unsmoothed): £29.70

iii. Increased patronage on public transport to 
pre-COVID levels

Merseyrail patronage – 81.57% of Pre-Covid levels (Sep 21 to Mar22)
Tunnel Throughput – 2.06m per month (Pre-Covid 2.3m)

iv. Improved satisfaction with public transport Overall journey satisfaction on bus (LCR area): 92%
Overall journey satisfaction on rail (Merseyrail): 90%

v. Improved affordability of public transport

Data only available from 2019 with a baseline of 2012.
Motoring Costs – 88; Tunnel Tolls – 129; RPI – 119, Merseyrail – 123; Northern (City Line) – 126; Ferries 
Commuter – 175; Commercial Bus – 110; 2012 Baseline – 100; Benchmark (RPI +1%) – 120,  Fast Tag – 
77; Tunnels Average - 104

vi. Improved punctuality and reliability of public 
transport

Bus Punctuality – 86.99% (Target 88% - Aug 21 to Mar 22)
Merseyrail Punctuality – 96.74 PMM% (Target 91% - Sep 21 to Mar 22)
Ferries Availability – 92.75% (843 cancellations)

vii. More people with access to faster and more 
reliable digital connectivity Superfast broadband take-up (all premises): 62%

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 108



Priority 5: A Vibrant City Region 

Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Priority is 
represented by 3 Objectives, 9 Activities 
and 5 Outputs that will be reported on 

bi-annually

P
age 109



Priority 5 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Brownfield Land Fund A ↔

All BLF funding allocated by March 2022, including £14.8m top-up fund announced in February. The new infrastructure fund is 
£1.5bn rather than anticipated £10bn reducing capacity to bid for funds. Two funds in process of working towards bidding likely 
to be in summer 2022 - Hind Street phase 1 and Liverpool Waters Central Docks. Total cumulative spend for BFL programme 
£15m against min £18m target. Discussions with DLUHC indicated that content to accept in contract as committed spend - to 
date in contract for £17.5m and by end April should be £26m.

Town Centre Place-Making G ↑
Towns Fund awards for St Helens, Runcorn and Birkenhead. Business plans on track for submission by June 22 (Southport) and 
August (remaining 3 towns). Funding, cost inflation and delivery challenges remain for Southport Events Centre. CA approval 
likely to be sought Sept 22.

Town Centres Commission 
pilot projects B ↑

Action plan against all 23 IPPR Town Centre Commission Report recommendations completed. Digital support, community 
occupation and residential conversions were chosen as pilot schemes and are underway and on track.

Visitor attractions in our 
ownership A ↓

The Beatles Story has a marketing plan to re-establish both cruise ship and overseas group bookings. Mersey Ferries has a full 
cruise programme which is now on sale. Long term plans for Woodside in partnership with Wirral Council are progressing well 
with funding secured. The Eureka project has slipped. The Merseytravel aspects were delivered. Seacombe Landing Stage 
Project slipped and costs increased due to a number of factors (weather) and a 100yr old asset but all works completed.

Cultural Compact Plan G ↑
Previous action plan completed and workstreams delivered. Decision to publish Action Plan with updates for 2022/23 in 
progress. Partnership and regular fortnightly pages in Liverpool Echo have been successfully implemented. Generations for 
Change Celebration Event/Showcase delivered successfully. 

P
age 110



Priority 5 – Q4 Activity Updates
CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

Visitor Economy Recovery 
Strategy G ↔

Targets in place for both attractions (Beatles Story and Mersey Ferries) and agreed as part of budget setting process. Monitoring 
arrangements in place to review monthly. The Beatles Story has a marketing plan to re-establish both cruise ship and overseas 
group bookings. Mersey Ferries has a full cruise programme. Approval for Destination Marketing business case at CA completed.

Spatial Development Strategy A ↓ On track to meet this deadline for engagement of LCR Listens: Our Places 3 but further lockdowns or external impacts on the 
SDS Team and legislation have a significant potential impact on the ability to meet this deadline and subsequent activities.

LCR brand strategy G ↔

Joint LCR/GM Mayoral Mission was delivered in March 22. The focus was Net Zero,  Tech, Tourism & Culture with a 
accompanying Trade mission. The Belfast Programme concluded with an agreement to work closer together between Dublin, 
Belfast, Liverpool and Manchester. Discussions are on-going regarding the development of strategic relationships with Hamburg. 
Inward missions from Baden-Wurtemberg and Cologne have been supported, in collaboration with the Growth Platform, St 
Helens and Liverpool, recognising their deep twinning links.

Public land assets and Land 
Commission G ↔

Land Commission as part of the Housing and Spatial Planning Portfolio has been established. Options have been explored and it 
is proposed that two trial sites be identified from the CA Asset Register and there will be a Land Commission influenced 
engagement on the potential of the sites.

P
age 111



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outputs Summary – Priority 5
NB: Stated outputs are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan

Amber ↔ Amber ↔ Amber ↔ Green ↑

All funds approved in 
principle covering £36m. 
Top up funds announced 
in February 2022 of 
£14.8m all allocated.
In Grant Funding 
Agreements covering 
£17.5m. 

If all allocated projects 
progress to Grant Funding 
Agreement then in excess 
of 4,000 homes in 
programme. In GFAs at 
present for 1,409 homes. 

Mersey Ferries Visitor Numbers - 
301,956 (256,563 cruise passengers and 
45,393 commuter passengers)
The Beatles Story Number - 115,904 
visitors for the full year
Pre-covid levels would see circa 300k 
visitors per annum. The visitor profile in 
The Beatles Story shows 65% of visitors 
from overseas and it is expected the 
attraction will take longer to recover as 
international travel increases.

2021/22 Spend to Date:
Mayoral Town Centres - £3,558,007
Strand Shopping Centre - £306,527
Shakespeare Playhouse - £8,258,623
Bootle AAP - £39,880
Southport TCC - £26,943

Total - £12,189,980

Mayoral Towns Fund on track to 
complete budgeted spend of £6m by 
Sept 22. Southport TCC (now called 
MLEC) on track to spend £2.3m by Sep 
22, with further SIF allowance of 
£17.7m due for consideration by Sep 
22. 

Green ↑

• 365sqm Educational floorspace delivered for 
Music Industry Development Pilot Capital 
refurbishment

• 365 sqm Commercial floorspace delivered for 
Music Industry Development Pilot Capital 
refurbishment

• 30 music industry businesses receiving support
• 500 engaged in careers IAG (Music industry 

focused)
• 38 Individuals engaged in Talent Development 

(Music Industry focus)
• 155,048 participants of International Student 

Welcome Pilot 
• Partnership forged with Liverpool Echo for 

fortnightly culture page to promote LCR 
grassroots cultural activity and encourage 
participation and domestic tourism (22 pages)

• Generations for Change Young Creatives  

P
age 112



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 5
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value

i. Increased the number of new, affordable, 
quality housing

Number of houses completed: 3,230
Housing affordability ratio: 5.67 
Median house price, year ending June 2021: £170,000; median annual gross full-time wage, 2021: 
£30,000

ii. Improved the quality and choice of homes

Proportion of EPCs carried out with an energy efficiency rating of C or above: 39%
Owned dwelling: 60%
Private rented dwellings: 18%
Social rented dwellings: 22%

iii. Improved access to natural assets

Average distance to nearest park or public garden (metres):
Halton: 338
Knowsley: 286
Liverpool: 275
Sefton: 335
St. Helens: 280
Wirral: 327 

iv. Reduced the proportion of LCR’s communities 
in the 10% most deprived nationally Proportion of LSOAs in the 10% most deprived in England: 34%

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 113



2021-22 Quarter 4 Outcomes Summary – Priority 5
NB: Stated outcomes are to be achieved by the end of the 2021-24 CA Plan and beyond

Outcome Objectives by 2024 Latest Value
v. Reduced vacancy rates in our City and town 
centres

Vacancy rate for leisure and retail in the town and shopping centres of the City Region (for which we 
have data): 11.2%

vi. Returned to Pre-COVID levels of visitor 
numbers across the city region Net additional 
visitor days: 150,000 Net additional visitor days: 
200,000 Net additional visitor days: 250,000

Overall visitors (2019): 67.38 million
Overall visitors (2020): 26.14 million

vii. Returned to Pre-COVID levels of visitor 
spend Net additional GVA: £25m Net additional 
GVA: £35m Net additional GVA: £50m

Overall tourism value (2019): £4.93 billion
Overall tourism value (2020): £2.10 billion

As this is the first time reporting Outcome data in relation to the 2021-24 LCRCA Corporate Plan, comparative data and directions of travel will be 
reported in the next report

P
age 114



Over the 3 years 2021-24, this Project is 
represented by 8 Activities and

 37 Actions/Milestones

Developing our Organisation (DoO)

P
age 115



CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

1. Embed a whole systems 
approach G ↔

3 Actions; 3 Green - Initial scoping activity being explored with local authorities on workforce development and planning to 
identify opportunities for collaboration. LCR Workforce planning group established. LCR CEXs have agreed outlined programme 
and initial priorities for collaboration.

2. LCR Collaboration G ↔
4 Actions; 4 Green - Actions in progress to improve take up of next year’s stakeholders survey. Portfolio briefings, LA 
newsletters, Portfolio Boards are now in place. DOO Board agreed to extend proof of concept of CRM trial; future approach 
will be considered through digital transformation programme. CA / LA communication forum has been established.

3. Develop and implement a 
new People Strategy G ↔

6 Actions; 6 Green - Scoping workshops were held to align activity. Delivery of People Strategy underway with regular progress 
meetings being held monthly. JE scheme continues to evaluate all new posts. Total reward work to be picked up and scheduled 
as part of People Strategy Delivery Plan. CA participation in LGAs NGDP continues. Health and Safety Policy approved and built 
into People Strategy. Wellbeing activity scoped out as part of People Strategy delivery. ELT and SLT have met to discuss and 
disseminate results of Employee Survey and undertaken action planning. An SLT Action Plan has been produced and will be 
circulated to staff in October

4. Deliver a New Ways of 
Working programme A ↔

5 Actions; 2 Green / 1 Amber / 2 Red - A Role Profile matrix was circulated. Project Manager is in place and operational to 
work on the NWoW Action Plan. All relevant Mann Island floors will be reconfigured by June 2022. Once funding has been 
confirmed, other areas will be reviewed starting with Georges Dock building. A preferred supplier for space booking system 
was selected in early April but are experiencing issues with agreeing contractual terms. It is estimated that from date of order, 
there will be a 12 week implementation period. Hybrid Leadership workshops run in September and October 2021. 

Developing our Organisation (DoO)

DoO Activity Updates

P
age 116



CA Plan Activity RAG Comments

5. Deliver a leadership 
development programme

G 
↔

4 Actions; 3 Green / 1 Amber - Hybrid Leadership workshops were run in September and October 2021. Further training will 
be rolled up into the Management Essentials. Leadership Development Programme will be completed in May 2022 with a 
Springboard Conference planned for June. Scoping for Aspiring Leaders programme undertaken as part of People Strategy 
delivery. 

6. Approach to performance 
and programme delivery

G 
↔

4 Actions; 4 Green - Delivery Boards now established and operational. Project Plan for procurement of IT solution has been 
drafted. Tech availability and delivery lead time are noted risks. Timescales are to be confirmed and interim solution being 
investigated. Various internal and external campaigns completed covering a broad range of CA delivery and business. Annual 
Report of year one of Corporate Plan in development.

7. Implement an internal and 
external communications 
strategy

G 
↔

1 Action; Green - Comms strategy presented to DOO Board, approved at ELT and being implemented as per plan

8. Implement a refreshed IT 
strategy

G 
↔

10 Actions - all Green. Undertaking full review of all IT applications, services and infrastructure alongside current and future 
organisational requirements.

Developing our Organisation (DoO) – Q4

DoO Activity Updates

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title 

 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram, Portfolio Holder 
for Policy, Reform and Resources 
 

Summary of decision being sought  The consideration of the Investment Plan to 
unlock Liverpool City Region‟s allocation of the 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund ahead of 
submission to DLUHC by the 1st August 2022.   
 

Is this report exempt? No 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

Yes 
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

Not applicable 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.1 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

Not applicable 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
Tick as appropriate  

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region √  

Climate Change Implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.3 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.4 

Social Value implications  
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.5 
 

Human Resources implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.6 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications 
 

Yes, see paragraph 4.7 

Risk and Mitigation Yes, see paragraph 4.8 
 

Privacy implications 
 

No  

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

No  

Contact Officer(s) Raph Miller, Assistant Director – Investment 
raphael.miller@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
07747 795042 
 

Appendices Yes –  Appendix 1 UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
Investment Plan 
 

Background Documents Yes – UK Shared Prosperity Fund Prospectus 
 

 
  

Page 120

mailto:raphael.miller@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

13 July 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Investment and Delivery and the Portfolio 
Holder for Policy, Resources and Reform  

 
UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND (UKSPF)  

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report sets out the Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities 
(“DLUHC”) allocation of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to the Liverpool City Region 
(“LCR”). It sets out the LCR Combined Authority‟s (“CA”) Investment Plan in 
response to that allocation.   

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(a) Provide any feedback on the proposed Investment Plan for core UKSPF 
(excluding the Multiply programme) for consideration by the Combined 
Authority; and 

 
(b) Consider what subsequent reports it would wish to receive in respect of the 

deployment of the Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. The LCR has been allocated £52.8m in UKSPF (which includes a Multiply 

component of £8.4m) for the funding period 2022-2025 (£17.6m per year). This 
overall allocation represents around £34 per head.   Multiply is the Government 
programme for increasing adult numeracy/maths skills and is „top-sliced‟ from the 
UKSPF allocation. 

 
3.2. UKSPF is predominantly revenue funding and an annual basis, the allocation is as 

follows: 
 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

Multiply £1.3m £2.3m £4.8m £8.4m 

Core UKSPF £6.8m £11.9m £25.6m £44.3m 

Total UKSPF £8.2m £14.2m £30.4m £52.8m 

 
  

Page 121



3.3. When compared to the funding received from European programmes between 2014 
and 2020, we estimate that our UKSPF allocation represents a straight-line annual 
decrease of £10.2m (37%) even when including Multiply. 

 

 
 

Funding 
period  

Overall 
funding 

Per year 
funding 

Previous EU programmes 

2007-2013 2007-2015 £417m £52m 

2014-2020 2014-2023 £250m £27.8m 

UKSPF   

Including multiply 2022-2025 £52.7m £17.6m 

Excluding multiply 2022-2025 £44.4m £14.8m 

 
3.4. The headline figures on spend per year over the duration of the EU programmes 

are useful, but don‟t fully represent the scale of the loss of funding. Due to the 
following reasons: 
 

 The 2007-2013 programme could spend until 2015 – this is reflected in the low 
levels of delivery in the early years of the 2014-2020 programme. 

 In recent years, LCR has received circa £18m in additional funds for ESF 
programmes due to a national underspend.  

 
3.5. The Combined Authority (as “Lead Authority”) is required to submit two investment 

plans to unlock the regional allocation:  For the Multiply Programme this was 
submitted on 30 June and, in respect of Core UKSPF to DLUHC (no later than 1st 
August 2022).  The proposed investment plans for Core UKSPF is set out in 
Appendix 1 with proposals in respect of the Multiply Programme set out below. 

 
3.6. The approval of funding for Multiply is expected late July/early Aug with provision 

commencing from September 2022. DLUHC has stated it anticipates approval of 
UKSPF investment plans will commence in October 2022.  

 
3.7. Notwithstanding the date of approval, the funding can be applied to projects starting 

from April 2022.  
 

3.8. Core UKSPF has 3 Investment Priorities:  
 

 Community and Place; 

 Supporting Local Businesses; and 

 People and Skills (only available in 2024/25, save in respect of „continuation 
funding‟ to the Community and Voluntary Sector). 

 
3.9. Proposed allocations are summarised in the table below with the detail set out in 

Appendix 1. 
 

 

Page 122



3.10. The Combined Authority is required to consult widely on the development of the 
UKSPF Investment Plan and it has set up a Local Partnership Group, consulted 
with MP‟s, Local Authority‟s and also hosted 3 priority themed webinars which over 
400 individuals attended. 

 
3.11. The Local Partnership Group and MPs are supportive of the Investment Plan and 

it‟s submission to central government. More detailed work is underway to determine 
the governance processes for UKSPF and how these groups will be consulted 
during the delivery of the fund. 

 
3.12. The Investment Plan also details the proposed delivery arrangements, although it is 

recognised there is substantive work ongoing to ensure the CA is ready for the 
delivery of the funding.  

 
3.13. Members of the Committee should note the government‟s technical guidance for the 

fund has not yet been provided by central government. This is expected mid-July. 
The guidance may contain details that have an impact on the Investment Plan, 
particularly in relation to the resourcing requirements relating to the management of 
the fund.  

 
3.14 Multiply 
 

One of the first elements of UKSPF to be made available is Multiply, a £559M 
national programme designed to improve numeracy levels.  This has required the 
completion of a separate Investment Plan, which required submission to 
Government by 30 June 2022 to unlock the indicative allocation of £8.375m to the 
City Region.  This will focus on the following themes: 

 

 2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

2024/25 
£ 

Total 
£ 

Funding to Councils and Colleges for 
additional provision 

1,320,000 1,523,077 1,523,077 4,366,154 

Funding to Councils to grant fund 
additional community level provision 

200,000 230,769 230,769 661,538 

Workplace numeracy champions 200,000 230,769 230,769 661,538 

Employer and community numeracy 
champions 

140,000 161,538 161,538 463,076 

Community based outreach and 
engagement 

418,832 483,268 483,268 1,385,368 

Admin and management 253,204 292,158 292,158 819,520 

Total 2,532,035 2,921,579 2,921,579 8,375,195 

 
 
  

Page 123



 
3.15 The additional funding to Councils and Colleges would allow them to provide the 

following: 
 

 additional courses linked to increase confidence with numbers for those 
needing the first steps towards formal numeracy qualifications;  
 

 new intensive and flexible numeracy courses targeted at people without Level 
2 maths, leading to a Functional Skills Qualification; and  

 

 provide for parents wanting to increase their numeracy skills in order to help 
their children and help with their own progression. 

 
 This also includes an element of capacity development through workforce 

development and further recruitment.  In addition, funding will be provided to 
Councils to enable them to secure additional local community based provision 
designed to engage with the hardest to reach learners, building upon the local 
intelligence of what is required. 

 
3.16 There is an important role for outreach and engagement as stated previously to 

attract more people to the provision that is available, and it is proposed that this will 
take three dimensions; 
 

 local outreach undertaken by community based and grassroots organisations, 
to be supported by a small grants programme to be administered from within 
the community and voluntary sector: organisations undertaking this outreach 
would need to buddy up with a local provider of courses to enable clear 
referrals; 
 

 engagement in workplaces with employees to promote the benefits and impact 
of numeracy development, utilising the experience of previous UnionLearn 
outreach activities; and 

 

 employer champions, leveraging the benefits and reach of national 
organisations and promoting the productivity benefits of developing the 
numeracy of staff. 

 
3.17 The processes and back office systems required to effectively manage this funding 

and demonstrate the impact delivered are difficult to finalise at the moment given 
the lack of clear responses from the Department for Education on how data is to be 
recorded.  Accordingly, the worst case scenario has been taken with the maximum 
management costs identified: should a more efficient and streamlined process be 
available, this will be reduced and the funding transferred to local community based 
provision. 

  

Page 124



 
3.18 It is expected that a grant offer will be received in July/August 2022 with the 

expectation of seeing delivery in place from September 2022.  Given the urgency of 
putting in place these arrangements, it is recommended that the Combined 
Authority accept the grant offer in principle and delegate authority to the Executive 
Director : Investment and Delivery (in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, 
Treasurer and Portfolio Lead: Education and Skills) to accept the final grant offer 
and out in place arrangements to commission the activity.   

 

4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1  Financial 
 
4.1.1 The Investment Plans will be submitted to DLUHC and DfE to unlock LCRs 

 allocation of UKSPF. LCRs allocation is £52.8m to be delivered in 2022/23, 2023/24 
and 2024/25. The proposed spend profiles and governance arrangements will be 
detailed the respective investment plans. 

 
4.1.2 The CA will also be the recipient of £8.375m Multiply funding from DfE. Due to the 

timescales set by Government, the investment plan will have been submitted to 
Central Government by the time of the July CA meeting.  

 
4.1.3 The delivery timescales for Multiple mean it is appropriate to request for delegated 

authority to the SRO to receive the Multiply allocation ahead of September start 
date. 

 
4.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 UKSPF fund cuts across all of the corporate plan themes and will be used to enable 

key activity to support the delivery of the corporate plan. UKSPF will mostly support, 
the fairer, stronger and vibrant city region strands. But will also compliment wider 
cleaner and connected city region work. 

 
4.3 Climate Change  
 
 Net Zero is considered in two ways within the plan. Firstly, through the inclusion of 

specific interventions aimed at helping community activity on environmental issues 
and supporting businesses on their journey to net zero. Secondly, through the 
inclusion of net zero considerations in the project appraisal processes and within 
monitoring requirements.  

 
4.4 Equality and Diversity  
 
4.4.1 Equality and Diversity Implications have been considered during the development of 

this proposed Investment Plan, including engagement with representative groups 
for under-represented communities and groups.  There are a number of activities 
proposed which will provide targeted support for people with protected 
characteristics.   

  

Page 125



 
4.4.2 In addition to this the EDI consideration will be embedded within the design and of 

calls and commissions (i.e. in the distribution of funding). EDI considerations will 
also be embedded within all stages of project appraisal and the assurance process.  

 
4.4.3 There will be a requirement for all activities commissioned and delivered utilising 

this funding to demonstrate how they are complying with the requirements of the 
Equality Act 2010: this will include a summary of the position action being 
undertaken to engage with, support and narrow the gaps for those with Protected 
Characteristics. 

 
4.5 Social Value 
 

Work is ongoing to ensure that social value is embedded within the investment plan 
and feeds into project appraisal and commissioning design during the deliver the 
fund. Officers are working to understand how the social value of the fund can be 
measured and reported on as part of the annual reporting on Social Value for the 
CA. 

 
4.6 Human Resources  
 
4.6.1 As the lead body for the delivery of LCRs allocation of UKSPF, the CA is committed 
 to the management of the funding from the development of the investment plan, 
 through to monitoring and evaluation.  
 
4.6.2 If order to support this activity, DLUHC have stated that the CA is able to use up to 

4% of the Regional allocation to support the management of the fund. Work is still 
ongoing to determine the exact management costs. However, the indicative 
allocation the CA anticipates needing is £xx, which is x% of the allocation.  

 
4.6.3 CA officers are currently developing the resourcing plan for the delivery of the fund 

and request the delegated authority is provided to the Director of Investment and 
Delivery to finalise delivery requirements in consultation with the Combined 
Authority Monitoring Officer and Combined Authority Treasurer. 

    
4.7 Legal  
 

The CA will consider the subsidy control implications that are required in relation to 
the delivery of the fund. The CA‟s Lead Authority status means that the CA will 
become the accountable body in relation to the management of the fund. 

 
4.8 Risks and Mitigation  
  

Delivery of the UKSPF programme will align to the LCR Combined Authority‟s 
Corporate Risk Management Policy. The key risks below have been identified for 
the programme:  

  

Page 126



 
 

Risk Description Consequence of Risk 
Materialising 

Mitigation 

DLUHC fails to 
approve the 
Investment Plan 
or requires more 
information 
before approving 

DLUHC withholds 2022-
23 allocation, until 
approval of plan) 
Reputational damage 
Year 1 spend will be 
more difficult to achieve 
and projects impacted by 
delay of allocation 

Able to demonstrate local consensus 
by widely consulting on the 
Investment Plan and compliance with 
technical guidance 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
outcomes at the 
expected pace of 
key stakeholders 
and effectively 
communicating / 
engaging with 
stakeholders 

Dissatisfied stakeholders 
Reputational damage 
DLUHC withholds future 
allocations or clawback 
Unable to demonstrate a 
successful programme 

Programme delivery and outcome 
planning, with monitoring to track 
outcomes 
Held a range of engagement events 
to understand stakeholders‟ views of 
Investment Plan, with clear 
messaging that the funding allocation 
disproportionately disadvantages the 
LCR and as a result has less money 
to allocate to a broader range of 
activities  

Failure to meet 
spend profile 

Dissatisfied stakeholders 
Reputational damage 
DLUHC withholds future 
allocations or clawback 
Renegotiation of spend 
profile 

Programme delivery planning, with 
monitoring to track spend 
Create guidance on what expenditure 
recipients can claim 

Failure to deliver 
the right mix of 
projects to 
achieve the aims 
of the fund 
through the three 
investment 
priorities 

Dissatisfied stakeholders 
Local and national 
reputational damage 
Lack of value for money 
Limited benefits to the 
development of the LCR 

Investment Plan widely consulted on 
Projects pipeline to be created 
through call and commission  
Develop call and commissions and 
evaluation process 

Failure to 
evidence, 
monitoring and 
evaluate the 
programme and 
demonstrate 
successful 
delivery 

Jeopardise future funding 
from Government 
Impact on future planning 
Open to challenge 
Reputational damage 
External Audit failure 
Value for Money 

Monitoring, Evaluation and Resource 
plans, as part of Investment Plan 
submission, with detailed plans in 
development  
Monitoring and Evaluation 
Framework in place 
Lessons Learnt from previous and 
current programme delivery 

 
  

Page 127



 
5 CONCLUSION 
 
 UKSPF is a key funding source to support UK governments levelling up agenda. 

The regional allocation represented a loss in funding for the region in comparison to 
the previous European Structural Investment Funds.  

 
 

DR AILEEN JONES 
Executive Director for Investment and 

Delivery 
   
 

METRO MAYOR STEVE ROTHERAM 
Portfolio Holder for Policy, Reform and 

Resources 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix One – LCR Draft Investment Plan 
 
Background Documents:  
 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund Prospectus (DLUHC) 
 
 

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus


LCR Draft Investment Plan

29th June 2022

P
age 129



Liverpool City Region Context

P
age 130



The LCR Strategic landscape

• The UK Shared Prosperity Fund investment plan builds and supports the implementation of 
existing CA strategies and policy documents.

– Plan for Prosperity (the overarching economic development strategic)

– Skills strategies and action plans

– Stakeholder engagement on and emerging business support strategic statement

• These policy documents and evidence have been widely consulted on within Liverpool City 
Region and are accepted as reflecting the regions challenges.

A Fairer, Stronger, Cleaner Liverpool City Region –

Where no one is left behind

P
age 131



Liverpool City Region priorities

Improving performance through strengthening the pillars of our economy

Enhancing our 
resilience

Renewing our 
economy

Delivering shared 
prosperity

The Plan for Prosperity can be found here

The Plan for Prosperity sets out our strategic priorities

P
age 132

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/growing-our-economy/plan-for-prosperity/


• CA Investment Fund

• EU Structural Funds

• Adult Education Budget

• UK Community Renewal Fund

• Freeports

• Transforming Cities Fund

• North West Energy Hub

• Towns Fund

• CRSTS

• Brownfield Land

• Housing Retrofit

• Future High Street fund

• 5G testbed

• Housing First

• Growth Hub

• Levelling Up Fund

LCR Context - Funding Landscape

The LCR funding landscape is complex, current examples include:

Accessing these funds is vital for local economic growth, 

however, processes to unlock funding vary and create a 

complex patchwork of funding

P
age 133



Liverpool City Region UKSPF allocation

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total* 

Award including 

Multiply
£7,917,995 £13,693,498 £31,144,008 £52,755,501

Award excluding 

Multiply*
£5,385,960 £10,771,919 £28,222,428 £44,380,307

Revenue*
90%

(£4.85m)

87%

(£9.37m)

80%

(£22.6m)

83%

(£36.82m)

Capital
10%

(£0.54m)

13%

(£1.40m)

20%

(£5.6m)

17%

(£7.54m)

• The regional allocation is £52.8m, which is a significant reduction to previous ESIF

• £8.4m has been ringfenced for Multiply

• As shown, the majority of funding is revenue (83%) with 17% available for capital projects 

* Includes management allowance and are indicative splits provided as a guideline from DLUHC

P
age 134



Liverpool City Region’s European Funding

• Liverpool City Region was at a disadvantage in the European Structural Investment Fund 2014-2020 

programme when funding was reduced by 55%

• When compared to the 2014-2020 programme, UKSPF represents a straight-line annual decrease of £10.2m 

(37%) 

• Since 2019, due to our success and initial under allocation, the regional spend has been between £28m-

£40m per year under the existing programme

Funding period Overall funding Per year funding

Previous EU programmes

2007-2013 2007-2015 £417m £52m

2014-2020 2014-2023 £250m £27.8m

UKSPF

Including multiply 2022-2025 £52.7m £17.6m

Excluding multiply 2022-2025 £44.4m £14.8m

LCR has less money to allocate to a broader range of activities

P
age 135



Indicative allocations by priority

£ yearly proposed allocations

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Communities and Place £3.05m £4.08m £3.78m £10.91m

Supporting Local Business £2.03m £6.31m £8.84m £17.18m

People and Skills £0.00m £1.45m £13.05m £14.5m

Total £5.08m £11.84m £25.67m £42.59m

Assumptions underpinning the allocations

• People and Skills funding is unavailable until 2024-25 save in respect of Continuation Funding (£1.45m)

• Current ERDF for business support provision continues until 2023-24, therefore we will favour the 

Communities and Place priority in 2022-23

• Management costs have been calculated at 4% as per the UKSPF guidance. The CA will seek to minimise 

the management costs and updated figures will be included in the final draft of the investment plan 

ahead of sign-off

P
age 136



Investment Priority 1:

Communities and Place

P
age 137



Communities and Place – Overview

• The focus of the SPF is to build local communities, which are vibrant, resilient and provide 

pride in local places.

• The suggested focus would be to support community and locally based infrastructure which;

– enhances the resilience and reduction of crime in neighbourhoods

– creating resilient, thriving green spaces communities

– support for local culture, arts and heritage projects

– support for the capacity of the voluntary and community sector, including actions 
around cost of living and digital inclusion

• The focus would be on revenue-based projects with some limited capital investment, 
depending on the strand.

P
age 138



Local Challenges and Opportunities

• High levels of capital investment over recent years in town and district centres to 

support during pandemic with some revenue such as Welcome Back Fund

• GVA is back at pre-pandemic levels, but footfall in retail and recreation areas is 

still 12% below the levels expected before the pandemic.

• Focus on volunteering and social action, developing green/blue natural capital, 

food growing initiatives and youth engagement with opportunities for links to 

wider employment and skills offer

• Utilising culture, heritage, local arts, etc as a tool for regeneration and 

engagement of local communities, building on borough of culture and other 

investments.

Community and Place

P
age 139



Communities and Place – Summary Allocations and Approach

Proposed allocation for Communities and Place - £10.91m

(26% of overall UKSPF allocation)

1. Green, resilient and safe 
communities

2. Local cultural, arts and heritage
3. Supporting the voluntary and 

community sector, including 
digital and financial inclusion

Allocation (£) £3.825m £2.4m £4.685m

Allocation (%) 35% 22% 43%

Years 1, 2 and 3 1, 2 and 3 1, 2 and 3

Description

Support for investments to make 
town and district centres more 

resilient; greening of local 
communities and 

neighbourhoods, including direct 
involvement of residents

Utilising local culture, arts and heritage 
to help regeneration, including direct 

involvement of residents

Projects which support the CVS sector to 
thrive and become more resilient, 

including support for cost of living crises 
and digital inclusion

Linked to UKSPF 
interventions (see over 
for reference)

E5 and E9
E4, E6 and E9 E11, E13 and E15

Route to delivery

Work with Local Authorities to 
determine investments that 

identify projects which design out 
crime; develop call for 

social action to develop resilient 
local communities (green capital, 

food, youth engagement)

Work with LAs and the Cultural, arts and 
heritage sector to determine appropriate 

delivery routes

Work with CVS infrastructure 
organisations and LAs to agree 

appropriate delivery routes

P
age 140



Communities and Place – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for Communities and Place - £10.91m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Green, resilient and safe communities

E3. Creation of and improvements to local green spaces £200,000 £200,000 £100,000 £500,000

E5: Built & landscaped environment to 'design out crime' £475,000 £600,000 £825,000 £1,900,000

E9a: Impactful volunteering and/or social action projects £475,000 £475,000 £475,000 £1,425,000

Sub Total £1,150,000 £1,275,000 £1,400,000 £3,825,000

Local cultural, arts and heritage

E4: Enhancing existing cultural, historic & heritage institutions 
offer

£250,000 £350,000 £350,000 £950,000

E6: Local arts, cultural, heritage & creative activities £250,000 £300,000 £300,000 £850,000

E9b: Impactful volunteering and/or social action projects £175,000 £200,000 £225,000 £600,000

Sub Total £675,000 £850,000 £875,000 £2,400,000

P
age 141



Communities and Place – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for Communities and Place - £10.91m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Supporting the voluntary and community sector, including digital 
and financial inclusion

E11: Capacity building & infrastructure support local groups £250,000 £450,000 £500,000 £1,200,000

E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living £500,000 £1,000,000 £500,000 £2,000,000

E15: Digital connectivity for local community facilities £475,000 £505,000 £505,000 £1,485,000

Sub Total £1,225,000 £1,955,000 £1,505,000 £4,685,000

Overall Total £3,050,000 £4,080,000 £3,780,000 £10,910,000

P
age 142



Communities and Place – Outcomes and Outputs

Communities & Place Indicative Outputs and Outcomes

UKSPF 
funding

Outputs Outcomes

Green, resilient 
and 
safe communities

£3,825,000 • Neighbourhood improvements 
undertaken

• Rehabilitated Land
• Public realm created/improved
• Amount of green/blue space created 

or improved (m2)
• Trees planted
• Volunteering opportunities
• Projects supported

• Increased footfall (% increase)
• Improved perception of facilities and 

amenities
• Improved perception of safety (% 

increase)
• Reduction in neighbourhood crime (% 

decrease)
• Volunteering numbers as a result of 

support

Local cultural, arts 
and heritage

£2,400,000 • Rehabilitated premises
• Facilities supported/created
• Organisations received grants
• Local events or activities supported
• Volunteering opportunities
• Projects supported

• Increased footfall (% increase) 
• Increased visitor numbers (% increase)
• Number of community-led arts, 

cultural, heritage and creative 
programmes as a result of support

• Volunteering numbers as a result of 
support

P
age 143



Communities and Place – Outcomes and Outputs

Communities & Place Indicative Outputs and Outcomes

UKSPF funding Outputs Outcomes

Supporting VCS, 
including digital 
and financial 
inclusion

£4,685,000 • Organisations receiving non-financial 
support

• Organisations in receipt of grants
• Households receiving support
• Facilities supported/created

• Number of new or improved 
community facilities as a result of 
support

• Number of premises with improved 
digital connectivity

P
age 144



Investment priority 2:

Supporting Local Business

P
age 145



Supporting Local Business – Overview

• The proposed strands take into account that ESIF business support programmes in particular will be 
in place till September 2023.

• Opportunity to align business and innovation support with the evidence base to support growth 
and employment across the city region, including

– Alignment of business and innovation support with current challenges and opportunities, 
building on best practice

– A coherent and integrated business support offer for all sectors, including the socially traded 
sector

– Investments to be focused on simplification, integration and collaboration among all projects

• UKSPF provides an opportunity to invest in revenue projects which will support retail and services 
businesses operating in town centres.

– This provides a valuable addition to the extensive capital investment in the town centre fabric 
which has and will take place over the next couple of years.

• Given that the availability of revenue support is much less readily available, the proposal focuses 
on the revenue support interventions.

P
age 146



Local Challenges and Opportunities

• The Liverpool City Region’s business base is currently too small (c. 54,000 businesses) -
the fourth lowest business density rate of all LEP areas.

• While the LCR has the fourth highest business birth rate out of all LEP areas, business 
survival rates are poor. Comparatively few of those businesses that survive become high 
growth enterprises.

• The business base is too narrow and the business density is too low; opportunities to support a 
broader range of start-ups and existing businesses with focused support

• Fewer LCR businesses (as a proportion of the total business base) export goods or 
services compared to the national level. Nevertheless LCR has significant export potential.

• Business expenditure on R&D has increased rapidly recently in the LCR. However, as 
a proportion of GVA, it is slightly below national levels. We have substantial 
innovation potential and businesses should be able to take advantage.

Supporting Local Business

P
age 147



Supporting Local Business – summary allocation and approach

Proposed allocation for Supporting Local Business - £17.18m

(40% of overall UKSPF allocation)

Theme

1. Business Support 2. Town Centres 3. Innovation

Allocation (£) £11.8m £1.5m £3.875m

Allocation (%) 69% 9% 23%

Years 1, 2 and 3 1, 2 and 3 1, 2 and 3

Description

Start-up support for enterprise ready 
entrepreneurs; support for existing 
businesses focused on supply chain, 
export, management & leadership, 

whole business decarbonisation plans; 
social enterprise; international 

conferences (LCR wide/innovation 
focused)

Investment in dedicated business 
support offer for retail/service sector 
businesses in town centres, which is 
integrated into the wider business 

support offer

Focus on business led innovation, 
diffusion and commercialisation, to 

develop new to firm/market products, 
processes and services; tackle societal 
challenges; tightly focused innovation 

eco system expertise teams to support. 
Focus on digitisation and net zero

Linked to UKSPF 
interventions 
(See over)

E23, E25 E16 E19, E20

Route to delivery

A small number of calls and 
commissioning working with LAs

Work with LAs to determine the 
commissioning framework, aligned to 

town centre priorities
A small number of calls to be developed

P
age 148



Supporting Local Business – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for Supporting Local Business - £17.18m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Business Support

E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems £1,400,000 £4,260,000 £5,540,000 £11,200,000

E25: Bid for & host international business events & conferences £200,000 £200,000 £200,000 £600,000

Sub Total £1,600,000 £4,460,000 £5,740,000 £11,800,000

Town Centres

E16: Open markets & town centre retail & service sector £300,000 £600,000 £600,000 £1,500,000

Sub Total £300,000 £600,000 £600,000 £1,500,000

P
age 149



Supporting Local Business – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for Supporting Local Business - £17.18m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Innovation

E19: Investment in research & development at the local level £125,000 £750,000 £1,500,000 £2,375,000

E20: R&D grants supporting innovative product & service development £0 £500,000 £1,000,000 £1,500,000

Sub Total £125,000 £1,250,000 £2,500,000 £3,875,000

Overall Total £2,025,000 £6,310,000 £9,340,000 £17,175,000

P
age 150



Supporting Local Business – Outcomes and Outputs

Supporting Local Business - Indicative Outputs and Outcomes 

UKSPF funding Outputs Outcomes 

Business 
Support 

£11,800,000 • Number of businesses receiving 
non-financial support 

• Number of businesses receiving 

grants
• Number of events/participatory 

programmes
• Number of businesses engaged in 

new markets 

• Jobs created
• Number of new businesses created 
• Increased amount of investment 

• Number of businesses engaged in new markets
• Number of businesses increasing their export 

capability 

Town Centres £1,500,000 • Number of local markets 
supported 

• Number of businesses receiving 
non-financial support 

• Jobs created
• Number of new businesses created 
• Improved perceptions of markets (% increase) 
• Increased number of businesses supported 

P
age 151



Supporting Local Business – Outcomes and Outputs

Supporting Local Business - Indicative Outputs and Outcomes 

UKSPF funding Outputs Outcomes 

Innovation £3,875,000 • Number of businesses receiving 
grants 

• Number of businesses receiving 

non-financial support 

Number of:
• businesses introducing new to firm products  
• organisations engaged in new knowledge 

transfer businesses adopting new to the firm 
tech/processes 

• new to market products 
• businesses with improved productivity 
• R&D active businesses 
• businesses adopting new/improved 

products/services 

P
age 152



Investment priority 3:

People and Skills

P
age 153



People and Skills – Overview

• The purpose of the proposed People and Skills interventions is to fill in the gaps in national 
delivery from April 2024 onwards

• Building upon the foundations and experience of delivery under the current ESIF 
programme.

• The proposed interventions take account of the devolved Adult Education Budget, 
delegated Level 3 offer and granted Skills Bootcamps provision, ensuring that duplication is 
avoided with this £65m+ funding.

P
age 154



Local Challenges and Opportunities

There are a number of significant weaknesses in the local labour market:

• Despite recent improvements, the LCR still has relatively high levels of 
economic inactivity and low levels of employment.

• Health is a common barrier to economic activity – with 32% of LCR’s economically inactive 
residents reporting long-term sickness as the reason.

• The LCR also has a higher number of residents with no qualifications and below 
average rates of degree-level qualifications.

• A relatively high number of young people who are NEET (not in employment, education or 
training) at 6%.

• On average, pupils leave primary and secondary education with worse 
attainment compared to English average.

• Our residents are more likely to be digitally excluded than average.

People and Skills

P
age 155



People and Skills - Proposed Interventions 

Theme 1: Employment support

• employment support for inactive people, including care leavers and young people with 
learning difficulties and disabilities, including mental health (E33); 

• additional employment support to focus on large scale recruitments and redundancies and 
targeted activities to support young people and people with protected characteristics (L2).

Theme 2: Skills support

• local areas to fund local skills needs, not funded by AEB and Bootcamps to include green 
skills, retraining for those in high carbon sectors and higher level digital skills (E38);

• increase levels of digital inclusion, essential digital skills (E36);

• Development and promotion to careers and inspiration materials and events (L1).

P
age 156



People and Skills – Approach to Continuation Funding

• The CA can bring forward People and Skills funding into 2023/24 where provision is by the 
community and voluntary sector and such funding would cease prior to 2024/25 
(“Continuation Funding”).

• The CA has received requests for £2.5m of continuation funding.  Projects/Recipients are set 
out in Appendix A.

• It is proposed to limit the continuation funding to 10% of the People and Skills allocation (i.e. 
£1.45m) and to undertake the following actions:

– Work with DWP to assess whether of £250m national underspend on ESF can be 
allocated to projects (discussions are under way);

– Require projects seeking continuation funds to identify a source of match funding; and

– Apply a straight line reduction to achieve a 10% total for continuation funding.

• Projects receiving Continuation Funding will not necessarily receive funding in 2024/25 where 
these will be determined following a call process.

P
age 157



People and Skills – Indicative allocation and approach

Proposed allocation for People and Skills - £14.5m

(34% of overall UKSPF allocation)

Theme

CVS continuation funding 1. Employment Support 2. Skills support

Allocation (£) £1.45m £11.85m £1.2m

Allocation (%) 10% 82% 8%

Years 2 3 3

Description

Providing funding to enable CVS 
organisation to continue services 

and capacity in the gap between 
ESF funding ending and UKSPF 

funding starting

Additional employment support to 
help economically inactive people 

into work, plus targeted 

employment support for people 
with protected characteristics in 
addition to capacity to support 

large scale recruitments and 
redundancies

Digital inclusion skills training; further 
targeted skills support in additional 

to existing £65m pa skills investment; 
and enhancing the careers offer 

locally with updated materials 
and events.

Linked to UKSPF 
interventions (see 
over)

E33, L2, E36 E33, L2 E38, E36 and L1

Route to delivery

Grant to relevant organisations

Commission elements of service 
delivery, including via Local 
Authorities and open call for 

additional provision

Commissioning of activity based 
upon existing delivery 

structures and calls for further 
activity

P
age 158



People and Skills – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for People and Skills - £14.5m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

CVS continuation funding

Continuation funding £0 £1,450,000 £0 £1,450,000

Sub Total £0 £1,450,000 £0 £1,450,000

Employment Support

E33: Employment support for economically inactive people £0 £0 £2,500,000 £2,500,000

L2: additional employment support including targeted activities for young 
people and people with protected characteristics

£0 £0 £9,350,000 £9,350,000

Sub Total £0 £0 £11,850,000 £11,850,000

P
age 159



People and Skills – Detailed Allocations

Proposed allocation for People and Skills - £14.5m

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total

Skills Support

E36: Increase levels of digital inclusion, essential digital skills £0 £0 £500,000 £500,000

E38: Local areas to fund local skills needs £0 £0 £400,000 £400,000

L1: Development and promotion of careers and inspiration materials and 
events

£0 £0 £300,000 £300,000

Sub Total £0 £0 £1,200,000 £1,200,000

P
age 160



People and Skills – Outcomes and Outputs

People and Skills - Indicative Outputs and Outcomes 

UKSPF 

funding 

Outputs Outcomes 

CVS 

Continuation 

Funding 

£1,450,000 In line with Employment and/or Skills 

dependent on nature of project.

In line with Employment and/or Skills 

dependent on nature of project.

Employment £11,850,000 • Number of economically inactive 

engaging with keyworker support 

• Number receiving support to 

gain/sustain employment

• Number supported to engage in 

job-search

• Number supported to access basic 

skills 

• Number accessing mental & 

physical health support leading to 

employment 

• Number in employment, inc self 

employment following support

• Number sustaining engagement 

with keyworker support/additional 

services 

• Number engaged in job-searching 

following support 

• Number with basic skills (English, 

maths, digital and ESOL) 

P
age 161



People and Skills – Outcomes and Outputs

People and Skills - Indicative Outputs and Outcomes 

UKSPF 

funding 

Outputs Outcomes 

Skills £1,200,000 • Number supported to access basic 

skills

• Number gaining a qualification or 

completing a course following 

support

• Number receiving support to gain a 

vocational licence

• Number supported to engage in 

job search 

• Number taking part in work 

experience 

• Number gaining a qualification or 

completing a course following 

support 

• Number in employment, including 

self-employment, following support 

• Number in education/training 

• Number economically inactive 

engaged in mainstream 

education/training

• Number engaged in job-search 

• Number familiarised with employer’s 

expectations 

P
age 162



Delivery of the FundP
age 163



Structures in place to support delivery

• Significant elements as set out above will be delivered via constituent local authorities.

• For call and commissioned projects, existing local authority groups will be consulted as to:

– Scope and content of call and commissioned projects

– In respect of ‘calls’ (where open applications will be invited) in the 
selection/determination process of projects including development of evaluation 
criteria, assessment against such criteria and selection of eventual shortlist.

• This will compliment existing CA assurance framework process.

P
age 164



Stakeholder engagement

• Engaging with MPs

– Convened MP sessions to discuss and feedback on the plan

– Will share final investment plan to be approved ahead of CA consideration

• Established a Local Partnership Group

– Convene group to discuss and help shape the LCR investment plan

– Agree terms of future engagement with the group

• Webinars

– Three webinars covering the three investment priorities with the opportunity to ask questions and 

feedback on the plan

– Significant attendance

• People and Skills – 124

• Supporting Local Business – 104

• Communities and Place – 160

• Use of existing channels for CA engagement, including (but not limited to):

– Leaders and Mayors, Chief Executive Officers, Growth Directors, Employment and Skills Board, LA policy 

leads and the LEP Board. 

• Engagement with existing funding recipients in respect of continuation funding

P
age 165



Local Partnership Group membership

Representing Organisation(s) Contact Name
VS6, Faith Ellen Louden

Employment and skills board Peter Ross

Liverpool & Sefton Chamber Paul Cherpeau

Wirral Chamber Paula Basnett

Knowsley Chamber Lesley Martin Wright

Halton Chamber Rachael Owen

St Helens Chamber Tracy Mawson

Federation of Small Businesses Phil McCabe

Confederation of British Industry Damian Waters

Institute of Directors David Wafer

The Womens Org Maggie O’Carroll

DWP Nicki O'Conner

Race Equality Development Panel Farhad Ahmed

Growth Platform Mark Basnett

Crosby Housing Association Mandy Elliott

Association of Liverpool City Region Colleges John Clarke

Future Impact Board Rachael Patterson

BEIS Mick Allen

Representing Organisation(s) Contact Name
Liverpool City Council Mark Bousfield

Wirral Council Sally Shah

St Helens Council Lisa Harris

Halton Council Wes Rourke

Sefton Council Steven Watson

Knowsley Council Dale Milburn

Arts Council England Jane Beardsworth

British Business Bank Sue Barnard

Homes England Duncan Inglis

TUC James McKenna

LEP Asif Hamid

Innovation board Jon Hague

Cabinet Office, External Investment Panel Claire Dove

Climate Action Group, climate partnership Gideon Ben Tovim

Regenda, Housing Associations Michael Burkitt

Liverpool John Moores University Joe Yates

University of Liverpool Sarah Jackson

Social Economy, External Investment Panel Helen Heap

North West Energy Hub James Johnson

P
age 166



Feedback from Consultation

• There is a general consensus for the plan

• Emerging sense that there are too many interventions could become tricky to manage and 
not allow the local flexibility we might require

• Mixed views are mostly around the Communities and Place strand – which was anticipated 
due to:

– It being a new strand of activity within this space

– The broad range of interventions in this category

– Being an lack of revenue funding for this kind of activity

• Questions around the delivery route and how to access funding

P
age 167



Response to Consultation

• There is a general consensus for the plan

• Emerging sense that there are too many interventions could become tricky to manage and 
not allow the local flexibility we might require

• Mixed views are mostly around the Communities and Place strand – which was anticipated 
due to:

– It being a new strand of activity within this space

– The broad range of interventions in this category

– Being an lack of revenue funding for this kind of activity

• Questions around the delivery route and how to access funding

P
age 168



Feedback from Consultation

• Number of proposed interventions reduced recognising potential overlap in any case

• Inclusion of funding for addressing anti-social behaviour

• Inclusion of continuation funding for at risk but continuing community and voluntary sector 
interventions

• Simplification of the business support interventions in the plan to maintain local flexibility in 
particular reducing ‘sector specific proposed interventions.

• Provision of greater clarity as to intent behind proposed interventions.P
age 169



Rationale for delivery methods

• As detailed earlier in the plan, the CA planned to use a mixture of methods to delivery the 
funding including calls and commissioning. This will largely depends on the nature of the 
intervention and potential delivery routes available

• This has been determined based on the nature of the intervention and considering existing 
potential for delivery within the region

• A review is underway of the CAs current governance structure to determine where we can 
utilised existing assurance processes and where there is a need for something bespoke

• The governance approach will be determined ahead of the final draft of the investment 

plan

P
age 170



Appendix A – Continuation 

Funding

P
age 171



Continuation Funding Requests
Name of project Main organisation Current end date Funding request Number of staff

Directions The Women’s 

Organisation

30 June 2023 2023-2024: £703,232 

with £468,821 match 

funding in place

52

New Horizons The Women’s 

Organisation

30 September 2023 2023- 24: £640,899 with 

match of £427,266 in 

place

55

Go Further The Prince’s Trust 31 December 2023 £72k made up of £54k 

and £18k PT match 

7.5 FTE 

Include-IT Mersey Sefton CVS Delivery to 

participants ends: 

31/03/2023 

Contract End Date: 

30/06/2023

£653,000.  21.2 FTE (36 

individual staff 

members)

Merseyside 

Enterprising Young 

People

St Helens Chamber 30 September 2023 £45,435 5

LCR Talent Match Merseyside Youth 

Association Ltd

31 December 2023 £349,752 27 Full time and 11 

part time = 38

Individualised 

Employment 

Support

The Salvation Army 31 December 2023 £50k 7.2

P
age 172



 
Report Title 

 
The Liverpool City Region Spatial Development 
Strategy Engagement Proposals  
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Councillor Graham Morgan, Portfolio Holder: 
Housing and Spatial Planning  
 

Summary of decision being sought  The LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
asked to consider the engagement proposals 
and determine their preparedness; and  
 
Agree to the Committee being included in the 
statutory engagement process which will 
commence in 2023.  

Is this report exempt? No 
 
 

Is this a Key Decision 
 

Yes  
 

Is the report urgent 
 

No 

Is this decision to be exempt from 
call in 
 

No 

Local Authorities affected  
 

All 

 
Impact and implications of this report 
 

 

Financial impact 
 

Yes, paragraph 4.1 

Delegation (s) sought  
 

No 

Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 
 

A Fairer City Region  √  

A Stronger City Region  √  

A Cleaner City Region  √  

A Connected City Region  √  

A Vibrant City Region √  

Climate Change Implications 
 

Yes, paragraph 4.3 

Equality and Diversity implications 
 

Yes, paragraph 4.4 

Social Value implications  
 

Yes, paragraph 4.5 
 

Human Resources implications 
 

No 

Physical Assets implications 
 

No  

Information Technology implications No 
 

Legal implications Yes, paragraph 4.6 

Page 173

Agenda Item 12



 
Risk and Mitigation Yes, paragraph 4.7 

 
Privacy implications 
 

Yes, paragraph 4.8 

Communication and consultation 
implications 
 

Yes, paragraph 4.9 

Contact Officer(s) Mark Dickens – Lead Officer Spatial Planning 
(07880 480107) 
mark.dickens@liverpoolcityreion-ca.gov.uk 

Appendices No  
 

Background Documents No  
 

 
  

Page 174

mailto:mark.dickens@liverpoolcityreion-ca.gov.uk


LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Wednesday, 13 July 2022 
 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Spatial Planning and the Executive 

Director for Policy, Strategy and Government Relations 
 

THE LIVERPOOL CUTY REGION SPATIAL DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 
ENGAGEMENT PROPOSALS  

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report sets out the progress of the LCR Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) to 

date and the proposals for the next non-statutory engagement process.  
  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(a) consider the engagement proposals and determine their preparedness; and  
 

(b) Agree to the Committee being included in the statutory engagement process 
which will commence in 2023. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND    
 
3.1. As part of the Liverpool City Region Devolution Deal (2017), spatial planning 

powers were devolved to the Combined Authority.  Para 22(a) of the Deal sets out 
the requirement for the Development of a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS).  
Further Regulations and Orders (Statutory Instruments) have been published 
setting out the legal framework within which the SDS is to be developed. 
 

3.2.  This framework only requires the Combined Authority to undertake consultation 
after the SDS has been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for its Enquiry in 
Public.  This is not “inclusive” and the Combined Authority have requested that an 
engagement exercise is undertaken throughout the SDS process to ensure that the 
communities the Combined Authority represents have the opportunity to help shape 
the policy direction of the SDS. 
 

3.3 The first two engagements undertaken on the SDS focused on those cohorts that 
do not usually engage in spatial planning matters.  The first engagement won the 
National Planning Award 2020 for engagement on planning policy. 

 
3.4 As such it is proposed that the Combined Authority undertakes further non-statutory 

engagement on the SDS. Such engagement will mirror the engagement undertaken 

Page 175



at the last stages. Such engagement is in addition to the requirements set out in the 
relevant Statutory Instruments. 

 
3.5 To accompany the engagement there will be a Communications Strategy. This will 

ensure appropriate messaging and will utilise social media platforms as well as 
more traditional communication methods. 
 

3.6 The engagement is due to commence on Tuesday 13 September 2022 until 
Monday 5 December 2022 (12 weeks). 
 

3.7 The SDS Team are presently developing the SDS supported by various pieces of 
evidence base.  The proposed chapter structure of the SDS is set out below, noting 
that this is subject to change. 

 
Introduction 
 
Strategic Objectives (considered as part of previous SDS engagement) 
Tackling Climate Change and Creating a Cleaner, Greener City Region 
Reducing Health Inequalities and Creating a Healthier City Region 
Building an Inclusive Economy 
Creating High Quality Places and Buildings  
Maximising Social Value from Development 
 
Key Diagram (being developed) 
 
Spatial Priorities (being developed and to be shared with LA Planning Teams) 
Brownfield Delivery & Neighbourhood Regeneration 
Strategic Housing  
Strategic Employment Land Delivery  
The City and Town Centre Network 
Strategic Infrastructure 
International Connectivity 
Strategic Green & Blue Infrastructure (green spaces and waterways) 
River Mersey & the Coast 
Rural City Region 
 Historic City Region 
 
Spatial Options (being developed and to be shared with LA Planning Teams) 
 
Development Principles (already shared with LA Planning Teams) 
Planning for Climate Change 
Planning for the Natural Environment  
Energy & Resources 
Planning for Health and Wellbeing   
Planning for an Inclusive Economy 
Delivering High Quality Design 
Planning for the Cultural and Historic Environment 
Delivering Social Value 
Sustainable Transport and Travel 
Making the Best Use of Land 
Sustainable Places and Communities 
 

Page 176



Monitoring and Performance 
 

 
3.8 All of the above headings, once populated with associated content, will form the 

document which is used in the proposed 12-week engagement.  This is called the 
„engagement script‟. 
 

3.9     Due to the mid-September commencement of the SDS engagement, which will 
ensure the engagement is completed before Christmas, the July Combined 
Authority meeting is the most appropriate meeting to consider the draft 
engagement.  This report provides a snapshot in time of the structure of the plan but 
it remains the subject of much work over the remaining summer months.   
 

3.10    Any substantial delays to the timeline will result in the SDS engagement extending 
into the early part of 2023 which would further impact the timescale to ensure that 
the Publication version of the SDS is submitted to the Secretary of State and 
Planning Inspectorate by 28th February 2024 as scheduled. 

 
 
4. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1. Financial 
 

 The online consultation tool “Common Place” has already been procured by the 
Combined Authority Engagement team.  The engagement consultants PLACED 
have already been procured and all additional costs will be covered by the existing 
LCR SDS budgets. 

 
4.2 Supporting the Corporate Plan  
 

 A Fairer City Region 
A Stronger City Region 
A Cleaner City Region 
A Connected City Region 
A Vibrant City Region 

 
4.3 Climate Change  
 

One of the Regulatory requirements of the SDS is to tackle climate change and as 
such there is a specific strategic objective related to climate change as well as a 
specific Development Principle.  Climate Change also runs through many of the 
other policies, for example the Sustainable Transport and travel Development 
Principle promotes active and sustainable travel with part of the justification being to 
tackle climate change. 

 
4.4 Equality and Diversity  
 

The SDS engagement will be shaped to try to include a wide range of engagement 
practices and ensure that a diverse range of the community are provided with the 
opportunity to be involved with the SDS.  The previous engagement model will be 
followed and for the first engagement secured a diverse cohort of respondents (for 
example, 50.8% were from wards in the bottom 10% Index of Multiple Deprivation 

Page 177



score; 42% were under 25 years of age; 17% were from ethnic backgrounds, 49.9% 
were female – all of which represent the populations within the LCR). 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is being developed as part of the Integrated 
Impact Assessment (IIA) for the SDS by external consultants and in line with best 
practice the Combined Authority have appointed the University of Liverpool (Prof 
Fischer and team) to provide a critical friend role. 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) will also be prepared as part of the 
engagement plan. 

 
4.5 Social Value 
 

A social value assessment has been undertaken by the social value consultants 
Real Worth on the policies within the “Engagement version” of the SDS to ensure 
that social value is fully considered. 
 
One of the Strategic Objectives of the SDS and one of the Development Principles 
are specifically about ensuring that social value is considered as part of the 
development process – requiring a Social Value Assessment for development 
proposals of potential, strategic importance.  This is a unique approach for a 
strategic planning document. 

 
4.6 Legal  
 

This is a non-statutory engagement, but the SDS team are being advised by an 
external planning solicitor to ensure that this engagement is legally sound. 

 
4.7 Risks and Mitigation  
  

The risk of not progressing the engagement exercise outlined in this report for the 
SDS would be to delay the ultimate adoption of the SDS.  Such delay would be 
contrary to the advice from DLUHC with respect to all planning policy documents.  
In addition, the Combined Authority could be seen as not supporting the LCR Plan 
for Prosperity or the development sector. 

 
4.8 Privacy  
 

As part of the engagement the on-line Platform Common Place and engagement 
consultants such as PLACED will be holding the personal data of respondents.  As 
such the process minimises any potential implications on privacy (and under the 
GDPR etc) on the Combined Authority. 

 
4.9 Communication and Consultation  
 

 There is ongoing liaison with the Combined Authority Communications Team a 
Comms Strategy will be in place prior to the commencement of the engagement. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1. The Combined Authority has undertaken two earlier non-statutory engagements on 

the SDSs that have been identified as good practice.  It is proposed to follow a 
similar approach to maximise the responses from, as wider an LCR demographic as 
is possible, and especially those who do not usually engage with spatial planning.  
The outcome of this engagement will help shape the final version of the Spatial 
Development Strategy. To ensure that the Combined Authority can achieve the 
overall timescale for the delivery of the SDS officers recommend commencing the 
engagement in September so that it is completed before Christmas 2022. 

 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR POLICY, 
STRATEGY AND GOVERNMENT 

RELATIONS 
 

COUNCILLOR GRAHAM MORGAN 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER (HOUSING AND 

SPATIAL PLANNING) 
 

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meetings held on 20 January 2022 and 12 April 2022
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 12/04/2022 LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes


	7 Appointments of Scrutiny Members to the Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23
	Enc. 1 for Appointments of Scrutiny Members to the Audit and Governance Committee 2022/23

	8 LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee Workprogramme 2022-23
	Enc. 1 for LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee Workprogramme 2022-23

	9 Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group - Final Report
	Apprenticeship Task and Finish Group Report

	10 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 Q4 Performance Report 2021-22
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 Q4 Performance Report 2021-22

	11 UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF)
	Enc. 1 for UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF)

	12 The Liverpool City Region Spatial Development Strategy Engagement Proposals

